ACTA LOGISTICA

ISSN 1339-5629 electronic journal

International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume 8 Issue 1 2021



Acta Logistica -International Scientific Journal

CONTENTS

CONTENTS

(MARCH 2021)

(pages 1-10)

IDENTIFYING THE FACTORS INHIBITING RESEARCH ON URBAN FREIGHT TRANSPORT IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: REVIEW OF STUDIES IN INDIA Bhavesh Dhonde, Chetan R. Patel

(pages 11-18)

KINEMATICS OF POSITIONING DEVICE FOR MATERIAL HANDLING IN MANUFACTURING

Darina Hroncová, Ingrid Delyová, Peter Frankovský

(pages 19-25)

THE USE OF PROGRESSIVE GRAVITATIONAL METHODS IN THE LOGISTICS OF RAIL PASSENGER TRANSPORT Milan Dedík, Karol Hrudkay, Adrián Šperka

(pages 27-36)

APPLICATION OF PERIODIC REVIEW INVENTORIES MODEL IN A TYPICAL MEXICAN FOOD COMPANY

Ramsés Cabrera-Gala, Luis Fernando Carreón-Nava, Hugo Alberto Valencia-Cuevas, León José Rivera-Sosa

(pages 37-43)

ANALYSIS OF CONVEYOR DRIVE POWER REQUIREMENTS IN THE MINING INDUSTRY Greg Wheatley, Robiul Islam Rubel

(pages 45-53)

SUSTAINABLE HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT AND GENERATIONS OF EMPLOYEES IN INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISES Augustín Stareček, Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová,

Helena Makyšová, Dagmar Cagáňová

(pages 55-64)

AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS

Jakub Kovalčík, Michal Balog

(pages 65-71)

THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS ON THE COST OF PREFABRICATED CONSTRUCTION Alena Tažiková, Zuzana Struková

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu



Acta Logistica -International Scientific Journal

CONTENTS

(pages 73-81)

ANALYSIS OF INTERNAL LOGISTIC COST ON EXPORTS OF PERUVIAN COFFEE IN THE PERIOD 2015 – 2019

Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya, Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo, Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica, Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos, Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

(pages 83-93)

MODELLING INNOVATIVE LOGISTIC CLUSTERS FOR REINFORCING INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC INTEGRATION USING AN EXAMPLE OF A METALLURGICAL COMPLEX

Sofiya Shevtsova, Kamila Janovská, Daria Strapolova, Ivan Kuzin, Josef Kutáč, Tomáš Kutáč



Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 1-10 ISSN 1339-5629

IDENTIFYING THE FACTORS INHIBITING RESEARCH ON URBAN FREIGHT TRANSPORT IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: REVIEW OF STUDIES IN INDIA

Bhavesh Dhonde; Chetan R. Patel

doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.190

Received: 04 Sep. 2020; Revised: 10 Nov. 2020; Accepted: 02 Dec. 2020

IDENTIFYING THE FACTORS INHIBITING RESEARCH ON URBAN FREIGHT TRANSPORT IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES: REVIEW OF STUDIES IN INDIA

Bhavesh Dhonde

Department of Civil Engineering, Sardar Vallabhbhai National Institute of Technology, Surat, Pin 395007, India, bhaveshdhonde@gmail.com (corresponding author)

Chetan R. Patel

Department of Civil Engineering, Sardar Vallabhbhai National Institute of Technology, Surat, Pin 395007, India, chetanrpatel@rediffmail.com

Keywords: freight transport, urban freight, city logistics, developing economies, Indian cities

Abstract: Most of the cities in developing countries are found to have non-uniform distribution of urban space, complex land use patterns, mixed traffic conditions, extensive use of non-motorized vehicles and lack of traffic discipline. In comparision to the developed countries, it is more complicated to manage urban freight transport in developing countries due to the lack of sufficient infrastructure, wide socio-economic gaps between urban and non-urban areas and haphazard peripheral developments. Therefore the methods and strategies used to manage urban freight transport in developed countries cannot be directly used for cities in developing countries. It is necessary to devise distinctive solutions to improve the efficient of urban freight transport in these cities, which may otherwise, inhibit the economic growth of these cities as well as hamper the overall momentum of country's GDP growth gathered over decades. In recent years some studies focussing on urban freight transport are carried out in India, China and Brazil. This paper reviews urban freight studies carried out for Indian cities. India, world's second most populous country to China, has 39 cities with a million plus population. Most of its cities are facing problems like congestion and air quality degradation due to inefficient freight movement. Various challenges and limitations faced by the researchers and administrators are discussed. Based on the review results, suggestions and future scope for research in different aspects of urban freight are presented in the paper.

1 Introduction

Cities around the world rely on frequent and timely deliveries of goods and services to its residents, commercial and industrial units [1]. Practitioners and policy makers around the world have realized and acknowledged that goods transportation in cities have become a critical component in the urban transportation systems and therefore research in this area has also been intensified in the recent years. Unlike passenger transport, freight movement systems are very complex in nature, as there are several agents involved in the decision making at every stage [2]. Urban freight is studied quite extensively in the developed countries of Europe and the USA as compared to other parts of the world. In India too, urban freight studies is gradually gathering pace, yet it is at a very nascent stage. The studies carried out in developed countries cannot be directly implemented in India with respect to the research methods used in these studies because of a range of cultural, lifestyle and physical difference among them. Most of the Indian cities are characterized by high population densities, complex land use patterns, short trip length, and a high share of pedestrians and non-motorized vehicles (NMV) in the overall traffic. The transport and land-use patterns of cities in India are highly influenced by socio-economic and

cultural complexities that makes it difficult to analyze their characteristics using the same indices as used for cities in highly motorized countries like the U.S or member nations of EU. In absence of critical analysis of research gap and eye opening research in this area, many researchers are avoiding to pursue research in the field of urban fright due to data scarcity, blind spots in problem statement, complexity of problem due to huge variety of goods and its handling methods, conflicting interest of various stakeholders involved, business secrets, tax policies and other such factors making urban freight transport (UFT) a less preferred area of research.

In the year 2013, India got categorized as a newly industrialized economy from a developing country [3]. A newly industrialized economy is a country whose economic development is between developing and highly developed economies. With 1.36 billion people, India's overall population is second highest in the world after China. India has 39 cities having population of more than a million. Of these cities, there are two having population in excess of 10 million - Mumbai and Delhi. There are 388 cities that have populations between 100 thousand and a million and also it has 2,483 cities with populations between 10 thousand and 100 thousand [4]. In general almost every city in India is facing problems due to its



inefficient goods handling methods. In India, UFT is higly neglected in policy framing or city management [5]. Literature is available only for a few studies carried out in recent times, as some of the studies carried out by certain industry are only for internal use and hence not shared or published outside. The paper presents a review of urban freight studies carried out for different cities of India to analyze the factors inhibiting or restricting participation from research community as compared to passenger transport. The parameters used for conducting this review exercise have been derived from the various challenges and limitation faced by the researchers who have made some research progress in this area. It also intends to suggest practical recommendations that could facilitate urban freight studies in Indian cities for making UFT systems more sustainable.

1.1 Objectives of the study

Present scenario for overall environment for cities in India is not very encouraging. Due to very high of overall population, rapid urbanization, faster industrialization, and increased motorization of transport facilites; air and noise pollution is rapidly increasing in India [6]. In research studies as well as policy managment, road traffic and their impact on the liveability index of Indian cities have received growing attention in recent years, much of this attention is directed to passenger traffic [7]. Despite the fact that UFT is having a very significant impact on the overall liveability of the cities, it has received little attention. The aim of this study is to document research work carried out in this field to know the state of the art practices and improvement measures adopted across the country. In that sense, this study attempts to determine changes needed in policies and practices at develop efficient and sustainable UFT systems for the cities in India. The purpose of the study can be classified into three parts:

- To review the existing studies carried out by various researchers and transport planning professional in different cities of the country.
- To identify the gaps and voids in the systems that limits the role and contribution of research community in improving the current state of practice.
- To provide conclusive steps and practical recommendations for making the UFT systems in the country more sustainable.

The study is geographically restricted to India alone; however it is equally useful neighboring countries like Sri Lanka, Bangladesh and Pakistan where the traffic behaviour is similar in nature. Only documented literature in the form of research articles, conference papers and study reports by government and non-government organizations are considered for the review. Studies of urban freight movement only using roads as the mode of transport is considered in the study, other UFT modes like urban rail or trams and inland water transport are not considered.

1.2 Search Methodology

Secondary sources in the form articles in scientific journals, articles in press, book chapters, doctoral and masters dissertations and refereed proceedings are used in this review. To find relevant articles popular online databases from - Science Direct, Scopus, Web of Science and Google Scholar were used; keywords like urban freight, freight transport, city logistics, and goods movement were selected for search in title and abstract of the papers for filtering in first stage. Total of 1898 search results were obtained for the time period of 2000-2019 as a result of total studies carried out in the world. During the online search 24 reviews articles in peer-reviewed journal were found, specifically focusing on modelling techniques [8,9], bibliometric analysis [10], urban consolidation and distribution centers [11-13], survey methods [14], sustainability of urban freight [15,16], use of best practices and innovative technologies for freight handling [17-19] and logistics sprawl [20]. The search was further filtered for studies carried out in India. Only a handful of research publications were available on urban freight transportation in developing economies in reputed refereed journal. Further, articles presented at conferences, proceedings and archives of transportation background conferences wherein participation from Indian researchers is found; Transportation Research Board (TRB) Conference, World Conference on Transport Research (WCTR), Institute of City Logistics Conference, Conference of the Transport Research Group of India (CTRG), Urban Mobility India (UMI), Conferences and Eastern Asia Society for Transport Studies (EASTS) and other internationally reputed conferences were searched. Furthermore, studies carried under government projects by academic institutions or other independent consultant were searched from various government reports and other published reports. The review framework used in this paper is an adaption of the urban freight domain analysis suggested by Odgen and Crainic et al. [21,22]. Finally a total of 32 total articles were considered selected for reviewing the scenario of urban freight transport in India which is presented in this article.

2 **Review process**

An urban freight transport system is made up of numerous activities and stakeholders that results in formation of a complex subject to study, in order to understand these issues with simplicity a systematic review of each paper was carried out on the six aspects of urban freight transportation, which are discussed in this section.

2.1 Number of commodity/ services (C/S)

The overall impact of urban freight on city traffic can be estimated when all the freight trips attracted and



produced are taken in to account. However, in cases where a single industry has very dominant presence in the city and its impact on the overall freight traffic is very high, studies restricted to only such industry can also prove to be very effective. However more such studies needs to carried out focusing on commodities of domestic need like industrial freight needs, FMCG goods, bakery and dairy products.

2.2 Size of study area

The geographical dimension or size of the area chosen for study varied largely in the current study. Some studies were carried out on very small study area like a single main market area (road stretch of 1.5 km); while some other studies included the entire city as well as the surrounding metropolitan areas in the study. Comparison of different cities for a particular parameter is also a form of study attempted by many researchers around the world. Study area is a very important factor determining the application of the study in policy making and hence included in the study.

2.3 Stakeholders

Stakeholders are people who take decisions for the goods movement. They are divided into five categories

based on their attributes, behaviour and roles in the UFT process [23-25]. Details of these categories are as under:

- Administrator; which includes government bodies at the city, state and country level.
- Supplier; who produces and/or supplies various commodities or services to the study area.
- Carrier; who distributes the goods and services from suppliers to receivers outside or within the study area.
- Receiver; who receives various goods or service within the study area and uses or redistributes them.
- Residents; who are the end users of the various goods and services that are available in the urban area.

2.4 Study Objectives

Based on the stakeholder and study area chosen for the analysis, objectives may vary. As such the overall objective for any urban freight study is to reduce the social cost of city logistics [21]. However for the present review objectives are further divided into sub-categories like reducing cost, improving efficiency, environmental impact, safety of traffic operation, providing infrastructure, town and city's planning and knowledge enhancement which are classified based on stakeholders in Table 1.

Objective	Description	Key stakeholders
Reducing Cost	Minimization or reduction in transport operation costs	Supplier and Carrier
Improving	On time delivery, loading- unloading, parking of	Receiver and carrier
efficiency	freight vehicles	
Environmental	Noise and air pollution caused due to congestion of	Administrator and
impact	urban roads	residents
Safety of traffic	Reduction in the number of accidents and damage to	Residents,
operation	property and life caused	Administrator
Providing	Road construction and maintenance, provision for	Administrator and
infrastructure	parking and transport hubs	carrier
Town and city	Urban and logistics sprawl occurring in the city over	Administrator
planning	years	
Knowledge	Some studies are carried to enhance knowledge which	Administrator and
enhancement	can be implemented at a later stage	research community

Table 1. Objectives of urban freight studies

2.5 Survey Methodology

Depending upon the objective of the study and stakeholders considered in the study, the methodology adopted is bound to change. Also study area size is one of the very important factors for deciding the type surveys to be conducted. In cities of developed economies that have custom made models suiting to their freight flow pattern and data availability. But for a country like India where such studies are is yet in nascent stage, continuous and reliable data of freight flows are quite difficult to obtain. Different researchers have adopted different survey methods in their capacities and need for their research work [14]. Based on the several review papers studied the survey methods which are proved to efficient and effective in freight research elsewhere are listed belo:

- Establishment survey,
- Roadside interview survey,
- Commercial vehicles driver survey,
- Volume count survey,
- Supplier's survey,
- Commodity flows,
- Freight operator or service provider's survey,
- Parking inventory survey,
- Vehicle trip diaries,
- Secondary data sources.

Depending upon the scale of project more than one survey method may be needed for capturing the required information. Secondary data sources are also used for collecting information which is relevant to the study. Each



of the above methods has their own advantages and limitation. These survey methods sometimes offer a tradeoff between data accuracy and cost of data collection. Data collected during these methods may sometime overlap, which can be used as a cross-check of the data collected during the survey. the overall social cost of goods transportation and making urban freight more sustainable. Depending upon the key stakeholders involved in the study, the application of the work can be sometimes restricted to a particular section. At city level the application any freight study can be divided into four types, which can also be considered as four divisions defining the overall social cost of moving goods.

2.6 Applications of the study

As stated earlier from a researcher's point of view the primary purpose of any freight research study is to reduce

Sr.		No of	f C/S	Stu	dy a	irea	S	itak	eho	ldeı	18			Ob	jecti	ives					Su	rvey	me	etho	dol	ogy			A	ppli	catio	on
No.	Author details	Single commodity/service	Multiple commodity/service	Single street or market area	City or metropolitan area	Multiple cities comparison	Administrator	Supplier	Carrier	Receiver	Residents	Reducing Cost	Improving efficiency	Environmental impact	Safety of traffic operation	Providing infrastructure	Town and city planning	Knowledge enhancement	Establishment survey	Roadside interview survey	Drivers' survey	Volume count survey	Suppliers survey	Commodity flows	Freight operator 's survey	Parking inventory survey	Vehicle trip diaries	Secondary data sources	Upgrading traffic policy	Suggestiions for planning	Urban development	Urban and logistics sprawl
1	Kumar et.al. [24]		1			✓	✓				~			~										\checkmark				<		~		
2	Guttikunda & Kopakka [25]		×		✓		✓							✓								✓							~			
3	Baindur & Macário [26]	×			✓				✓		✓		✓										~		~							
4	Swamy & Baindur [27]		×		~											~								✓	~	✓			<		✓	
5	Divya Priya et.al. [28]		×		✓			✓		<						~			\checkmark											~		
6	Datta & Gupta [29]		×		~				✓				✓		✓				\checkmark						<			<		~		
7	Bakshi et.al. [30]		1		~		✓		✓			~		~											<			<		~	\checkmark	
8	Sadhu et al [31]		1		~				✓			~		~							✓							<	<		\square	
9	TCI – IIM [32]		1			✓		~	✓	<		~	~					✓						✓	<			~	<		\checkmark	
10	Gargava & Rajgopalan [33]		<			~					~			✓											<			~	<		\square	
11	Baveena [34]		×		~				✓					~					\checkmark						<			<		~		
12	Goyal [7]		×			✓	✓	✓		<			✓		✓			✓										<	<	~		
13	Kin et al. [16]		1			✓												✓										<			\checkmark	
14	Gupta [35]		1		~		✓		✓				~	~					✓		✓				<					✓	\square	
15	Gupta & Garima [36]	<			~				<	<		✓			\checkmark				\checkmark					~						<		\checkmark
16	Malik et al. [37]		<			<			<				<			<									<	<			<			
17	Pani et al. [38]		<			<		<				<							\checkmark			✓								<		
18	Bhardwaj et al. [39]		<			<	<						<	<				<										<		<	✓	
19	Sethia [40]	<			<			<					<	<										<	<				<			
20	Bakshi et al. [41]		<		<									<			<	<	✓											<	✓	
21	Erampalli et al. [42]		>		<								<					<			<	<					<		<			
22	Erampalli et al. [43]		>		<				<				<				<				<				<		<		<		✓	
23	Gupta and Sinha [44]	1						✓											~					~	~				<		✓	
24	Pani & Sahu [45]		>		<				<				>					<	\checkmark						<			<		<		
25	Pani & Sahu [46]		>			>		<					>					<	\checkmark											<		
26	Pani & Sahu [47]		>			>		~	<	<			>					<	\checkmark										<			
27	Pandya et al. [48]		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark											\checkmark				\checkmark							✓			
28	Dhonde & Patel [49]	× .			\checkmark			\checkmark					\checkmark						\checkmark											\checkmark		
29	Dhonde & Patel [50]	× .			\checkmark		\checkmark							\checkmark			✓				✓				✓			✓				\checkmark
30	Dhonde & Patel [51]		×		\checkmark			✓		✓			\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark		✓									\checkmark	✓	
31	Dhonde & Patel [52]		1		\checkmark		✓		\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark					\checkmark		\checkmark	✓							✓	\checkmark		
32	Middela et al. [53]		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark				\checkmark							✓			\checkmark	✓			
	Total	6	26	0	21	10	10	10	14	6	4	5	16	13	4	3	3	12	14	0	7	5	1	6	15	2	2	13	15	16	9	2

Table 2	Review	results	of	urban	freight	studies	in	India	

• Upgrading traffic policy; the outcome of study results in or acts as a guideline for improving traffic policy in the study area. (example; Implementing traffic restriction for heavy commercial vehicles (HCVs) during peak hours)

• Suggesting planning principles; the study can develop analytical models which can guide planning decision of



city officials. (example; Infrastructure planning decisions like parking places and road planning)

- Adopting new technology; with use of geographic information systems (GIS) and global positioning system (GPS) technology and other intelligent transport systems (ITS) technologies, real time traffic and congestion status can be known which can improve efficiency of urban goods movement.
- Urban and logistics sprawl; temporal studies carried out for different times can help understanding the sprawl of city and logistics infrastructure like warehouse or consolidation centers, which in turn can help in long term city planning schemes.

Refining searches from various sources a total of 32 papers were selected for the review process. Each stage of the review process was carried out for each of these papers and review results have been summarized in table 2.

3 Review results and interpretations

Summary of research studies on urban freight transport carried out in India is presented in Table 2. The review is carried out based on six major parameters, number of commodities and/or services, study area and size, stakeholders, objectives of the study, and survey methodology and applications of the study. A total of 32 research works found from reliable and recommended sources are reviewed. Some other works found in local level publications and conferences which indicate only data collected for existing scenario of urban freight and any significant research outcomes are not observed, hence such works are omitted from the study to ensure that only quality works are considered to define the state of art for urban freight studies in India. The results of the review process and its interpretations are discussed in this section.

Number of services or commodities considered for the study considerably affects the research methods adopted. To assess the overall impact of UFT on the city's traffic it is necessary to consider all goods and services involved, however due to the limitations of availability time and resources it is very difficult to collect data for all the commodities and services of the city. However, in cities where some particular industry has very dominant presence and are generating majority of the urban freight trips, study of those particular commodity or service can prove to very useful. Six such studies have taken a specific commodity or service like municipal waste, timber etc, which are useful in planning of specific infrastructure sometimes not related to transportation, waste treatment plant or sawmills for instance [26-49]. Such studies can reduce the cost of data collection and yet give reasonably well results. More such studies focusing on freight movement of perishable goods and hazardous goods.

For the second parameter i.e. size of study area, it is observed that 21 out of 32 $(2/3^{rd})$ studies have considered entire city as the study area, while none of the studies have

done micro-simulation or meso-simulation considering the freight impact of a single unit or a small area in the city, such studies have been very useful in solving urban freight issues in some cases [50-54]. A good number of studies have been conducted comparing different studies, which is a positive step towards designing nationwide policy of urban freight transport. Studies focussing on microscopic and mesoscopic level simulation of UFT are already conducted in cities of developed countries but are still not carried out for Indian cities.

Overview of stakeholders representation in the review suggest that administrators, shippers and carriers have greater contribution towards freight studies as compared to receivers and residents or end-consumers of the city. The role of administrator, directly or indirectly, comes into picture once the actual implementation of any research study is carried out in the city. There are some studies wherein role of carriers is independent of the administrator for example the case study of dabbawala's of Mumbai [27] and textile goods [52]. Suppliers are having more impact on the urban freight movement as compared to receivers. For majority of the commodities the responsibility of delivery of goods or services lies with suppliers. In case of UFT suppliers of goods and services are the wholesale and retail establishments in the city. The studies that are basically conducted to assess the environmental impacts of urban freight in the form of noise and air pollution have residents of the city as they key stakeholders.

Objectives of any UFT study needs to be very clear and well defined owing to its time and resource requirements. In the present study, seven major objectives of urban freight transport are considered in the review framework. These objectives are selected based on the framework from Odgen and Crainic [21,22] and as well as their relevance for the studies carried out in India; it is quite possible that in future some more objectives might be added in the list with development in technology and higher demand of frequent and timely deliveries. Most of the studies have shown that achieving efficiency in the system is the most important objective. Environmental impact of urban freight is the second most important objective; with India having some of the most polluted cities in the world it is not very surprising. Safety of traffic operation is a very major issue in India both for freight and passenger traffic leading to several accidents every day. Studies carried out in India are found very premature to give serious recommendations for infrastructure and town planning, lack of systematic and detailed land use data is one of the prime reasons behind it.

A review of survey methodologies adopted by various studies in India clearly indicate that establishment survey, freight transport operators' survey and secondary data are the most preferred methods. Establishment survey and freight operator's survey are the two tools which are more or less in control of the researcher and hence are the most reliable method for data collection. Secondary data sources are more useful obtain aggregate and periodic data; hence it is more useful for studies which are a sort of comparative



analysis of two or more cities. Drivers' survey, commodity flow survey and traffic volume count are also used by some researchers, this methods of data collection are more suitable when the study are is small or study is restricted to particular commodity or service. Parking inventory and vehicle trip dairies data have limited scope in Indian scenario as the urban freight transport business is dominated by light commercial vehicles (LCVs) operating in a almost uncontrolled or unregulated manner [51]. Use of freight vehicles parking infrastructure is not done effectively and efficiently in many cities of the country and hence parking inventory data is not considered to be very reliable. Roadside interview method of data collection is not used in any of the study during the review; this survey tool has very limited application in urban freight studies across the world.

The last section of the review process accounts for the application of each study. Reducing the overall social cost of urban freight movement in the study is the ultimate goal of UFT studies in general, which is however categorized into four different applications as discussed in the subsection on application of the study. Review results indicate that majority of the studies comes up with different suggestions that can improve the traffic policies (14 nos.) and freight transport planning (15 nos.) in Indian cities, and two studies focussing on urban or logistics sprawl. It is quite disappointing to find that none of the studies are considering technology improvement as a solution approach for city logistics related problems. Improving urban goods movement using latest technologies for vehicle routing and availability of real-time information about the road network are a common practice in developed economies nowadays, which is a distant future practice in India it seems. Private players like Amazon and Flipkart are using latest technologies for routing delivery trips and real time status, however such case studies aren't considered in the review due to lack of documented evidence.

4 Conclusions and suggestions

From the review it is also found that in India, majority of the research work on urban freight transport is carried out only in the last decade. However, the pace at which the interest of researchers is growing in this area is very encouraging. Based on the results obtained by different researchers in their respective efforts and some concluding comments made by them, authors have tried to present some concluding remarks and suggestion for future research in urban freight.

4.1 Conclusions of the study

It is a very good sign for the cities of India that more and more researchers are developing interest in field of urban freight studies, but there is still a long way to go for solving various problems UFT systmes that cites in India are facing. From the present study it can be concluded that one of the major reasons limiting research effort in this direction in lack of systematic data collection related to urban freight in India. Unlike passenger transport, freight transport is not having a special cell or department looking after its growth and development in cities of India. Secondary data sources or urban freight transport are nonexistent. In such a situation only premier institutes in the country like IITs and IIMs are able to make more efforts with their relatively larger impact. Most of the researches that have been carried out in the country are more or less only dependent on the primary data sources, which are very costly and time consuming. In absence of reliable secondary data sources, primary data collection consumes a lot of time, reducing the relevance of the research findings in some cases. Primary data collection gets very difficult with establishment becoming hesitant in sharing information owing to trade secret and tax hues. Collecting data from freight transport operators is relatively easy but for most of the major cities in India, urban freight transport is largely managed by LCVs, which are operated by individual vehicle owner like taxis and hence the movement of LCVs is literally haphazard and nonregulated. The brighter part of the study is that now researchers and policy makers have realized that urban freight is a very significant contributor to the overall traffic in terms of its impact on congestion and urban environment. Gradually, it has been widely accepted that considering freight vehicles as some proportion of the overall traffic is a very gross approximation and not advisable reference for taking crucial decision involving huge amount of resources and time.

4.2 Suggestions for future research

There is an ample scope for improvements in the existing urban freight transport systems in the country and the insights gained from this review article would probably help many researchers and practioners to drive their future research endeavours in this direction. Based on the knowledge gained during reviewing the existing studies and the conclusions put forward, following are some suggestions by the authors for future research in urban freight transport in India

The review factors of the frameworks - number of commodities/ services, size of study area, stakeholder, objectives, methodology and application approach - are all interconnected and understanding these interconnections in a city's UFT system would be very useful in identifying research needs. From the review process some of the factors are found to be unexplored in Indian conditions, for instance microscopic simulation of urban freight generation or application of intelligent transport systems for UFT. Such gaps need to be filled in quickly for setting up a concrete foundation for future research. It is also observed during the study that majority of the studies are carried out in megacities only i.e. Delhi and Mumbai, however it is equally important to have efficient systems in other metros and medium size cities of the country. City specific or goods specific models needs to be developed as





a medium term goal for each city supporting long term decision making process for investment in urban freight infrastructure of the cities. In long term, India should be able to come up with its own urban freight transport development manual guiding every aspect of urban freight transport like trip generation, infrastructure planning and freight transit oriented development in cities of the country, similar Institution of transportation engineers (ITE) guidelines and highway capacity manual (HCM). For achieving success in making urban freight movement more sustainable support and cooperation from all the stakeholders is inevitable. Sustainability and efficiency cannot come from one sided efforts by administrators alone. Stakeholders perception studies needs to be carried out before implementation of any policy.

During the review process, several research and review articles of the work carried out in USA, Europe and Japan were studies for understanding the progress of UFT research in those countries and find a comparison for studies carried out in developing countries. From some articles studied during the review process, some more innovative suggestions are given for new research avenues of urban freight which are probably unexplored in developing economies so far. The concept of circular economy which is largely restricted to manufacturing industry is now being implemented as a solution in urban freight for reducing the overall cost and environmental impact of good movement. This concept fundamentally proposes to reduce, reuse and recycle the waste of any process to improve sustainability (Genovese et. al., 2015; van Buren et.al., 2016). Most of the cities of developing countries are more congested and have mix land use patterns, LCV trips carrying small quantities for short distances often makes higher contribution to the overall freight trips. If electric freight vehicles are used for such trips, a lot of burden of noise and air pollution can be removed (Browne et. al., 2011; Van Duin et. al., 2013; Gruber et. al., 2014). Also shared private vehicle trips similar to models adopted for passenger transport like Uber can be adopted for urban freight transport. Sharing of freight trips would enhance productivity and reduced pollution at the same time (Patier et. al., 2014; Marcucci et. al., 2017). As mentioned earlier in the study, use of GIS and GPS technologies can be used for real time tracking of freight vehicles as well as geo-tagged parcels. These technologies are already in place for long distance or regional transport by various logistics providers, however its application in urban freight is very limited yet (Yang et.al., 2014). With more and more shopping going online and geo-tagging of vehicles, use of big data for user preferences can synchronize urban goods movement with several other infrastructures involved making goods flow smooth, easy and sustainable. The distribution and utilization of urban spaces in developing economies are entirely a different ball game as compared to the developed economies. Each and every aspect of urban freight needs to be studied from the perspective of developing countries

to fill in various research gaps discussed in this paper. This review paper definitely help the researchers and policy maker to ponder in the research gap identified with the limitation of developing countries. Collaborative efforts from the research and urban administration fraternity should try to meet at one platform and endeavours to develop a think tank or special interest group which can work together for sustainable urban fright studies.

Acknowledgement

The authors acknowledge the work of all the researchers whose work has been reviewed in this article. The views expressed in this article are those of the authors alone, who take full responsibility for any errors or omissions. No funding has been received from any government or nongovernment organization for conducting this study.

References

- BEHRENDS, S.: Recent developments in urban logistics research-a review of the proceedings of the International Conference on City Logistics 2009-2013, *Transport Research Procedia*, Vol. 12, pp. 278-287, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.trpro.2016.02.065
- [2] HOLGUÍN-VERAS, J., JALLER, M., SANCHEZ-DIAZ, I., WOJTOWICZ, J., CAMPBELL, S., LEVINSON, H., TAVASSZY, L.: Freight Trip Generation and Land Use. In Freight Trip Generation and Land Use. National Cooperative Freight Research Program (NCFRP) Report 19, Transport Research Board, Washington D.C., [Online], Available: https://www.nap.edu/catalog/23437/freight-tripgeneration-and-land-use [15 Jan 2020], 2012.
- [3] BODDIN, D.: The Role of Newly Industrialized Economies in Global Value Chains. International Monetary Fund (IMF) Working Paper. Washington D.C., [Online], Available: https://www.imf.org/extern al/pubs/ft/wp/2016/wp16207.pdf [30 Dec 2019], 2016.
- [4] Census of India 2011 Report on Post Enumeration Survey, Registrar General & Census Commissioner, New Delhi, India, [Online], Available: https://www.censusindia.gov.in/2011Census/pes/Pesre port.pdf [18 Nov 2019], 2011.
- [5] TIMMS, P.: Urban transport policy transfer: 'bottomup' and 'top-down' perspectives, *Transport Policy*, Vol. 18, No. 3, pp. 513-521, 2011. doi:10.1016/j.tranpol.2010.10.009
- [6] HUBACEK, K., GUAN, D., BARUA, A.: Changing lifestyles and consumption patterns in developing countries: A scenario analysis for China and India, *Futures*, Vol. 39, No. 9, pp. 1084-1096, 2007. doi:10.1016/j.futures.2007.03.010
- [7] GOYAL, V.: Urban Freight and Logistics: The State of Practices in India, Sustainable Urban Transport Project (SUTP), GIZ, GmbH, Germany, [Online], Available: http://www.indiaenvironmentportal.org.in/files/file/GI Z_SUTP_CS_Urban-Freight-and-logistics_India.pdf. [20 Jan 2020] 2016.



- Bhavesh Dhonde; Chetan R. Patel
- [8] COMI, A., DELLE SITE, P., FILIPPI, F., NUZZOLO, A.: Urban Freight Transport Demand Modelling: A State of the Art, *European Transport*, Vol. 51, No. 7, pp. 1-17, 2012.
- [9] ANAND, N., VAN DUIN, R., QUAK, H., & TAVASSZY, L.: Relevance of City Logistics Modelling Efforts: A Review, *Transport Reviews*, Vol. 35, No. 6, pp. 701-719, 2015. doi:10.1080/01441647.2015.1052112
- [10] NEGHABADI, P.D., SAMUEL, K.E., ESPINOUSE, M.L.: Systematic literature review on city logistics: overview, classification and analysis, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 57, No. 3, pp. 865-887, 2018.

doi:10.1080/00207543.2018.1489153

- [11] ALLEN, J., BROWNE, M., LEONARDI, J., WOODBURN, A.: The role of urban consolidation centers in sustainable freight transport, *Transport Reviews*, Vol. 32, No. 4, pp. 1297-1312, 2013. doi:10.1080/01441647.2012.688074
- [12] TEO, J.S.E., TANIGUCHI, E., QURESHI, A.G.: Evaluation of urban distribution centers using multiagent modeling with geographic information systems, *Transportation Research Record - Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, Vol. 2478, No. 1, pp. 35-47, 2015. doi:10.3141/2478-05
- [13] TSIULIN, S., HILMOLA, O.P., GORYAEV, N.: Barriers towards development of urban consolidation centres and their implementation: Literature review, *World Review of Intermodal Transportation Research*, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 251-272, 2017. doi:10.1504/WRITR.2017.086235
- [14] ALLEN, J., BROWNE, M., CHERRETT, T.: Survey Techniques in Urban Freight Transport Studies, *Transport Reviews*, Vol. 32, No. 3, pp. 287-311, 2012. doi:10.1080/01441647.2012.665949
- [15] MACHARIS, C., KIN, B.: The 4 A's of sustainable city distribution: Innovative solutions and challenges ahead, *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 59-71, 2017. doi:10.1080/15568318.2016.1196404
- [16] KIN, B., VERLINDE, S., MACHARIS, C.: Sustainable urban freight transport in megacities in emerging markets, *Sustainable Cities and Society*, Vol. 32, pp. 31-41, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.scs.2017.03.011
- [17] DABLANC, L.: Goods transport in large European cities: Difficult to organize, difficult to modernize, *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, Vol. 41, No. 3, pp. 280-285, 2007. doi:10.1016/j.tra.2006.05.005
- [18] DABLANC, L., GIULIANO, G., HOLLIDAY, K., O'BRIEN, T.: Best practices in urban freight management: Lessons from an International Survey, *Transportation Research Record - Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, Vol. 2379, No. 1, pp. 29-38, 2013. doi:10.3141/2379-04

- [19] MANGIARACINA, R., PEREGO, A., SALVADORI, G., TUMINO, A.: A comprehensive view of intelligent transport systems for urban smart mobility, *International Journal of Logistics Research* and Applications, Vol. 20, No. 1, pp. 39-52, 2017. doi:10.1080/13675567.2016.1241220
- [20] DABLANC, L., OGILVIE, S., GOODCHILD, A.: Logistics Sprawl: Differential Warehousing Development Patterns in Los Angeles, California, and Seattle, Washington, *Transportation Research Record - Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, Vol. 2410, No. 1, pp. 105-112, 2014. doi:10.3141/2410-12
- [21] ODGEN, K.W.: Urban goods movement A guide to policy and planning, Taylor and Francis Group, New York, 1992.
- [22] CRAINIC, T.G., RICCIARDI, N., & STORCHI, G.: Models for evaluating and planning city logistics systems, *Transportation Science*, Vol. 43, No. 4, pp. 432-454, 2009. doi:10.1287/trsc.1090.0279
- [23] RUSSO, F., COMI, A., A classification of city logistics measures and connected impacts, *Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences*, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 6355-6365, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.04.044
- [24] KUMAR, S., BHATTACHARYYA, J.K., VAIDYA, A. N., CHAKRABARTI, T., DEVOTTA, S., AKOLKAR, A.B.: Assessment of the status of municipal solid waste management in metro cities, state capitals, class I cities, and class II towns in India: An insight, *Waste Management*, Vol. 29, No. 2, pp. 883-895. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2008.04.011
- [25] GUTTIKUNDA, S.K., RAMANI, V., Source emissions and health impacts of urban air pollution in Hyderabad, India, *Air Quality, Atmosphere and Health*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 195-207, 2014. doi:10.1007/s11869-013-0221-z
- [26] BAINDUR, D., MACÁRIO, R.M.: Research in Transportation Economics Mumbai lunch box delivery system: A transferable benchmark in urban logistics? *Research in Transportation Economics*, Vol. 38, No. 1, pp. 110-121, 2013. doi:10.1016/j.retrec.2012.05.002
- [27] SWAMY, S., BAINDUR, D.: Research in Transportation Business & Management Managing urban freight transport in an expanding city: Case study of Ahmedabad, *Research in Transportation Business & Management*, Vol. 11, pp. 5-14, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.rtbm.2014.06.010
- [28] DIVYA PRIYA, C., RAMADURAI, G., DEVI, G.: Freight Trip Generation Models for Chennai, India. Proceedings of the Transportation Research Board 94th Annual Meeting, 11-15 January, Washington D.C., 2015.
- [29] DATTA, M.A., GUPTA, S.: Freight generation characteristics in metropolitan city of Hyderabad,



Proceedings of the 8th Urban Mobility India (UMI) Conference, 25-28 November, New Delhi, 2014.

- [30] BAKSHI, N., TIWARI, G., BOLIA, N.B.: Urban freight in Delhi: Characteristics and mobility restrictions. Volvo Research and Educational Foundations (VREF) Research Brief -8, Gothenburg, [Online], Available: http://www.vref.se/download/1 8.191b515915f686e0c5243c46/1509606786731/RB 08-2017-TRIPP-URBAN%20FREIGHT%20IN%20DELHI.pdf [20 Feb 2019], 2014.
- [31] SADHU, S.L., TIWARI, G. & JAIN, H.: Impact of cycle rickshaw trolley (CRT) as non-motorised freight transport in Delhi, *Transport Policy*, Vol. 35, pp. 64-70, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.tranpol.2014.05.015
- [32] TCI-IIM: Operational efficiency of freight transportation by road in India, The 3rd Edition of TCI-IIM Calcutta Joint Study Report, Kolkata, [Online], Available: http://cdn.tcil.in/website/tcil/Stu dy_Report/a-joint-study-report-by-tci&-iim-2009-10.pdf [10 Nov 2019], 2009.
- [33] GARGAVA, P., RAJAGOPALAN, V.: Source apportionment studies in six Indian cities - drawing broad inferences for urban PM 10 reductions, *Air Quality, Atmosphere and Health*, Vol. 9, pp. 471-481, 2015. doi:10.1007/s11869-015-0353-4
- [34] BAVEENA, K.V.: Sustainable urban freight distribution strategy for a metropolitan city; Case study of Kochi, India, Proceedings of the 8th Urban Mobility India (UMI) Conference, 25-28 November, New Delhi, 2014.
- [35] GUPTA, S.: Role of Non -Motorized Transport in Distribution of Goods in the Metropolitan City of Delhi, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 25, pp. 978-984, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.trpro.2017.05.472
- [36] GUPTA, S., GARIMA: Logistics Sprawl in Timber Markets and its Impact on Freight Distribution Patterns in Metropolitan City of Delhi, India, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 25, pp. 965-977, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.trpro.2017.05.471
- [37] MALIK, L., SÁNCHEZ-DÍAZ, I., TIWARI, G., WOXENIUS, J.: Urban freight-parking practices: The cases of Gothenburg (Sweden) and Delhi (India), *Research in Transportation Business & Management*, Vol. 24, pp. 37-48, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.rtbm.2017.05.002
- [38] PANI, A., SAHU, P.K., PATIL, G.R., SARKAR, A.K.: Modelling urban freight generation: A case study of seven cities in Kerala, India, *Transport Policy*, Vol. 69, pp. 49-64, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.tranpol.2018.05.013
- [39] BHARDWAJ, A., JUYAL, S., SAXENA, A., SHRIVASTAVA, A.: Goods on the move: Efficiency and Sustainability of Indian logistics, MOVE Global Mobility Summit, 7-8 September, New Delhi, [Online], Available: https://niti.gov.in/writereaddata/

files/document_publication/Freight_report.pdf [07 Mar 2020], 2018.

- [40] SETHIA, V.: Enormity of urban freight in Indian cities: Learning from Jaipur city, Rajasthan, Proceedings of the 11th Urban Mobility India Conference and Expo, 2-4 November, Nagpur, 2018.
- [41] Bakshi, N., Tiwari, G., Bolia, N.B.: Influence of urban form on urban freight trip generation, *Case Studies on Transport Policy*, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 229-235, 2020. doi:10.1016/j.cstp.2019.04.004
- [42] ERRAMPALLI, M., KAYITHA, R., SEKHAR, R., TAVASSZY, L.A.: Assessment of urban freight travel characteristics - A case study of Delhi, Proceedings of the 15th World Conference on Transport Research (WCTR), 26-31 May, Mumbai. 2019.
- [43] ERRAMPALLI, M., KAYITHA, R., SEKHAR, R., TAVASSZY, L.A.: Development of urban freight travel demand model, Proceedings of the 15th World Conference on Transport Research (WCTR), 26-31 May, Mumbai. 2019.
- [44] GUPTA, S., SINHA, K.: Characteristics of Urban Freight Traffic in a Medium Size Indian City: A Case Study of Udaipur, Rajasthan, Proceedings of the 15th World Conference on Transport Research (WCTR), 26-31 May, Mumbai. 2019.
- [45] Pani, A., Sahu, P.K.: Planning, designing and conducting establishment-based freight surveys: A synthesis of the literature, case-study examples and recommendations for best practices in future surveys. *Transport Policy*, Vol. 78, pp. 58-75, 2019. doi:10.1016/j.tranpol.2019.04.006
- [46] Pani, A., Sahu, P. K.: Comparative assessment of industrial classification systems for modelling freight production and freight trip production, *Transportation Research Record – Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, Vol. 2673, No. 3, pp. 210-224, 2019. doi:10.1177/0361198119834300
- [47] Pani, A., Sahu, P.K.: Freight generation and geographical effects: modelling freight needs of establishments in developing economies and analyzing their geographical disparities. *Transportation*, 2019. doi:10.1007/s11116-019-09995-5
- [48] PANDYA, P., GUJAR, R., VAKHARIA, V.: Modeling and Prediction of Freight Delivery for Blocked and Unblocked Conditions Using Machine Learning Techniques, Proceedings of the 15th World Conference on Transport Research (WCTR), 26-31 May, Mumbai. 2019.
- [49] DHONDE, B., PATEL, C.R.: An Impact of Decentralized Small Scale Industry on Intra-City Freight Trips in developing nation, *Journal of the Eastern Asia Society for Transportation Studies*, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 908-928, 2019. doi:10.11175/easts.13.908



- [50] DHONDE, B., PATEL, C.R.: Characterization of Freight Trip from Textile Powerloom Units – A Case Study of Surat, India, Proceedings of the 15th World Conference on Transport Research (WCTR), 26-31 May, Mumbai. 2019.
- [51] DHONDE, B., PATEL, C.R.: Sharing of trips before electrification of fleet: a cost effective solution for reducing the environmental impact of urban freight transport in developing countries, In Press: *European Transport*, 2020.
- [52] DHONDE, B., PATEL, C.R.: Implementing Circular Economy Concepts for Sustainable Urban Freight Transport: Case of Textile Manufacturing Supply Chain, *Acta Logistica*, Vol. 7, No. 2, pp. 131-143, 2020. doi:10.22306/al.v7i2.172
- [53] MIDDELA, M., MAHESH, S., SRIPADA, S. KANCHARLA, S., DEVI, G., RAMADURAI, G.:

Estimating emissions from urban freight trips. Proceedings of the 15th World Conference on Transport Research (WCTR), 26-31 May, Mumbai, 2019.

[54] ADITJANDRA, P.T., GALATIOTO, F., BELL, M.C., ZUNDER, T.H.: Evaluating the impacts of urban freight traffic: Application of micro-simulation at a large establishment, *European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research*, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 4-22, 2016. doi:10.18757/ejtir.2016.16.1.3110

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





ica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 11-18 ISSN 1339-5629

KINEMATICS OF POSITIONING DEVICE FOR MATERIAL HANDLING IN MANUFACTURING Darina Hroncová; Ingrid Delyová; Peter Frankovský

doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.194

Received: 30 Sep. 2021; Revised: 04 Dec. 2020; Accepted: 28 Dec. 2020

KINEMATICS OF POSITIONING DEVICE FOR MATERIAL HANDLING IN MANUFACTURING

Darina Hroncová

Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Technical University of Košice, Letná 9, 042 00 Košice, Slovakia, EU, darina.hroncova@tuke.sk

Ingrid Delyová

Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Technical University of Košice, Letná 9, 042 00 Košice, Slovakia, EU,

ingrid.delyova@tuke.sk Peter Frankovský

Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Technical University of Košice, Letná 9, 042 00 Košice, Slovakia, EU, peter.frankovsky@tuke.sk (corresponding author)

Keywords: kinematics, positioning device, matrix methods

Abstract: Different types of robots are used in many areas of industry. Industrial manipulators are used to ensure productivity and flexibility in automated production lines. Most of them is used for tasks that automatically repeat the same operation in a familiar environment. The key element in the development and analysis of industrial robots is their kinematic analysis. The article deals with the kinematic analysis of this positioning equipment. Individual relations of kinematic quantities are plotted graphically. Matrix methods were used for the analysis.

1 Introduction

People have thousands of sensations, movement and intelligence that coordinates them and adapts them to their current environment. Industrial robot has only a few sensors and the ability to perform certain movements, but without a human assistance it lacks the intelligence to adapt to its new task. In manufacturing, individual robots are programmed to perform one group of tasks and need to be reprogrammed for another group of tasks. The main difference between a human and a robot is flexible decision making. Up until now, robotics technology has not made a large impact in the world of logistics. This is change as advanced robots enter our warehouses, sorting centres, and even help with final delivery. Logistics workers has benefit from collaborating with robots, while customers are seeing faster service and higher quality. The main reason for the lack of logistics robots is techno logical. Until recently, robots have been stationary, blind, and relatively unintelligent. They perform the same movements over and over again thousands of times a day with a high degree of accuracy and precision. For many simple manufacturing processes, such as welding or transferring parts, these skills are all that are needed. The world of logistics, however, is much more complex than manufacturing and requires a robot with more ability.

The automated assembly line connects industrial robotic manipulators and various robotic equipment for material transporting, positioning and moving. The main elements of robots are common to many industrial systems. Individual handling equipment is designed to pick up the material and precisely transport it from one position to another. These devices handle the material in cooperation with a human. This makes it easy for people to manipulate even heavy objects [1-7].

The handling or positioning device can be considered as an open kinematic chain. The basic precondition for the operability of the device is a reliable calculation. The actual construction of the device depends on the calculation of the relevant mechanical quantities, which determine the dimensioning of individual components or nodes of the device [8-15]. The actual calculation is performed after a simplification of the investigated device on a mechanical model, which includes all main parameters of the actual device affecting the behaviour of the device according to its design. For the purpose of a mechanical model, all devices can be in general understood as a bound system of bodies [16-25].

The movement of the mobile robot in the work environment is shown in Figure 1 [3]. Sensors monitor the working environment of the robot with control system and navigating his movement in the production environment. The mobile robot enables communication between the operator and the robots. Depending on the mobile platform, different degrees of automation are added to the control system.

Industrial production currently requires new logistics concepts in the production premises, which are intelligent, versatile, networked, modular and also mobile. Mobile devices should have the ability to work between people and the production line. As well as people deployed in the production of mobile robots, they can monitor the working cycles of the machines, move freely around them and connect the individual production sites and thus create new, highly flexible production units. For example, the mobile and intelligent KMR iiwa is also shown in Figure 1



[3]. An example of a mobile robot model in the workflow environment of a production process made in the MSC Adams program is shown in Figure 2 [[4-8,21]. Each robot contains a gripping device.



Figure 1 Mobile robot KUKA KMR iiwa [3]



Figure 2 Model of mobile robot in MSC Adams View and trajectory of end-effector [4]

The end effector is a separate part of the robot, which is used to hold the manipulation object - the gripper. In industrial robots, a technological head such as a welding torch, a painting nozzle and the like is often used as an effector. In this paper, we further focus on the gripper representing a mechanism with three degrees of freedom of movement. The kinematic analysis of individual members is given in the following sections.

2 Kinematic analysis of bound systems of bodies

The main principle of analytical kinematic analysis of bound systems is in determination of the relations of geometric quantities describing the position of significant points of the driven members on the position of the driving members [5-10]. Based on the position, the speed and the acceleration of the individual members can be determined. The kinematic and dynamic analysis of a system of bodies uses software, which are often based on the matrix methods. Individual physical vector quantities are entered in matrix notation. In matrix method the coordinates are transformed. Orthogonal transformation is used for this transformation [4,20].

It is necessary to properly select the coordinate systems of the individual members of the system to simplify the calculation. In the case of a revolute kinematic pair, it is advantageous to select one coordinate axis as the axis of rotation. The remaining axes are selected to suit the shape of the body or the location of the next kinematic pair. With a prismatic kinematic pair, we place one axis in the direction of the linear motion [10-16]. Transformation matrices expressing the respective rotations around the individual axes are used to define the spherical motion. Transformation matrices of relative motions and vectors of the relative positions of the origins of the coordinate systems can be compiled for the selected coordinate systems. This gives the necessary relationships for the numerical calculation of the position vector for the given relative positions of the members of the mechanism [20].

The disadvantage of the derived matrix relations for the position, velocity and acceleration of the kinematic chain is the fact that it is necessary to make products of matrices and vectors but also a number of sums. This makes the expressions rather unclear and the calculations are time consuming. It is convenient to use so-called homogeneous coordinates and work with extended matrices and vectors to eliminate this disadvantage. Matrix relationships for the position, velocity and acceleration of the mechanism can be used for analysis but also for some tasks of mechanism synthesis. The matrix method enables the kinematic analysis of any complex planar and spatial mechanism [4,20].

The movement of a member of the bound system or one of its points is achieved by several simultaneous movements of the system. The movement of the *n*-th member of the system can be expressed by means of a position vector or the parametric equation (1) of the trajectory of the point M

$$r_{1M} = T_{12} \cdot T_{23} \dots T_{n-1,n} r_{n,M} \tag{1}$$

where T_{1n} is the transformation matrix of the motion n:1 and the following expression (2) applies

$$T_{1n} = \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} T_{i,i+1} \,. \tag{2}$$

The velocity of the point M can be expressed by the relation (3), (4)

$$v_{1M} = T_{14} V_{14} r_{4M}, \tag{3}$$

where
$$V_{14} = V_{12} + V_{23} + V_{34} = T_{34}^{-1} T_{23}^{-1} V_{12}^{(2)} T_{23} T_{34} + T_{34}^{-1} V_{23}^{(3)} T_{34} + V_{34}^{(4)}$$
 (4)



Acceleration of any point M (5) of member 4

$$a_{1M} = T_{14} A_{14} r_{4M} \tag{5}$$

where A_{14} (6) is the complete acceleration of member 4 relative to member 1 and is expressed by the relation

$$A_{14} = a_{14} + V_{14}^2 \tag{6}$$

The partial acceleration matrix a_{14} is expressed (7) by the Resal acceleration.

$$a_{14} = \dot{V}_{14} = A_{12} + A_{23} + A_{34} + A_R \tag{7}$$

where A_R (8) is Resal acceleration and is expressed by the relation.

$$A_{R} = (V_{12}V_{23} - V_{23}V_{12}) + (V_{12}V_{34} - V_{34}V_{12}) + (V_{23}V_{34} - V_{34}V_{23})$$
(8)

3 Movement of members of the positioning device

Diagram of the positioning device in the Figure 3, represents an open kinematic chain with three degrees of freedom of movement. For the positioning device, the equations of motion of the point M of the member 4 with respect to the other members were derived. The configuration in Figure 3 corresponds to the position of the device in time t = 0 s.



Figure 3 Positioning device in the initial position in time t = 0 s

Local coordinate systems are introduced in individual members of the system, Figure 3. During the relative motion of member 2 to member 1, the z-axis remains identical in each position $(z_1 = z_2)$. The coordinate axes x_2, y_2 are identical to the axes x_1, y_1 only in the initial position for time t = 0 s. The member 2 performs a rotational movement with respect to the base 1 and the rotation angle φ_{12} of the member 2 relative to base 1 is function of time. The origin of the coordinate system of

member 3 is shifted by the value H in the direction of the z-axis and by a value b in the direction of the axis x_3 of member 2. Member 3 performs a sliding movement with respect to member 2, where $x_{23} = x_{23}(t)$. The member 4 rotates about the axis $y_3 = y_4$ of the member 3 by an angle $\varphi_{34} = \varphi_{34}(t)$. The position of the end point M of the member 4 is at a distance R.

The matrix equation of the trajectory of point M of the positioning device is (9)

$$r_{1M} = T_{12} \cdot T_{23} \cdot T_{34} r_{4M} \tag{9}$$

The respective transformation matrices (10), (11), (12) of basic movements of the positioning device are

$$T_{12} = T_{\varphi_z} (\varphi_{12}) = \begin{bmatrix} c\varphi_{12} & -s\varphi_{12} & 0 & 0\\ s\varphi_{12} & c\varphi_{12} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(10)

$$T_{23} = T_{p_{\chi}}(x_{23}) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & (b + x_{23}) \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & H \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(11)
$$T_{34} = T_{\varphi_{y}}(\varphi_{34}) = \begin{bmatrix} c\varphi_{34} & 0 & s\varphi_{34} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -s\varphi_{34} & 0 & c\varphi_{34} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(12)

The transformation matrix (13) of member 4 with respect to member 1 is

$$T_{14} = T_{12} \cdot T_{23} \cdot T_{34} = T_{22}c\varphi_{34} - s\varphi_{12} c\varphi_{12}s\varphi_{34} (b + x_{23})c\varphi_{12} \\ s\varphi_{12}c\varphi_{34} c\varphi_{12} s\varphi_{12}s\varphi_{34} (b + x_{23})s\varphi_{12} \\ -s\varphi_{34} 0 c\varphi_{34} H \\ -0 0 0 1 \end{bmatrix} (13)$$

substituting equations (3) to (5) into (1) and (2) we get the equation of the trajectory of point M of member 4 in the coordinate system of base 1 using the basic matrices (14):

$$r_{1M} = T_{12} \cdot T_{23} \cdot T_{34} \cdot r_{4M} \tag{14}$$

The extended position vector (15) of the point M in the space of the member 4 is

$$r_{4M} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & R & 1 \end{bmatrix}^T \tag{15}$$

Position vector (16) of point M with respect to the coordinate system O_1 , x_1 , y_1 , z_1 .



$$r_{1M} = T_{14} \cdot r_{4M} = \begin{bmatrix} c\varphi_{12}(b + x_{23}) + Rc\varphi_{12}s\varphi_{34} \\ s\varphi_{12}(b + x_{23}) + Rs\varphi_{12}s\varphi_{34} \\ H + Rc\varphi_{34} \end{bmatrix}$$
(16)

Three variants of the input parameters were selected to calculate the movement of the positioning device. They are listed in Table 1.

Table 1 Input parameters									
	$\dot{\varphi}_{12}$ (rad/s)	$\dot{\phi}_{34}$ (rad/s)	\dot{x}_{23} (m/s)						
P1	1	1	1						
P2	0.5	0.5	1						
P3	0.35	0.35	1						

Figure 4 shows the trajectory of the point M for respective input data according to Table 1. The relations of the individual components of the position vector are for variants P1 to P3 in Figure 4 to Figure 6.



Figure 4 Trajectory of the movement of the point M for the input data P1: a) input data P1, b) y = y(x), c) z = z(y), d) z = z(x)



Figure 5 Trajectory of the movement of the point M for the input data P2: a) input data P2, b) y = y(x), c) z = z(y), d) z = z(x)





Figure 6 Trajectory of the point M for the input data P3: a) input data P3, a) y = y(x), b) z = z(y), c) z = z(x)

Figure 7 shows the time graph of the position vector of the point M for respective input parameters.



Figure 7 Time graph of the position vector

The mathematical expression of the components of the velocity vector (17) is

$$v_{1M} = T_{14}V_{14}r_{4M} = \begin{bmatrix} (R\dot{\varphi}_{34}c\varphi_{34} + \dot{x}_{23})c\varphi_{12} - (b + x_{23} + Rs\varphi_{34})\dot{\varphi}_{12}s\varphi_{12} \\ (R\dot{\varphi}_{34}c\varphi_{34} + \dot{x}_{23})s\varphi_{12} + (b + x_{23} + Rs\varphi_{34})\dot{\varphi}_{12}c\varphi_{12} \\ -R\dot{\varphi}_{34}s\varphi_{34} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(17)

The relation of the velocity vector of the point M with respect to the basic coordinate system O_1 , x_1 , y_1 , z_1 for the individual input parameters is shown in Figure 8.





Figure 8 Time graph of the velocity vector

The acceleration components of point M with respect to base 1 are (18), (19), (20).

$$a_{1Mx} = \left(R\ddot{\varphi}_{34}c\varphi_{34} + \ddot{x}_{23} - R\dot{\varphi}_{34}^2 s\varphi_{34} \right)c\varphi_{12} - \left(b + x_{23} + Rs\varphi_{34} \right)\ddot{\varphi}_{12}s\varphi_{12} - \left(b + x_{23} + Rs\varphi_{34} \right)\dot{\varphi}_{12}^2 c\varphi_{12} - 2\dot{\varphi}_{12} \left(R\dot{\varphi}_{34}c\varphi_{34} + \dot{x}_{23} \right)s\varphi_{12}$$

$$(18)$$

$$a_{1My} = \left(R\ddot{\varphi}_{34}c\varphi_{34} + \ddot{x}_{23} - R\dot{\varphi}_{34}^2s\varphi_{34}\right)s\varphi_{12} + \left(b + x_{23} + Rs\varphi_{34}\right)\ddot{\varphi}_{12}c\varphi_{12} - (19)$$

$$-(b + x_{23} + Rs\varphi_{34})\dot{\varphi}_{12}^2 s\varphi_{12} + 2\dot{\varphi}_{12}(R\dot{\varphi}_{34}c\varphi_{34} + \dot{x}_{23})c\varphi_{12}$$

$$a_{1Mz} = -R\ddot{\varphi}_{34}s\varphi_{34} - R\dot{\varphi}_{34}^2 c\varphi_{34}$$
(20)

The relation of the acceleration vector of the point M with respect to the basic coordinate system O_1 , x_1,y_1 , z_1 for individual input parameters is shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9 Time graph of the acceleration vector



4 Conclusions

The movement of individual members of the positioning device was addressed. Software was used to compile and evaluate matrices describing the movement of device members. The article presents the procedure for solving the problem of kinematic analysis of mechanisms by matrix notation, the principle of which are used by individual software for kinematic and dynamic analysis. The results are in the form of a time graph of the individual parameters determining the movement. At the same time, the trajectory of the movement of the positioning device endpoint is plotted depending on the individual coordinates. The contribution of the paper is mainly in the didactic area as a suitable tool for solving the problems of kinematics of the motion of a mechanism.

The results of the solution position, speed and acceleration of the robot endpoint for the selected member speeds are shown graphically. From the calculated kinematic quantities, we see that the movement of the end point of the robot is uniform at lower speeds. At higher speeds, the course of the dependence of the position vector on time acquires a sinusoidal character, which can be seen in the graphs.

Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education of Slovakia Foundation under Grant project VEGA No. 1/0290/18, VEGA No.1/0389/18, KEGA 027TUKE-4/2020 and KEGA 030TUKE-4/2020.

References

- KOSUGE, K., KAZAMURA, N: Control of a robot handling an object in cooperation with a human, In: Proceedings 6th IEEE International Workshop on Robot and Human Communication. RO-MAN'97 SENDAI. IEEE, pp. 142-147, 1997.
- [2] SWEVERS, J., VERDONCK, W., DE SCHUTTER, J.: Dynamic model identification for industrial robots, *IEEE control systems magazine*, pp. 58-71, 2007.
- [3] Kuka AG: Mobile robotics KMR iiwa, [online], Available: https://www.kuka.com/sk-sk/producty-aslu%C5%BEby/mobilita/mobiln%C3%A9roboty/kmr-iiwa [25. Sep 2020], 2020.
- [4] FRANKOVSKÝ, P., PÁSTOR, M., DOMINIK, L., KICKO, M., HRONCOVÁ, D., KELEMEN, M., TREBUŇA, P.: Wheeled mobile robot in structured environment", ELEKTRO: Danvers, 2018.
- [5] HRONCOVÁ, D.: A contribution to solving the direct and inverse dynamics problem in SimMechanics environment, Modeling of mechanical and mechatronic systems. TU Košice, Slovakia, 2007.
- [6] DELYOVÁ, I.; FRANKOVSKÝ, P.; HRONCOVÁ, D.: Kinematic analysis of movement of a point of a simple mechanism, In: 4th International Conference Modelling of mechanical and mechatronics systems, Technical university Košice, Herl'any, Slovakia. 2011.

- [7] FRANKOVSKÝ, P., HRONCOVÁ, D., DELYOVÁ, I., HUDÁK, P.: Inverse and forward dynamic analysis of two link manipulator, In: Procedia Engineering: MMaMS 2012:Modelling of Mechanical and Mechatronics Systems 2012, Technical university Košice, Zemplíska Šírava, Košice, Slovakia: Vol.4 pp. 158-163. 2012.
- [8] HRONCOVÁ, D., RÁKAY, R., LIPTÁK, T.: SimMechanics and Forward and Inverse Problem of Dynamics, *Journal of Automation and Control*, Vol. 3, No. 3, pp.58-61, 2015.
- [9] BOŽEK, P., PIVARČIOVÁ, E., KORSHUNOV, A.: Reverse validation in the robot's control, *Applied Mechanics and Materials: Applied Mechanics and Mechatronics*, Vol. 816, 2015.
- [10] TREBUŇA, P., KLIMENT, M., KRAL, Š., ROSOCHA, L., DUDA, R.: Visualization of industrial production with the digital two concept, *Acta Simulatio*, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 1-4, 2019. doi:10.22306/asim.v5i3.52
- [11] KELEMEN, M., FILAKOVSKÝ, F., FERENČÍK, P.: Adaptable mobile robot for rough terrain, *Acta Mechatronica*, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 11-15, 2019. doi:10.22306/am.v4i4.51
- [12] MALÁKOVÁ, S., FRANKOVSKÝ, P., NEUMANN, V., KURYLO, P.: Evaluation of suppliers' quality and significance by methods based on weighted order, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 1-7, 2020. doi:10.22306/al.v7i1.149
- [13] TEDESCHI, F., CARBONE, G.: Hexapod walking robot locomotion, *Mechanisms and Machine Science*, Vol. 29, pp. 439-468, 2015.
- [14] NAGPAL, N., BHUSHAN, B., AGARWAL, V.: Intelligent control of four DOF robotic arm, ICPEICES 2016: 1st IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics: Bawana, July 4-6, 2016.
- [15] MUNOZ-ALDANA, D. J., GAVIRIA-LÓPEZ, C. A.: Virtual environment for the design of position trajectory tracking controllers of remotely operated vehicles, *Revista iteckne*, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 157-167, 2019.
- [16] VIRGALA, I., MIKOVÁ, Ľ., KELEMEN, M., HRONCOVÁ, D.: Snake-like robots, Acta Mechatronica, Vol. 3, No. 4, pp. 7-10, 2018. doi:10.22306/am.v3i4.43
- [17] ASPIRANTI, T., AMALIAH, I., MAFRUHAT, A.Y., KASIM, R.S.R.: Dynamic behaviour model: a sustainable SMEs development, *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, Vol. 22, No. 1, pp 57-73, 2020. doi:10.17512/pjms.2020.22.1.04
- [18] PANDA, A., NAHORNYI, V., MIHOK, J., PANDOVÁ, I., ONOFREJOVÁ, D.: Dynamic model milling machine, *Acta Simulatio*, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 1-6, 2019. doi:10.22306/asim.v5i2.47
- [19] UMAR, S.N.H., BAKAR, E.A.: Study on Trajectory Motion and Computational Analysis of Robot

stica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 11-18 ISSN 1339-5629

KINEMATICS OF POSITIONING DEVICE FOR MATERIAL HANDLING IN MANUFACTURING Darina Hroncová; Ingrid Delyová; Peter Frankovský

Manipulator, Jurnal Teknologi, Vol. 67, No. 1, pp. 53-59, 2014.

- [20] BRÁT, V.: Maticové metody v analyze a syntéze prostorovych vázanych mechanickych systému, Academia, Praha, 1981. (Original in Czech)
- [21] DELYOVÁ, I., HRONCOVÁ, D., FRANKOVSKÝ, P., DZURIŠOVÁ, E., RÁKAY, R.: Kinematic analysis of crank rocker mechanism using MSC Adams/View, *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, Trans Tech Publications Ltd, 2014, pp. 90-97, 2014.
- [22] PEKARČÍKOVÁ, M., TREBUŇA, P., KLIMENT, K.: Digitalization effects on the usability of lean tools, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 9-13, 2019. doi:10.22306/al.v6i1.112
- [23] TREBUNA, P., STRAKA, M., ROSOVA, A., MALINDZAKOVA, M.: Petti nets as a tool for

production streamlining in plastics processing, *Przemysl Chemiczny*, Vol. 94, No. 9, pp. 1605-1608, 2015.

- [24] STRAKA, M., HRICKO, M.: Software system design for solution of effective material layout for the needs of production and logistics, *Wireless Networks*, 2020. doi:10.1007/s11276-020-02267-6
- [25] PAPACZ, W. Didactic models of manipulators, Acta Mechatronica, Vol. 3, No. 3, pp. 7-11, 2018. doi:10.22306/am.v3i3.38

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 19-25 ISSN 1339-5629

THE USE OF PROGRESSIVE GRAVITATIONAL METHODS IN THE LOGISTICS OF RAIL PASSENGER TRANSPORT

Milan Dedík; Karol Hrudkay; Adrián Šperka

doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.198

Received: 22 Oct. 2020; Revised: 03 Dec. 2020; Accepted: 05 Jan. 2021

THE USE OF PROGRESSIVE GRAVITATIONAL METHODS IN THE LOGISTICS OF RAIL PASSENGER TRANSPORT

Milan Dedík

University of Žilina, University Science Park, Univerzitná 8215/1, Žilina, Slovak Republic, EU, milan.dedik@uniza.sk (corresponding author)

Karol Hrudkay

University of Žilina, University Science Park, Univerzitná 8215/1, Žilina, Slovak Republic, EU,

karol.hrudkay@uniza.sk Adrián Šperka

University of Žilina, University Science Park, Universitná 8215/1, Žilina, Slovak Republic, EU,

adrian.sperka@uniza.sk

Keywords: gravitational methods, passenger transport, railway, timetable, optimal traffic service

Abstract: The main strategic goal of EU transport policy is to support public passenger transport and railway transport as a key transport mode. It is also very important to develop and improve logistic processes in passenger transport. To meet these goals it is necessary to use professional and scientific methods, for example gravitational methods. These methods can be included among progressive empirical methods and models that are used to generalize specific results and offer a general solution to the problem, from practical knowledge to theoretical formulation. These methods are utilised in the natural sciences but their using in transport processes is very important too. One of the best known empirical methods are Nyvig's and Lill's gravitational methods. They are especially used in transport planning and organizing, determining of the traffic potential, optimization and rationalization of timetables and traffic service. In the contribution the authors deals with using of the current and new progressive gravitational methods in the context of rail passenger transport logistics. The first chapter comprises narrow connection of the logistics and rail passenger transport including the explanation of their function in rail passenger transport. The next chapter contains an analysis the current research of raised issues. The most important scientific part conssists of theoretical concept of the gravitational methods in railway passenger transport and its various modifications. Theoretical principles of the new progressive Lill's gravitational model form including its practical application at the chosen railway passenger transport routes are explained and analyzed in the fourth and the fifth chapter.

1 Introduction

Gravitational models and methods are generally used in activities that show certain facts and produce specific results. They are based on conceptual thinking, system approach and exact features. They are engaged in gathering materials, constantly observing and investigating different processes. Subsequently, the measurement phase consists of a phase of counting and scaling, and finally, the experimental phase in which the process under investigationis carried out in its basic conditions and at the same time is isolated from other unimportant circumstances. Within the experiment, the process is changed based on the measurements, surveyed conditions and other selected criteria. Gravitational methods belong to the empirical methods. These methods should help to generalize specific results and offer a general solution to the problem, from practical knowledge to theoretical formulation. The main instruments used in the transition to general theoretical knowledge is induction.

The widely applied application of the methods is especially in the field of transport processes and traffic planning. Basic principles of gravitational methods and models are mentioned in publication [1]. An important practical application is mostly in railway passenger transport. The methods can be used in order to calculate optimal number of journeys, return trips, number of trains and so on. Current gravitational methods and the new proposed methods can improve and optimize traffic service in railway passenger transport. Finally, it should help to make railway passenger transport more attractive and effective and to increse the quality of logistic processes.

2 Logistics and its functions in railway transport

The relationship between transport and logistics is very narrow and. Transport ensures the physical relocation of the product from the place of production to the point of consumption and logistics try to find optimal solution of the transport process. Transport is an important factor in time benefit, it is the carrier of reliability and speed of product relocation. It is one of the most substantial elements in the logistic system. It has irrecoverable and unsubstitutable place in the logistical chain from material supplier to customer.

When choosing the optimum kind of transport and the transport mode, it is very important to take into account, in



Milan Dedík; Karol Hrudkay; Adrián Šperka

particular, the characteristics and type of the transported good, the weight, the volume, the packing methods, the legislative rules and other conditions. In this selection, account must be taken of the characteristics of the various modes of transport:

- ability to maximize transport safety, including the elimination of shocks and possible damage to the goods,
- ability to minimize the transport costs,
- the ability to provide traffic to any destination,
- ability to transport a certain number of materials and goods,
- ability to provide the optimal degree of time security and reliability,
- ability to provide the maximum degree of comfort.

Rail transport do not provide such high level of availability, manoeuvrability and flexibility as road transport, but in logistics, however its function is very important. It can provide transport in much larger quantities, in the case of freight transport offers the possibility to transport also heavy loads, shipments with specific properties, etc. Thus, it can offer a more favourable transport price per unit of consignment (e.g., ton). In the field of passenger rail transport, logistics deals with planning, organization, management and control of all activities between operators entering the transport process. The main goal is to create optimal conditions for ensuring safe, reliable, sufficiently fast and convenient passenger transport at the optimum price level. Very important is also synergy effect and cooperation with other types of transport. The basic strategic objective is to ensure the maximum quality, speed and comfort of the transport in regions and their economic development. To achieve this goal, the most appropriate solution is the introduction of an integrated transport system, integrating transport and tariff conditions, increasing the coordination of transport modes and co-operation between individual carriers. The more integrated the transport system is better for the traveling public and the logistics of public passenger transport at a higher level. The main tasks of logistics in passenger rail transport are [2]:

- review of passenger transport flows at certain times in transport routes using marketing methods or other survey methods,
- optimization and control of the transport streams,
- improving of the majority transport process factors,
- improving of the relationship with customers,
- ensuring quality services and optimal travel culture cleanliness and comfort of the means of transport, seating, technical condition of the vehicle,
- ensuring optimal costs,
- solving the complex logistics chain road from house to house.

3 Current research in the field of gravitational methods and models

Logistic problems in rail passenger transport and especially optimization of rail passenger transport, using various methods and models of transport planning are addressed by a large number of transport experts and scientists. Our target is focused to research a relationship between transport planning alternatively traffic service and logistics in rail passenger transport in the frame of sustainable transport system.

Using of the optimization methods Monte carlo is described in the article [3]. This method was used to optimize the fleet capacity. In [4,5] the authors focus on the quality of the service provided. As the interval between connections on individual lines is one of the qualitative indicators, such an assessment can be used. It is possible to connect innovative ideas in the field of transport using ontology. Optimisation of train traffic logistics often depends on various types of data storage and data representation. Many public transport providers are now connected to open data sets and various information systems beyond the field of rail traffic. Such domain interconnection needs smart ways of data storage for further processing and analysis. Solution described in [6] proposes using ontology as a modeling tool within the information system architecture proposal. This approach could be an inspiration in a further storage and analysis of passenger traffic data.

For example the Czech authors Jánoš and Kříž deal with issue of the gravitational methods and models in publications [7] and [8] where are explained basic principles and theoretical basis of the Lill's gravitational models and subsequently its practical application in transport planning and determination of development forecast in Ústí nad labem region. Author Turner in publication [9] applies the principles of gravitational methods to air transport using several modifications and extended forms of the Lill's gravitational model where is analyzed impact of aggregated and non-aggregated models to the issues. Within the proposal of the extended model deals with proposal of the new formula for model determination where are proposed several variables, the values of which are determined by expert estimation.

4 Current theoretical concept of the gravitational methods and models

This method is often used to calculate the direction of traffic flows in a four-stage traffic model. It is an important synthetic method that uses knowledge from another field of science (especially physics), taking into account Newton's law of gravitation, whose definition is as follows: "Consider two bodies of masses m_1 and m_2 . The distance between the centers of masses is r. According to the law of gravitation, the gravitational force of attraction F (1) with which the two masses m_1 and m_2 separated by a distance r attract each other is given by":



Milan Dedík; Karol Hrudkay; Adrián Šperka

$$F = G * \frac{m_1 * m_2}{r^2}$$
(1)

After the application of the law of gravitation to the direction of transport flows, the formula (2) is follow:

$$D_{ij} = k_{ij} * \frac{DZ_i * DC_j}{w_{ij}^{\alpha}}$$
(2)

where:

 D_{ij} - the number of journeys between areas i and j [piece], k_{ij} - gravitational constant [-],

 DZ_i - transport attractiveness of the area i,

 DC_i - transport attractiveness of the area i,

 w_{ij} - transport distance between areas i and j [km],

 α - empirical value approaching 2 [-].

It is possible to take into account the more attractive the two monitoregravityd areas (i, j) and the lower the transport distance between them, thus higher traffic flows can be expected and higher number of journeys between them. The mentioned problem is expressed graphically in fig. 1. One of the most important gravitational methods is Lill's gravitational model. The Lill's gravitational model and its various modifications are described in other subchapters [10].



Figure 1.Basic principles of gravitational methods [11]

4.1 Basic form of the Lill's gravitational model

Lill's gravitational model represents the most important source of motivation and inspiration for authors in scientific research. This model was created on the basis of the research activities of the Austrian railway engineer and transport modeling expert Eduard Lill, who already in 1891 presented the main principles and laws of travel in Vienna. Given the growing importance of his ideas, it was considered appropriate to apply the principles of his travel law to rail transport. Lill considered his observations to be a natural law analogous to Newton's law of gravitation in physics, but he had a fundamentally different theoretical approach. The original formulation was based on the hypothesis that there is a certain relationship between traffic flows between certain areas (settlements), the attractiveness of these areas and their distance. These traffic flows or the number of trips (passengers) within a given area is also called the "travel value" and can be expressed as follows (3) [10]:

$$y = \frac{M}{x} \tag{3}$$

where:

y - travel value, number of trips [piece],

M – attractiveness of monitored areas due to their size, economic level and other characteristics, x – transport distance [km].

The above formulation of the relationship expresses the direct proportionality of the number of people with the attractiveness of the area and the indirect proportionality with the transport distance between them. This means that the number of passengers between two areas (settlements) decreases with increasing distance according to the hyperbolic curve 1/x. The hypothesis from which this formulation arose was subsequently confirmed and on the basis of further Lill's research new relationships were formed expressing the given issue [10].

4.2 Current modified forms of the Lill's gravitational model

For example, research based on determining the number of passengers leaving an area with an attraction M (i) to an area with an attraction M (j) at a distance x (j) by comparing the probability P (j-1) that passengers from area i will be transported to area j with stop and probability P (j + 1) that passengers will be transported from area i to area j without stop. The total probability will then be expressed as their difference - P (j) = P (j-1) - P (j + 1). Subsequently, it will be possible to work on a modified relationship for determining the number of passengers going from i to j, which additionally contains the variable L (j), which expresses the interval between individual connections between areas i and j. The modified form of the relationship is as follows (4):

$$y(i,j) = \frac{M(i)}{x(j) - L(j)/2} - \frac{M(i)}{x(j) + L(j)/2} \approx \frac{M(i) * L(j)}{x(j)^2}$$
(4)

Another modified form of the model is based on identical principles and similar indicators as the gravitational method itself. This is the following form (5):

$$v_{ij} = k * \frac{Q_i * Z_j}{w_{ij}} \tag{5}$$

where:

 v_{ij} - traffic flows between areas i a j,

- k gravitational constant, [-]
- Qi attractiveness (potential) of the i-th starting area,
- Z_j attractiveness (potential) of the i-th final area,

w_{ij} - variable expressing traffic resistance.

The stated form of the model is based on the assumption that the traffic relationship between the areas (Qi and Zj) increases with their size and attractiveness and decreases with increasing so-called traffic resistance (usually represented by travel time or transport distance between areas). The gravitational constant was determined on the basis of research and expert estimates and it expresses a certain territorial characteristic of a given area and within this model it takes values from 0.7 to 0.9. The



Milan Dedík; Karol Hrudkay; Adrián Šperka

result of the calculation is then a numerical value, which after the transfer expresses the "relative size" of the transport flow. This form of the model was also used in the research activities of the authors Jánoš and Kříž in their publications focused on transport planning in regional rail passenger transport.

Another modification differs in addition to the different designations of the variables in the numerator of the relationship, but their meaning is not changed. Denominator variable expresses traffic resistance through the transport distance between areas i and j (lij), which is raised to the second power. This form of the formula is as follows (6):

$$v_{ij} = k * \frac{z_i * c_j}{(l_{ij})^2} \tag{6}$$

An alternative to the above modification is to express the transport resistance through the general transport costs (cij) instead of the transport distance (7):

$$v_{ij} = k * \frac{z_i * c_j}{(c_{ij})^2} \tag{7}$$

The best known and the most widespread modification of the Lill model, which is currently the most widely used, is the form used to determine the optimal number of return journeys of all public passenger transport modes between two selected transport points. It takes into account the population of these transport points and the distance between them. The calculated optimal number of journeys (8) is directly proportional to the number of inhabitants of both transport points, the gravitational coefficient K and indirectly proportional to the distance of these transport points. The model has the following shape, the result is always rounded up [10]:

$$j_{1,2} = \frac{A_1 * A_2}{d^n} * K$$

where:

 $j_{1,2}$ - optimal number of return journeys (connections) between chosen traffic points,

 $A_{1, 2}$ – number of inhabitants (in thousands) of the traffic points,

d – transport distance between traffic points [km],

K – gravitational constant (depends on the nature and connection of the selected settlements), n – variable approaching 2.

4.3 New progressive form of the Lill's gravitational model

Gravitational models are the inspiration for the creation of the following relationship, which can be considered as a new progressive gravitational method applicable in regional rail transport. The resulting form of the proposed formula for the calculation of the transport potential (K_p) can be marked as a further modification of Lill's gravitational model. Its form is as follows (9) [12]:

$$K_p = \frac{\sum_{1}^{nA_n}}{L} \tag{9}$$

where:

 K_p – traffic potential coefficient [population/km²],

 A_n - the number of inhabitants of the n-th seat of the monitored area [piece],

 D_n - availability of the n-th railway station and stop – its distance from the centre or from its middle [piece],

L-length of the railway passenger transport route [km].

The most significant benefit of the proposed relationship is the assessment of traffict potential and subsequent more efficient identification of bottlenecks on individual regional rail routes, while it is possible to assess whether the line has low transport potential due to low population density or the problem is accessibility of railway stations. and their longer distance from settlements. It is also possible to assess the effectiveness of investments in railway infrastructure on these lines, whether, based on the transport potential, more extensive construction and reconstruction measures will pay off, or operational and organizational measures will be sufficient, etc. Based on the calculated values of Kp on several transport routes, it is possible to better compare these routes and then assess their importance on the basis of the resulting hierarchy and thus the prioritization of possible modernization. Based on scientific opinions and brainstorming methods, the width of the intervals is as follows [12,13].

Traffic service range	The interval of the resulting $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{p}}$ value	Recommended number of pairs of all regional trains	Recommended number of seats for all train connections in both directions
I.	0 - 700	4	up to 500 seats
II.	701 - 1 000	5-6	250 - 1 500
III.	1 001 – 1 200	7-10	350 - 3 000
IV.	1 201 – 1 400	11 – 15	550 - 6 000
V.	1 401 – 1 600	16 - 20	1 000 - 8 000
VI.	1 601 – 1 800	21 - 25	2 000 - 10 000
VII.	1 801 – 2 000	26-30	4 000 - 12 000
VIII.	2 001 – 2 500	31 - 39	5 000 - 15 000
IX.	2 501 - 3 000	40 - 49	7 000 - 20 000
Х.	3 001 and more	50 and more	8 000 and more

Table 1 Determination of the modified intervals width of particular traffic service ranges [12]

(8)



Milan Dedík; Karol Hrudkay; Adrián Šperka

5 Practical application of the new progressive Lill's gravitational model

and table 3 are four model Slovak railway trasport routes (Bratislava–Trnava, Žilina–Čadca, Púchov–Horní Lideč, Plešivec–Slavošovce).

The 3rd chapter contains a practical application of the new progressive Lill's gravitational model. On the table 2

Kp calculation	n on Bratisla	va–Trn	ava railway line	Kp calculation on Zilina–Cadca railway line							
Tariff point:	Α	D	A/D	Tariff point:	Α	D	A/D				
Svätý Jur	5 700.00	1	5 700.00	Brodno	1 31.,00	1.8	731,11				
Pezinok	23 002.00	0.8	28 752.50	Vranie	736.00	22	334,55				
Šenkvice	5 026.00	0.65	7 732.31	Rudina	1 831.00	0.8	2 288.75				
Báhoň	1 857.00	0.55	3 376.36	Kys. N. Mesto	15 073.00	0.7	21 532.86				
Cífer	4 321.00	1	4 321.00	Ochodnica	1 933.00	1.1	1 757.27				
Trnava	65 207.00	1	65 207.00	K. Lieskovec	2 354.00	1.3	1 810.77				
Total value (A	/D)		115 089.17	Dunajov	1 163.00	0.23	5 056.52				
Transport dist	tance (km)		46.00	Krásno n. Kys.	6 790.00	2	3 395.00				
Final Kp value	e		2 501.94	Oščadnica	5 700.00	1.7	3 352.94				
				Čadca	23 941.00	1.3	18 416.15				
				Total value (A/I	58 675.92						
				Transport dista	30.00						
				Final Kp value		1 955.86					

Table 3 K_p calculation on Slovak railway transport routes Púchov – Horní Lideč and Plešivec – Slavošovce

Kp calculation	on Púchov-	Horní Li	deč line	deč line Kp calculation on Plešivec–Slavošov				
Tariff point:	Α	D	A/D	Tariff point:	Α	D	A/D	
Dohňany	1 815.00	0.25	7 260.00	Plešivec	2 282.00	0.9	2 535.56	
Záriečie	698.00	0.7	997.14	Pašková	349.00	0.35	997.14	
Mestečko	531.00	0.5	1 062.00	Kunova Teplica	708.00	0.6	1 180.00	
Lúky p. M.	928.00	0.3	3 093.33	Štítnik mesto	1 550.00	0.55	2 818.18	
Lysá p. M.	2 093.00	0.35	5 980.00	Roštár	627.00	1.7	368.82	
Strelenka	439.00	0.4	1 097.50	Ochtiná	544.00	0.4	1 360.00	
Střelná	596.00	0.35	1 702.86	Rochovce	333.00	0.4	832.50	
Horní Lideč	1 388.00	0.85	1 632.94	Slavošovce	1 877.00	0.4	4 692.50	
Total value (A/D)			22 825.77	Total value (A/D)			14 784.70	
Transport distance (km)			28.00	Transport distant	24.00			
Final Kp value			815.21	Final Kp value	616.03			

Within each specified transport route, the traffic potential is calculated in particular tariff points according to the formula stated in subchapter 2.3. Each tariff point includes the population (A), distance of the railway stop from the town/village centre (D) and finally partial and final value of traffic potential (Kp).

Final Kp values including optimal traffic service range (according to table 1) compared with actual traffic service range is situated in table 3. It follows from the calculated data that optimal traffic service range is IX (40 - 49 pairs of the regional trains during working day) and actual traffic service range in 2020 is VII (35 pairs) on the railway transport route Bratislava – Trnava. It follows that actual traffic service is not sufficient and it is necessary to

increase it. Optimal traffic service range on Žilina – Čadca railway line is VII (26 – 30 pairs of the regional trains during working day) and actual traffic service range in 2020 is V (20 pairs). It also follows that it is appropriate to introduce 6 - 10 new pairs of passenger trains. Optimal traffic service range on the railway transport route Púchov – Horní Lideč is II (5-6 pairs of regional trains during working day) and actual traffic service range in 2020 is III (7 pairs). It follows that it is appropriate to introduce 6 new pairs of passenger trains to meet the basic transport needs of passengers. And finally optimal traffic service is I (4 pairs of regional trains during working day) on the transport routes Plešivec – Slavošovce, but at present there

Milan Dedík; Karol Hrudkay; Adrián Šperka

is no railway passenger trains. There must be introduced a minimum of 4 pairs of regional passenger trains.

Railway transport route	Final K _p value	Optimal traffic service range	Actual traffic service range
Bratislava–Trnava	2501.94	IX	VII
Žilina–Čadca	1341.99	VII	V
Púchov–Horní Lideč	815.21	II	III
Plešivec-Slavošovce	616.03	Ι	-

Table 4 K_p calculation on four model Slovak railway transport routes

6 Conclusion

The current gravitational models used in transport processes, especially in railway passenger transport, are analyzed in the article. The Authors have described and analyzed particular modifications of Lill's gravitational model. Subsequently, a new proposed modification was introduced. Finally, the practical application of the new model was presented. Within it the authors have calculated traffic potencial (Kp) at five chosen railway transport routes.

Based on the above-mentioned more objective assessment, it would also be possible to estimate more accurately the passenger traffic flows, define bottlenecks of selected transport routes. On this basis, there is a prerequisite for improving the train traffic diagram, linking the different types of transport, increasing the number of passengers, increasing customer satisfaction, as well as a comprehensive improvement and improvement in rail transport that has stagnated in recent years. From the point of view of logistics, the gravitational models and methods should help to find the optimal alternative for moving people with the maximum synergy effect. The main result should be a high-quality logistical chain with satisfied customers [14,15].

Passenger transport logistics can also be solved using other algorithms, as described, for example, in the article [16]. Although the article is focused on the transport of cars, it is worth using the algorithm proposed here also on the problem of passenger transport logistic.

Equally important is the transport of immobile passengers. This is discussed in the article [17]. Within the number of passengers and the number of trains, this would be a restrictive condition in our relationship. On this basis, however, it would be possible to determine the number of barrier-free connections.

Acknowledgement

This publication was created thanks to support under the Operational Program Integrated Infrastructure 2014-2020 for the project: Innovative solutions for propulsion, energy and safety components of vehicles, with ITMS project code 313011V334, co-financed by the European Regional Development Fund.





References

- [1] ZITRICKÝ, V., DEDÍK, M., ZÁHUMENSKÁ, Z.: Options to extend the empirical models in railway passenger transport, *Horizons of Railway Transport: an International Scientific Journal: scientific papers*, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 92-98, 2018.
- [2] GAŠPARÍK, J., DEDÍK, M., ZÁHUMENSKÁ, Z.: Quality assessment in the logistics of rail passenger transport, Proceedings of the 18th International Scientific Conference LOGI, 19. October 2017, pp. 1-7, 2017. doi:10.1051/matecconf/201713400009
- [3] LAMPA, M., SMOLEJOVÁ, M.: Fleet Optimalization Based on the Monte Carlo Method, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 17-21, 2020. doi:10.22306/al.v7i1.151
- [4] ONALAN, M.S., ERSOY, K., MAGDA, R.: Measurement of entrepreneurial profiles in Turkey: A multi-dimensional scale development, *Polish Journal* of Management Studies, Vol. 22, No. 2, pp. 362-383, 2020. doi:10.17512/pjms.2020.22.2.24
- [5] STRAKA, M., KAČMÁRY, P., ROSOVÁ, A., YAKIMOVICH, B., KORSHUNOV, A.: Model of unique material flow in context with layout of manufacturing facilities, *Manufacturing Technology*, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 814-820, 2016.
- [6] BUČKO, B., ZÁBOVSKÝ, M., ZÁBOVSKÁ, K.: Ontology as a Modeling Tool within Model Driven Architecture Abstraction, Proceedings of the 42th International Convention on Information and Communication technology, Electronics and Microelectronics, 20.-24. May 2019, pp. 1525-1530, 2019.
- [7] JÁNOŠ, V.: Using Gravity Model in Regional Rail Transport Planning, Advances in Applied and Pure Mathematics, Vol. 27, No. 1, pp. 436-441, 2014.
- [8] JÁNOŠ, V., KŘÍŽ, M.: Pragmatic approach in regional rail transport planning, *Scientific Journal of Silesian Unicersity of Technology, Series Transport*, Vol. 100, No. 1, pp. 35-43, 2018. doi:10.20858/sjsutst.2018.100.4
- [9] TURNER, A.S.: An application of a gravity model to air cargo at Vancouver international airport,



Milan Dedík; Karol Hrudkay; Adrián Šperka

disertation thesis, Vancouver, University of British Columbia, 2001.

- [10] LILL, E.: Das Reisegesetz und seine Anwendung auf den Eisenbahnverkehr, Wien, Spielhagen & Schurich, 1891.
- [11] DORDA, M.: *Metody prognózovaní v dopravě*, Část IV., 20 February 2020. [Online]. Available: http://homel.vsb.cz/~dor028/Prognozy.pdf.
 [14 Oct 2020], 2020. (Original in Czech)
- [12] GAŠPARÍK, J., DEDÍK, M., ČECHOVIČ, L.: Estimation of Transport Potential in Regional Rail Passenger Transport by Using the Innovative Mathematical-Statistical Gravity Approach, *Sustainability*, Vol. 12, No. 9, pp. 1-13, 2020. doi:10.3390/su12093821
- [13] GAŠPARÍK, J., ĽUPTÁK, V., MEŠKO, P.: New methodology for assessing transport connections depending on the integrated transport network, Proceedings of 3rd International Conference on Traffic and Transport Engineering, 24.-25. November 2016, pp. 388-392, 2016.
- [14] MAŠEK, J., KENDRA, M., ČAMAJ, J., MILINKOVIĆ, S., VESKOVIĆ, S.: Proposal and application of methodology of revitalisation of regional railway track in Slovakia and Serbia. Part 2: State of regional transport in Slovakia and Serbia,

Transport Problems, Vol. 10, No. 4, pp. 107-119, 2015. doi:10.21307/tp-2015-052

- [15] MAŠEK, J. ČAMAJ, J., GRANDSART, D., MARLIER, E., PARAGREEN, J., PALETA, T.: Research of passenger's demand for travel companion as the part of sustainable transport solutions, Transport Means - Proceedings of the International Conference, 3.-5. October 2018, pp. 623-629, 2018.
- [16] ZHOU, J., ZHONG, M. S., CHENG, D. L., XIN, X.: Transport Logistics Optimization Model Of Passenger Car Based On Heuristic Algorithm, 2016 International Conference on Electronic, Information and Computer Engineerimg, 26. - 27. April 2016, 2016. doi:10.1051/matecconf/20164401019
- [17] GOGIASHVILI, D., CHOGOVADZE, J., LEKVEISHVILI, G., KBILASHVILI, D., SIRBILADZE, B., DOGRASHVILI, V.: Optimizing the Time Costs of Passenger Transport of People with Disabilities, *Transport Problems*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 123-133, 2019. doi:10.20858/tp.2019.14.2.11

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



istica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 27-36 ISSN 1339-5629



APPLICATION OF PERIODIC REVIEW INVENTORIES MODEL IN A TYPICAL MEXICAN FOOD COMPANY Ramsés Cabrera-Gala; Luis Fernando Carreón-Nava; Hugo Alberto Valencia-Cuevas; León José Rivera-Sosa

doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.199

Received: 03 Nov. 2020; Revised: 14 Jan. 2021; Accepted: 01 Feb. 2021

APPLICATION OF PERIODIC REVIEW INVENTORIES MODEL IN A TYPICAL MEXICAN FOOD COMPANY

Ramsés Cabrera-Gala

Universidad Popular Autónoma del Estado de Puebla (UPAEP), 4th road 29 North, No 2700-2 El Rosario residential, Zip Code 75780 Tehuacan, Puebla, Mexico, ramses.cabrera@upaep.mx

Luis Fernando Carreón-Nava

Universidad Popular Autónoma del Estado de Puebla (UPAEP), 12 Street No 11, La Antigua Cementera residential, Zip Code 72210 Tehuacan, Puebla, Mexico, luisfernando.carreon@upaep.edu.mx

Hugo Alberto Valencia-Cuevas

Universidad Popular Autónoma del Estado de Puebla (UPAEP), 24 Street No 413 East, Zip Code 72760 San Pedro Cholula, Puebla, Mexico, hugoalberto.valencia@upaep.edu.mx (corresponding author)

León José Rivera-Sosa

Universidad Popular Autónoma del Estado de Puebla (UPAEP), San Isidro Street No 15-22, Villas Dali, Zip Code 72700 Cuautlancingo, Puebla, Mexico, leonjose.rivera@upaep.edu.mx

Keywords: inventory management, food Mexican company, periodic review model, perishable products *Abstract:* The Mexican family companies must face the challenges of market volatility with greater recurrence, forcing them to use effective tools and models for the proper management of their organizations and inherent activities, such as inventory management. Therefore, this research was carried out at "Moles Santa Monica", a typical food company located in the city of Puebla, Mexico. This enterprise has reflected a high variability in the administration of its inventories, with a Coefficient of Variation (CV) greater than 0.2 in most of their portfolio products. In this way, the objective of this study was to propose an inventory management model that might reduce the shortages and overstock, and also; improves its performance and profitability when it is managed. The applied methods were Pareto and ABC model to choose correctly the best seller company products. The inventory management model chosen was the periodic review (R, S) as well, for being the most effective and the one that best suited the circumstances of the company in question. Three of the portfolio products were studied (MPP10, MPC10 and COP10) due to they are the most representative in incomes and valuables for the company managers. The results allowed us to propose the review periodic model (R), the optimal quantity of units to produce (Q), the safety stock (Ss) and the maximum inventory (S) for each product. We conclude that this model will help the company to face the uncertainty of the demand. Finally, we include limitations and future studies.

1 Introduction

Inventory management is one of the most important tasks for any company that produces or manufactures any product or products, and what is looking for is not to have overstock or shortages. These are two of the most common problems in inventory management [1-4]. This situation is not unfamiliar in Mexican family companies, which are immersed in a context of turbulent and changing demand but which, in addition, usually make decisions based on intuition and experience. However, these must be supported by objective and sustained criteria; to avoid permanent conflicts related to excesses and shortages in their inventories.

In order to avoid the prevalence of these conflicts, there are many tools and models that contribute to improving efficiency in inventory management. Such is the case of the periodic review model or known as (R, S), which provides solutions to inventory management problems in different real-life situations where, in addition; under the political framework (R, S) the demand is not constant and there are important variations [4-7]. Those two problems related are disjunctive that the family business Moles Santa Mónica faces; reason why it has been decided to apply the mentioned model.

Furthermore, this model contributes to reduce slow and idle inventories [8]. The essential purpose is to check inventory levels at specific time intervals. It is established that, at the beginning of each of the periods, the inventory levels must first be reviewed in order to immediately determine corresponding replacement; through instantly generated orders [9].

The objective of this study is to propose an inventory model that improves its performance and profitability when managed. This is due to the fact that the family business has gone through a contingency of business succession, along with relocation of the domicile of operations, decrease in sales and turnover of personnel. The research included analysis of documentary information of the company such as: maintenance cost, order costs, financial statements, and sales report, in addition to bibliographic references related to the subject, together with probabilistic models; specifically, the periodic review model.



2 Literature review

Inventory management has been studied for researchers and its policies applied in small companies mainly because it involves their financial performance and represents the survival or not of those kinds of companies [10,11]. When they must determine the right quantity of materials and to hold them the correct time in order to avoid associated costs, two typical scenarios emerge: in the first one, companies have too much inventory that represent deterioration, obsolescence, damage and loss [12]; in the second one, shortage of inventory can represent loss of sales, underutilization of the machines, and poor client relations [12,13]. Our study is related with perishable products, due to the company produces typical Mexican food._A comprehensive review of the literature on these products inventory models is available [4,14]. Furthermore, a detailed analysis of the periodic and continuous review model is also available in the literature [15]. Therefore, we briefly summarize the research related to the object of study.

The periodic review model can be used when determining a fixed inventory review and order request time, which means that the inventory management policy must consider the minimum total annual cost, order renewal time, stock of security and the types of inventories; to be able to reduce inventory management costs without affecting the quality of services [8].

Thus, there is a widespread review about optimizing inventory costs with business applications, such as one in which the minimum total cost of inventory is located with a service level of approximately 90%, avoiding in a parallel and considerable way, the shortage. In addition, with the application of the model, significant reductions were achieved in the payment of fines due to penalties; and it is postulated that the use of the policy (R, S) emanates higher storage costs but that by contrast, its management is much easier [4,6,7].

Consequently, the most used practices in the periodic review are policy (R, S) and (R, Q). In the first one, when level "R" is reached, a certain amount is ordered to reach "S"; on the other hand; in the second one, when the point "R" is reached, an order of "Q" size is sent [16].

In addition, there are recent research in which the periodic review probabilistic EOQ (Economic Order Quantity) model is adapted when there is variability in ordering costs, which results in representative savings in logistics cycle costs [17]. There are even other dilemmas

presented in the periodic review model, in which the twoitem model and two warehouses with transhipment are used; thereby applying heuristics based on greedy and lagrangian relaxation [2,18].

Finally, a stochastic demand periodic review model can be designed considering sudden obsolescence, in which the optimal policy is proposed, and a dynamic programming algorithm is simultaneously proposed to calculate its parameters [19].

3 Methodology

To develop this research, the documentation of information was carried out based on the data provided by purchasing, production and sales areas belonging to the company Moles Santa Monica located in the state of Puebla, Mexico. Printed and electronic materials from the mentioned areas were analysed, and a diagnosis of the current situation of the company was made through individual semi-structured interviews with general manager, sales manager and purchasing manager, and in this way being able to know their functioning holistically, understanding their needs according to the context in which the research was conducted. Then, 29 articles that are part of the company's product portfolio were analysed, which represent the mix of products with greater importance for the leaders of the company, by sales and production volume.

Through the use of the ABC method, the most relevant products were defined in terms of sales revenue, according to their rotation between periods from November 2018 to October 2019. Additionally, the three most relevant products were obtained; by means of the Pareto method or 80-20 rule. Finally, the detailed study of demand has been established through the deterministic model of periodic review (R, S).

4 Results and discussion

According to the information provided by the managers of this company; where the company has gone through a business succession contingency, along with relocation of the operations domicile, decrease in sales and staff turnover. The Pareto method was used for the 29 articles in the company's product portfolio and those with superlative preponderance were selected. The products were ordered from highest to lowest, taking as a reference the income from sales (Mexican pesos), thereby obtaining; the percentage of contribution (Table 1).



	Table 1 Sales in the period from November 2018 to October 2019										
Pos	Code	Product name	Total	% of contribution	Accumulated contribution						
1	MPP10	Almondy mole poblano 10 kg	\$2,164,694	17.8%	17.8%						
2	MPC10	Homemade mole poblano 10 kg	\$1,338,969	11.0%	28.8%						
3	COP10	Chicken bouillon 10 kg	\$1,219,754	10.0%	38.8%						
4	MPP5	Almondy mole poblano 5 kg	\$976,210	8.0%	46.9%						
5	PPV10	Green pipian 10 kg	\$917,231	7.5%	54.4%						
6	CHL10	Chili pepper with lemon 10 kg	\$794,505	6.5%	61.0%						
7	CHLM10	Ground chili pepper 10 kg	\$600,128	4.9%	65.9%						
8	MPP1	Almondy mole poblano 1 kg	\$542,995	4.5%	70.4%						
9	COP20	Chicken bouillon 20 kg	\$420,626	3.5%	73.8%						
10	PPV5	Green pipian 5 kg	\$391,133	3.2%	77.0%						
11	MPP20	Almondy mole poblano 20 kg	\$387,098	3.2%	80.2%						
12	COP5	Chicken bouillon 5 kg	\$329,072	2.7%	82.9%						
13	MCA10	Mole poblano sesame seeds 10 kg	\$228,634	1.9%	84.8%						
14	CCHMA10	Chili chamoy 10 kg bag	\$182,973	1.5%	86.3%						
15	MPC20	Homemade mole poblano 20kg	\$179,504	1.5%	87.8%						
16	MCA5	Mole poblano sesame seeds 5 kg	\$178,224	1.5%	89.3%						
17	CHB10	Chili pepper for snacks 10 kg bag	\$141,628	1.2%	90.4%						
18	MPCR500	Almondy mole poblano 0.5 kgs.	\$137,264	1.1%	91.5%						
19	PPV20	Green pipian 20 kg	\$132,036	1.1%	92.6%						
20	PPR5	Red pipian 5 kg bucket	\$112,610	0.9%	93.6%						
21	MPP52	Almondy mole poblano 5 kg bucket	\$103,328	0.8%	94.4%						
22	AJM10	Ground sesame 10 kg bucket	\$100,285	0.8%	95.2%						
23	CTL20	Pickled chipotles 20 kg bucket	\$93,301	0.8%	96.0%						
24	MACH10	Chocolaty mole 10 kg bucket	\$90,400	0.7%	96.7%						
25	MPP500	Almondy mole poblano 0.5 kg	\$84,381	0.7%	97.4%						
26	MPSO10	Spicy mole 10 kg bucket	\$79,718	0.7%	98.1%						
27	CTL10	Pickled chipotles 10 kg bucket	\$78,540	0.6%	98.7%						
28	CHLE10	Special chili pepper lemon 10 kg	\$78,198	0.6%	99.4%						
29	MPC5	Homemade mole poblano 5 kg	\$75,301	0.6%	100%						

Based on the table above, ABC products were selected. The statistical property with which the products can be classified in a preliminary way, are those criteria of significant impact on the total value; whether from inventory, sales, or costs [20]. In the study, the classification was determined according to sales in the period indicated above. Thus, 3 classes are presented: Class A: 8 products representing 70.4% of participation; Class B: 11 products that represent 23.3% of sales and finally; Class C: 10 products with a total of 7.4% of sales.



	Table 2 ABC method										
		Туре А	I								
Pos	Code	Product name	Total	% of contribution	Accumulated contribution						
1	MPP10	Almondy mole poblano 10 kg bucket	\$2,164,694	17.80%							
2	MPC10	Homemade mole poblano 10 kg	\$1,338,969	11.00%							
		bucket									
3	COP10	Chicken bouillon 10 kg bag	\$1,219,754	10.00%	70.40%						
4	MPP5	Almondy mole poblano 5 kg bucket	\$976,210	8.00%	70.40%						
5	PPV10	Green pipian 10 kg bucket	\$917,231	7.50%							
6	CHL10	Chili pepper with lemon 10 kg bag	\$794,505	6.50%							
7	CHLM10	Ground chili pepper 10 kg bag	\$600,128	4.90%							
8	MPP1	Almondy mole poblano 1 kg can	\$542,995	4.50%							
-	~ .	Туре В		~ ^							
Pos	Code	Product name	Total	% of	Accumulated						
0	CODO		¢ 100 (0)	contribution	contribution						
9	COP20	Chicken bouillon 20 kg bag	\$420,626	3.50%							
10	PPV5	Green pipian 5 kg bucket	\$391,133	3.20%							
11	MPP20	Almondy mole poblano 20 kg bucket	\$387,098	3.20%							
12	COPS	Chicken bouillon 5 kg bag	\$329,072	2.70%							
13	MCA10	Mole poblano with sesame seeds 10 kg bucket	\$228,634	1.90%							
14	CCHMA10	Chili chamoy 10 kg bag	\$182,973	1.50%	22 200						
15	MPC20	Homemade mole poblano 20kg bucket	\$179,504	1.50%	22.30%						
16	MCA5	Mole poblano with sesame seeds 5 kg bucket	\$178,224	1.50%							
17	CHB10	Chili pepper for snacks 10 kg bag	\$141,628	1.20%							
18	MPCR500	Almondy mole poblano micro 0.500 grs.	\$137,264	1.10%							
19	PPV20	Green pipian 20 kg bucket	\$132,036	1.10%							
		Туре С	•								
Pos	Code	Product name	Total	% of contribution	Accumulated contribution						
20	PPR5	Red pipian 5 kg bucket	\$112,610	0.90%							
21	MPP52	Almondy mole poblano 5 kg bucket	\$103,328	0.80%							
22	AJM10	Ground sesame 10 kg bucket	\$100,285	0.80%							
23	CTL20	Pickled chipotles 20 kg bucket	\$93,301	0.80%							
24	MACH10	Chocolaty mole 10 kg bucket	\$90,400	0.70%							
25	MPP500	Almondy mole poblano 0.500 grs can	\$84,381	0.70%							
26	MPSO10	Spicy mole 10 kg bucket	\$79,718	0.70%	7.40%						
27	CTL10	Pickled chipotles 10 kg bucket	\$78,540	0.60%							
28	CHLE10	Special chili pepper with lemon 10 kg bag	\$78,198	0.60%							
29	MPC5	Homemade mole poblano 5 kg	\$75,301	0.60%							

The names of the products represented by their respective codes, the total sales, the percentage of contribution, as well as the accumulated number of each

product are displayed in Table 2 of the ABC method, which is shown above.

Pareto diagram and the ABC model classification are illustrated below (Figure 1).





Figure 1 ABC model classification

The ABC model classification shown a total of 8 products, representing 70.4% of total sales revenue. For purposes of this study, the 3 most representative type A products of the company were chosen (see Coefficient of Variation) in terms of sales, which are almondy mole poblano almond bucket 10 Kg (MPP10), homemade mole poblano bucket 10 Kg (MPC10) and chicken bouillon bag 10 Kg (COP10).

It was decided to implement the Variability Coefficient (CV) index, for being useful to compare results from the different amount of sales during the study period, where the ratio of the standard deviation to the mean is presented (1). The sales of the selected products are observed for one year; explicitly from November 2018 to October 2019. Calculations of the coefficient of variation were made as follows:

$$CV = \frac{\sigma}{\bar{x}}$$
 (1)

To start the computation, σ and \bar{x} , were calculated separately. One-year period average sales of selected products was taken. This formula was used [$\bar{x} = \frac{\sum sales}{x}$]; next the standard deviation sales calculation of selected products was made using $[\sigma = \frac{\sum (x_i - \bar{x})^2}{n}]$. The meaning of every variable is shown below:

- CV: Variation relative of the mean,
- σ : Standard deviation,
- x: Total sales average,
- n: Number of products in portfolio,
- xi: Total amount of sales for each product.

Below is the table corresponding to the Variation Coefficient (CV) of the 29 products. Only the first three products (MPP10, MPC10 and COP10) have a CV <.20, and the rest of the products have a CV> .20. If CV is greater than 0.2, the data is probabilistic, otherwise; they would be deterministic. Therefore, if the sales of the selected products behave like a deterministic demand, the periodic review model is accepted [17].

In this way, it is chosen to work with a periodic review model, since the production of the products requires almost the same type of inputs or ingredients, which means a highly variable demand in the order of the products, which does not allow the use of a continuous review policy. The table of coefficients of variation (CV) is presented below (Table 3).



Pos	Code	Product Name	CV
1	MPP10	Almondy mole poblano 10 kg bucket	0.1724
2	MPC10	Homemade mole poblano 10 kg bucket	0.1023
3	COP10	Chicken bouillon 10 kg bag	0.1282
4	MPP5	Almondy mole poblano 5 kg bucket	0.6362
5	PPV10	Green pipian 10 kg bucket	0.2283
6	CHL10	Chili pepper with lemon 10 kg bag	0.3689
7	CHLM10	Ground chili pepper 10 kg bag	0.8393
8	MPP1	Almondy mole poblano 1 kg can	0.3577
9	COP20	Chicken bouillon 20 kg bag	0.3623
10	PPV5	Green pipian 5 kg bucket	0.4559
11	MPP20	Almondy mole poblano 20 kg bucket	0.4707
12	COP5	Chicken bouillon 5 kg bag	0.2210
13	MCA10	Mole poblano with sesame seeds 10 kg bucket	0.7903
14	CCHMA10	Chili chamoy 10 kg bag	0.5140
15	MPC20	Homemade mole poblano 20kg bucket	0.1436
16	MCA5	Mole poblano with sesame seeds 5 kg bucket	0.7122
17	CHB10	Chili pepper for snacks 10 kg bag	0.4990
18	MPCR500	Almondy mole poblano micro 0.500 grs.	0.3179
19	PPV20	Green pipian 20 kg bucket	0.3009
20	PPR5	Red pipian 5 kg bucket	0.3861
21	MPP52	Almondy mole poblano 5 kg bucket	2.0639
22	AJM10	Ground sesame 10 kg bucket	0.4425
23	CTL20	Pickled chipotles 20 kg bucket	0.5775
24	MACH10	Chocolaty mole 10 kg bucket	1.4142
25	MPP500	Almondy mole poblano 0.500 grs can	0.2774
26	MPSO10	Spicy mole 10 kg bucket	0.7406
27	CTL10	Pickled chipotles 10 kg bucket	0.2869
28	CHLE10	Special chili pepper with lemon 10 kg bag	0.9688
29	MPC5	Homemade mole poblano 5 kg	0.1984

Table 3 Coefficient of variation

In this research, our model is the simplest according with literature (R, S). The company has a constant and determinist demand of its top three products (MPP10, MPC10 and COP10). The inventory is reviewed every "R" units of time, and "S" represents the maximum level of inventory. We expect that LT is lower than R, that is, the order is coming sooner as the next review. This model is showed in Figure 2.



Figure 2 R, S Constant demand model [21]

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu



To calculate the batch size with periodic review (Q), it was taken into account that the company carries out an inventory review every month (30 days), and that the delivery time of the most representative and important ingredients according to the Pareto method, have a *Lead Time* (LT) of six days, which represents the number of days that pass, since the order is made, until it arrives. To calculate Q, the following formula (2) was used [16]:

$$Q = \underline{d}(R + LT) + z\sigma_{R+LT} - I \tag{2}$$

To continue the computation of this formula, the reorder point (R), safety stock (ss) and the probability of depleted inventory was calculated separately. Fist, R was calculated using $[R = \overline{dLT} + z(\sigma_{\overline{d}}\sqrt{L})]$; next, for ss we used $[ss = Z_{\sigma}(\sigma_{R+LT})]$; finally, the probability was made as fallows $[\sigma_{R+LT} = \sigma\sqrt{R+LT}]$. The meaning of every variable is shown below:

- \bar{d} : Average monthly demand,
- ss: Safety stock, which is the deviation of demand during Lead Time plus the review period,
- R: Reorder point,
- *LT:* Lead time of six days,
- σ_{R+LT} : Vulnerability period Standard deviation,
- *I*: Inventory defined by company.

Using a 95% confidence level proposed for the company, based on the Z score table, we use a data of 1.96. Without subtracting the existing inventory (I), the optimal amount (Q) of inventory, according to the EOQ model, step by step for each of the 3 selected products, are shown next.

Table 4 Optimal quantity of units t

Product	Q (units)	
COP10	6316	
MPP10	6095	
MPC10	3925	

Subsequently, the revision period R was calculated. This period indicates the moment in which we must review the current state of the inventory and decide the quantity of products to be manufactured; as shown in Table 5.

Table 5 Review period for each product			
	Product	R (month)	
	COP10	1.56	
	1 (DD10	1.60	

1 55

Consecutively, safety stocks were calculated, according to the following formula, which represents the deviation of demand during *Lead Time* plus the review period, taking into account a service level of 95%.

MPC10

Table 6 Safety stock for each product

Product	ss (units)
COP10	2852
MPP10	2885
MPC10	1859

Once you have the safety stock (ss) and the revision period (R), you can determine the target inventory or maximum inventory (S). This is calculated using the following formula (3).

$$S = \underline{d}(R+L) + Z_{\sigma}(\sigma_{R+L})$$
(3)

In this policy, it should be remembered that it seeks to support the variability of demand, since it is associated with greater uncertainty. The results represent the maximum inventory (S), calculated in Table 7.

Table 7 Maximum inventory for each product				
	Product	S (units)		
	COP10	7128		
	MPP10	6816		
	MPC10	4431		

In this way, the inventory policy is completed (R, S); interpreted as a review period (R) and a maximum

Table 8 Periodic review inventory policy (R S)

inventory (S). Table 8; summarizes it below.

Tuble 8 Terroduc Teview inventory policy (R,S)				
Product	Q (units)	Ss (units)	S (units)	R (monthly)
COP10	6316	2852	7128	1.56
MPP10	6095	2885	6816	1.69
MPC10	3925	1859	4431	1.55

To summarize these results, next figure shows graphically how the model works.





Figure 3 Graphical periodic review inventory policy

The results of our research study correspond in the same sense to that described in the literature of previous studies related to the periodic review inventory model, but it also contributes to this theoretical construct when determining which small family companies with limited financial budgets and with raw materials highly perishables, this model might be applied effectively by reducing inventory costs, in addition to reducing shortage problems, better time management in the company's operations and possible penalties by its clients [2,3,7,8,17,22-24].

In the case of our research, it was possible to determine the optimal number of units produced for the products with the greatest variability in demand. In other words, the optimal production quantity for the COP10 product was 6316 units, for the MPP10 it was 6095 units, and for the MPC, it corresponded to 3925 units. This may represent improvements in the way the typical Mexican food company is managed, but it is also a way of preserving the monthly income of the company.

On the other hand, regardless of the level of demand for the typical food company, safety inventories must be guaranteed to continue operating normally. Thus, for the COP 10 product, there must be a safety inventory of 2852 units, while for the MPP10 and MPC10 products, they must have an inventory of 2885 units and 1859 units respectively. In other words, this allows the appropriate amounts to be made while avoiding it, the shortage of products for the company's customers.

Therefore, for Moles Santa Monica company, it will be much easier to make decisions regarding its finished product inventory. For the COP10 product, a maximum inventory of 7128 units must be ensured; the stock will be reviewed every 1.56 months and depending on the level it is at, it must produce enough to reach the quantity associated with the value of "S". The same must happen with the other two type A products, MPP10 and MPC10; which must have a maximum inventory of 6816 and 4431 units respectively, in review periods of 1.69 and 1.55 months each. If necessary, this policy could be applied to the rest of the company's products. To achieve this, the company will need to improve its business processes and management style.

5 Limitations and opportunity areas

Some limitations found was that we only worked with historical data from November 2018 to October 2019. We consider it is necessary in future research to include longer periods of time to determine the statistical behaviour of sales and decide according to the information; the type of model to use.

In another sense, the periodic review model (R, S) could be applied to all the articles handled by the company, however, only the 3 most representative products were considered, so in future studies the periodic review method can be applied for those products that have deterministic demand according to the product catalogue. In addition, another model could be applied for those products whose demand is probabilistic. In this way, a specific planning can be made for each of the products in the company's catalogue.

In future studies, the breakdown of each of the raw materials necessary to produce each type of product can be analysed, since the ingredients necessary to prepare the final products are shared and the reorder values may vary. Other areas of opportunity can be extensive the use of this model to the entire Mexican food company as well as apply the periodic review model to other companies of the same Mexican food industry such as sauces and dips. Even more, it may be interesting to apply it within other family companies with highly perishable inputs; in which the impact of inflation rate must also be included. In addition to the above, a supplementary idea is to explore how management styles impact inventory management, its costs and its logistics cycle.


APPLICATION OF PERIODIC REVIEW INVENTORIES MODEL IN A TYPICAL MEXICAN FOOD COMPANY Ramsés Cabrera-Gala; Luis Fernando Carreón-Nava; Hugo Alberto Valencia-Cuevas; León José Rivera-Sosa

6 Conclusions

With reviewed methodology, it was obtained that critical products have a constant demand, with a behavior that only allows the use of a periodic review model of type (R, S). According to the Pareto 80-20 model, it was possible to choose the most relevant products in terms of sales, which only represent 20% of the portfolio volume, but which, taken as a whole, are equivalent to almost 80% of the production and sale of the company.

The safety stock (Ss) of a policy (R, S) allows to face the uncertainty of the demand during the review period and the lead time. No matter the type of method used for inventory management, the safety stock is essential to have reaction time to any eventuality company can face. Consequently, even Moles Santa Mónica company products have a high variation in their demand, which generates a probability distribution, they can manage their inventories using a fixed monthly review period. According to the results of the model (R, S), a review of finished product inventories will have to be made, which will be subtracted from the lot size obtained with the periodic review model. For this company and other similar SMED's, these activities need to be performed by managers, but represents financial and reputation benefits if the suggested policy is taken into consideration.

The management of orders will be made easier taking into account that fewer orders will be made and the quantity of finished product of type A products will always be available. The time used to place orders could be reduced from four monthly orders placed by the company to one order every 1.56, 1.69 and 1.55 months, for COP10, MPP10 and MPC10 products, respectively; according to the results obtained. The knowledge about the company's work system, as well as the characteristics of its products and having control over the behaviour of demand are crucial to determine inventory policy. In this case, it has its own warehouses, with capital to operate and an accounting system that records purchases and sales.

Finally, although there were limitations in the study, such as those described above, findings about the current conditions of family businesses are essential and need to be made; first to know the current status of the company in terms of warehouse management and second, to determine the type of management they should be carrying out. Today, if small businesses do not apply this type of strategy, they will be closer to disappearance than to prosperity.

Acknowledgement

The authors thank PhD. Santiago Omar Caballero Morales for his valuable advice in the present investigation.

References

 OSORIO, G.: Modelos para el control de inventarios en las pymes, *Panorama*, Vol. 2, No. 6, pp. 4-10, 2008. (Original in Spanish)

- WEI, Y.: Optimizing constant pricing and inventory decisions for a periodic review system with batch ordering, *Annals of Operations Research*, Vol. 291, No. 1-2, pp. 939-957, 2018.
 doi:10.1007/s10479-018-3057-y
- [3] KURDHI, N., DOEWES, R.: Lead time and ordering cost reductions are interdependent in periodic review integrated inventory model with backorder price discount, *Far East Journal of Mathematical Sciences* (*FJMS*), Vol. 100, No. 6, pp. 821-836, 2016. doi:10.17654/ms100060821.
- [4] LIU, W., SONG, S., LI, B., WU, C.: A periodic review inventory model with loss-averse retailer, random supply capacity and demand, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 53, No. 12, pp. 3623-3634, 2014. doi:10.1080/00207543.2014.985391.
- [5] ROJAS, F.: A joint replenishment supply model for multi-products grouped by several variables with random and time dependence demand, *Journal of Modelling in Management*, Vol. 2019, No. September, 2019. doi:10.1108/JM2-03-2019-0061
- [6] GUTIÉRREZ, E., PANTELEEVA, V., HURTADO, M.F., GONZÁLEZ, C.: Aplicación de un modelo de inventario con revisión periódica para la fabricación de transformadores de distribución, *Ingeniería Investigación y Tecnología*, Vol. 14, No. 4, pp. 537-551, 2013. doi:10.1016/S1405-7743(13)72264-9 (Original in Spanish)
- [7] SARKAR, B., MAHAPATRA, A.: Periodic review fuzzy inventory model with variable lead time and fuzzy demand, *International Transactions in Operational Research*, Vol. 24, No. 5, pp. 1197-1227, 2015. doi:10.1111/itor.12177
- [8] SILADOR, E., NARANJO, M.M., MARRERO, M., UTRERA, A.I., RODRÍGUEZ, E.V.: Propuesta de modelo matemático de gestión de inventario. Caso Servi Cupet Punta Gorda, Cienfuegos, Cuba, *Revista Uniandes Episteme*, Vol. 2, No. 4, pp. 281-293, 2015. (Original in Spanish)
- [9] CHEN, F.Y., LU, Y., XU, M.: Optimal Inventory Control Policy for Periodic-Review Inventory Systems with Inventory-Level-Dependent Demand, *Naval Research Logistics*, Vol. 59, No. 6, pp. 430-440, 2012. doi:10.1002/nav.21498
- [10] KASEKENDE, L.: *Keynote Address at the Stanbic Bank Enterprise Conference*, pp. 1-5, 2018.
- [11] SSEKAKUBO, J., NDIWALANA, G, LWANGA, F.: Managerial competency and the financial performance of savings, credit and cooperative societies in Uganda, *International Research of Arts and social Science*, Vol. 3, No. 3, pp. 66-74, 2014. doi:10.14303/irjass.2014.049
- [12] KARIM, N.A., NAWAWI, A., SALIN, A.S.A.P.: Inventory control weaknesses – a case study of lubricant manufacturing company, *Journal of Finance Crime*, Vol. 25, No. 2, pp. 436-449. 2018. doi:10.1108/jfc-11-2016-0077

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 27-36 ISSN 1339-5629



APPLICATION OF PERIODIC REVIEW INVENTORIES MODEL IN A TYPICAL MEXICAN FOOD COMPANY Ramsés Cabrera-Gala; Luis Fernando Carreón-Nava; Hugo Alberto Valencia-Cuevas; León José Rivera-Sosa

- [13] OLOWOLAJU, M.: An assessment of inventory management in small and medium industrial enterprises in Nigeria, *European Journal of Business* and Management, Vol. 5, No. 28, pp. 150-158. 2013.
- [14] MINNER, S., TRANSCHEL, S.: Periodic review inventory-control for perishable products under service-level constraints, *OR Spectrum*, Vol. 32, No. 4, pp. 979-996, 2010. doi:10.1007/s00291-010-0196-1
- [15] WAN, G., CAO, Y.: A continuous cost evaluation approach for periodic review inventory systems with threshold rationing policy, *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, Vol. 126, No. 1, pp. 75-87, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.cie.2018.09.018
- [16] VALENCIA, M., DÍAZ, F.J., CORREA, J.C.: Inventory planning with dynamic demand. A state of art review, *DYNA*, Vol. 82, No. 190, pp. 182-191, 2015. doi:10.15446/dyna.v82n190.
- [17] PASTOR, J.L., JAVEZ, S.S.: Modelo de inventario probabilístico con revisión periódica para mejorar la gestión del ciclo logístico de Lenmex Corporation S.A.C., UCV-Scientia, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 128-136, 2017. doi:10.18050/RevUcv-Scientia.v9n2a3 (Original in Spanish)
- [18] RAMAKRISHNA, K.S., SHARAFALI, M., LIM, Y.F.: A two-item two-warehouse periodic review inventory model with transhipment, *Annals of Operations Research*, Vol. 233, No. 1, pp. 365-381, 2013. doi:10.1007/s10479-013-1483-4
- [19] SONG, Y., LAU H.: A periodic-review inventory model with application to the continuous-review

obsolescence problem, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 159, No. 1, pp. 110-120, 2004. doi:10.1016/S0377-2217(03)00399-0

- [20] CAUSADO, E.: Modelo de inventarios para control económico de pedidos en empresa comercializadora de alimentos, *Revista Ingienerias Universidad de Medellin*, Vol. 14, No. 27, pp. 163-177, 2015. (Original in Spanish)
- [21] VÉLEZ, M., CASTRO, C.: Modelo de revisión periódica para el control del inventario en artículos con demanda estacional una aproximación desde la simulación, *Dyna*, Vol. 69, No. 137, pp. 23-34, 2002. (Original in Spanish)
- [22] SÁNCHEZ-SIERRA, S., CABALLERO-MORALES, S., SÁNCHEZ-PARTIDA, D., MARTÍNEZ-FLORES, J.: Facility Location Model with Inventory Transportation and Management Costs, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 79-86, 2018. doi:10.22306/al.v5i3.98
- [23] STRAKA, M.: *Distribution and Supply Logistics*, Cambridge Scholars Publishing, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, 2019.
- [24] TEPLICKÁ, K., SEŇOVÁ, A.: Using of Optimizing Methods in Inventory Management of the Company, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 9-16, 2020. doi:10.22306/al.v7i1.150

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





tica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 37-43 ISSN 1339-5629

ANALYSIS OF CONVEYOR DRIVE POWER REQUIREMENTS IN THE MINING INDUSTRY Greg Wheatley; Robiul Islam Rubel

doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.200

Received: 04 Nov. 2020; Revised: 16 Dec. 2020; Accepted: 26 Dec. 2020

ANALYSIS OF CONVEYOR DRIVE POWER REQUIREMENTS IN THE MINING INDUSTRY

Greg Wheatley

College of Science & Engineering, James Cook University, James Cook Dr, Douglas QLD 4814 Australia, greg.wheatley@jcu.edu.au (corresponding author)

Robiul Islam Rubel

Department of Mechanical Engineering, Bangladesh Army University of Science and Technology, Saidpur 5310, Bangladesh, rubel.ruet10@gmail.com

Keywords: mining, conveyor, drives, industrial logistics

Abstract: This article presents the analysis of conveyor drive power requirements for three typical mining conveyors. One of the conveyors was found not to be able to start when fully loaded. The analysis indicates that two of the conveyors are adequately powered while one is underpowered. This was found to be primarily the result of the maximum tonnage of the two adequately powered conveyors being 1500 tonnes per hour (TPH) while the inadequately powered conveyor was classed with a maximum tonnage of 1800 TPH. It is recommended that the current draw for each motor when fully loaded be measured. This will be compared to the design. Further analysis was done to allow 2000 TPH on all conveyors. The required upgraded drive size is presented. This article does not address the structural adequacy of the supporting structure. Rather, only the capabilities of the conveyor belt and drives to transport the required TPH.

1 Introduction

The mining industry needs bulk material handling process for storage, transhipment, transfer, and transportation functions [1-4]. The bulk items may be ores, sand, gravel, stone, coal, cereals, wood etc. but not limited [5]. The traditional machinery and equipment of bulk material handling systems are truck dumpers, elevators, railcar dumpers, wagon tipplers, ship-loaders, hoppers, loaders classified as stationary and mobile type [6]. The conveyor drives can be used for bulk transporting for almost everything like extracted raw mineral, different mining equipment, worker's goods, and even the mineworkers [7-9]. Diverse conveyor drive and equipment can be found in service in both underground mines and surface mining [10].

The mining industry requires an enormous amount of energy for powering the conveyor drives [11-13]. In the mining industry, the emphasis is placed on improving the energy efficiency of conveyor drive power requirements. Power requirement analysis is essential for improving the conveyor drive energy efficiency in any mining industry [11]. The mining industry must pay enough attention to the conveyor drive power requirements analysis [3,12]. The viability of mining industry operations and future productivity largely depends on the optimization of conveyor drive power requirements. Thus, the associated conveyor drives of the mining industry should be kept tracked and study for conveyor drive energy efficiency. The study should also include the key parameter of the whole drive system to determine the actual power efficiency and suggestions that might help to upgrade the conveyor drive power requirements.

Vast works and research are available for energy optimization and modelling of conveyors drives. The optimization of energy has been done by the researchers for belt drive [9,11,14-15]. Among the available related research, Shirong Zhang et al. [9] worked on the energy efficiency optimization of the belt conveyors. K. P. Shah [14] worked on the belt conveyor for the construction of coal mine drive system, maintenance, and bulk material handling in coal plants that include the power consumption for the different ideal and industrial case. The driving force produced by a single conveyor drive in the mining industry might not satisfy the requirement for material handling in long transport as well as may not be suitable for high speed and heavy drive [11]. Thus, the number of the conveyor drive in the material handling of the mining industry differ based on the amount of bulk materials, hour of service, and operational types.

The logical solution for the above problem of the single drive conveyor is to use a multi conveyor drive [7,11,16-17]. The total power available for conveyor drive can be distributed into the multi conveyor drive of the mining industry that can result in efficient mining production capacity and transport distances [7]. The multi conveyor drives have appeared as convenient for reducing drive system weights and achieving high performance [16]. To use the benefits of a multi conveyor drive, Mukalu Sandro Masaki et al. [16] has analysed and designed a costeffective belt conveyor drive system for bulk material handling. The study also compares the performance of the multi-drive conveyor with a single drive conveyor based on a previously developed drive system cost optimization model that is reported to have significant cost savings potential.



The operational conditions of the conveyor drive vary on the application of the conveyor drive [4]. Conveyor drive system will be subjected to varying demand and operational conditions throughout its service in the mining industry [4]. The conveyor drive may be engaged for bulk transportation in the upward inclination or downward stepper direction [1,11]. Though the use of the conveyor drive is mainly to transport the extracted mining minerals but needs to meet the different conditions of operations that arise during mining [8]. The sudden operational conditions of the conveyor belt maybe change of motions, overloading, emergency stop and start etc. [18-20].

In some industrial use, multi conveyor drive can suffer from unequal power-sharing. A typical scenario faced by mine sites is that of when there is an emergency stop of a fully loaded conveyor. This is not ideal as restarting can be an issue along with overloading of the conveyor at the loading chute and subsequent spillage. Not being able to restart the conveyor can mean that manual unloading of the conveyor must take place which can take many hours resulting in significant downtime [21].

In the scenario presented in this article, a system of three conveyors was found to have issues with one conveyor not being able to restart when fully loaded. The analysis was done on the three conveyors by Belt Analyst supplied by Overland Conveyor. The required modification for the 15000 TPH drive system has been proposed to upgrade it to 2000 TPH. Necessary key factors have been studied and re-assessed to drive the conveyor system that will eliminate the problem of sudden restarting with a new operating power (kW) supply.

2 Methodology

Irrespective of the mining materials, the main operational activities in the solid mining industry are extraction, material transportation, and processing [1-2,9,22]. Among these, the main operating cost of mining largely depends on the material transportation that can reach up to 40% of the mining cost [23-24]. Mining involves bulk materials handling that is not easy to carry and shift by using conventional trucks due to power consumption and fuel price. For deep mining, material challenging transportation becomes more with conventional trucks [22,25]. Thus, mining experts generally rely on designing a transportation mechanism for materials transport at various processing stations of the mining site.

Since mining activities are merely associated with bulk materials handling, conveyor drive turns out to be a widely accepted solution for the miner of the world from the 1800's [8,26]. Initially, the idea of conveyor was for the coal mining industry but now being used for all kinds of the mining industry and in modern manufacturing lines such as in an automobile, agricultural, electronic, food, process, pharmaceutical, chemical, packaging industries [27-28]. It helps to reduce the handling cost drastically and has gain popularity. In the modern iron ore mining industry

conveyor systems are an integral part of the transportation system [27-28].

The typical conveyor drive employed in the mining industry is a belt conveyor [2,7-9,23,29]. Belt conveyor is interpreted as a conventional conveyor system consist of two essential components. One is a belt that is allowed to move in a loop passage and the second is two pulleys fixed at either end of the loop. Pulleys are driven by an external power to circulate the belt over the pully roller in the loop continuously. The belt is loaded in one end and unloaded in the opposite end. The conveyor belt arrangement is installed depending on the length of the transportation required, site conditions and material handling rate etc. [2]. Many mining industries install a combination of different types of conveyor drive systems for convenient transportation of the extracted items.

In iron ore fines industries, belt conveyors drive to perform an essential function in nonstop material transport and logistics distributions. The operational cost of it significantly influences the cost of overall mining. All mining companies intend to design an effective drive system that will increase conveyor efficiency and provide reliable service with low maintenance costs [12]. Therefore, it needs an efficient, energy-saving conveyor drive mechanism for transportation in various branches of the industry [30-31]. The energy and drive optimization through the proper fittings of the belt conveyor system can also help and decreasing the number of conveyors [29].

As we know belt conveyor drive uses mechanical power given through pulleys and is mainly sourced by electrical motor drive [9], its energy efficiency can generally be improved by considering the drive's performance, operation, equipment, and technology [32]. S. Zhang et al. [9] used the methodology development to optimize and improve the operational efficiency of belt conveyors. The model proposed by S. Zhang et al. [9] consists of an analytic model collecting all the relevant parameters into four coefficients. The multi conveyor drive can have an effective benefit for optimized transportation in mining [33]. A lot of energy optimization model and case study-based solution is available from the previous research.

C.-H. Lan [33] designed a multi-drive system for the conveyor belt drive transportation system. Assuming a consecutive series of conveyor drives operating without interruption, the optimization considered the material handling, speed of the conveyor to improve the production profit. M. S. Masaki et al. [34] worked on the multi-drive belt conveyors technology to minimizing life cycle costs. The group considered a case study for an extensive simulation model to improve the economic benefit of the drive conveyors. The multiple conveyor drive system tends to affect unbalanced power distribution among the conveyor drives [21]. The uneven power distribution among the conveyor drive causes non-uniformity of material handling phenomenon [18,20,35]. Overall, either single or multi-drive mechanism, the analysis of the power



requirement for the energy-efficient drive system is important. Besides this for any up-gradation of the drive system in any mining industry needs a reasonable choice of belt and idlers parameter.

R. Król et al. [36] worked on the determination of the actual efficiency of the power drive system through the analysis of the power requirement for a drive system. Then they compare the input power and actual power used to calculate the efficiency of the drive system. The methodology of power analysis employed for this work has been claimed to be applicable for belt conveyors drive systems which are frequently employed in the underground and surface mining. T. Mathaba et al. [37] worked on the optimization and energy-efficient function of the conveyor belt systems for a cement industry that uses downhill conveyors. A generic energy optimal scheduling model and economic analysis for belt conveyor belt systems.

S. Natalia [22] has discussed the belt conveyor equipment selection, conveying systems, operation, applied mining technology for different kinds of belt conveyors. The author took the concerns of idlers, belt, and drive system as a target of improving the belt conveyor drive efficiency. The conclusions said that the importance of the energy efficiency of belt conveyors and determining parametric relationship for analysis and assessment of energy efficiency of belt conveyors system consisting of 3 belt conveyors with the same volume of material but with different transportation inclination angle [22]. W. Kawalec et al. [29] did the same kind of belt conveyor analysis for technical and organizational improvements of the energyeffective drive system and ecologically friendly operation of the mining drive mechanism. J. Rodríguez et al. [38] worked on commissioning a new drive system for the transportation of ore in the mining industry. The drive system was designed following the requirements of a company. The specific drive systems included drive alternatives that may be utilized in the company and with a control strategy for the drive converters and conveyor belts.

A. Jennings et al. [20] did a case study on a long overland conveyor of Essroc Cement, part of the Italcementi Group, Nazareth plant in Pennsylvania. The complex multi-drive system was observed for control strategy. The starting and stopping strategies of the drive system were also discussed. W. Kung [39] presented a commissioning report of The Henderson Coarse Ore Conveying System. The commissioning deal with the startup, and operation of the conveyor belt, and mainly power efficiency of the conveyor was critically concentrated for improvement. When the motor drives the conveyor belt some slip occurs especially during starting, sudden load change, and load sharing among the drives [40]. Slip also affect the running characteristics of the belt conveyor. If sufficient power is not provided in the conveyor belt-drive, it may not be able to start.

For a multi conveyor belt drive, all the conveyor belts must be balanced to receive sufficient power for reliable operations. For unpredictable operational conditions like restarting at the fully loaded condition, the conveyor belt drive sometimes fails to restart. To resolve this fundamental operational problem of the belt drive, the functions of the conveyor's key components should be commissioned and upgrade regularly.

3 Result and discussion

During commissioning and regular maintenance of the mining industry, we found a multi-drive conveyor belt facing with restarting problem when fully loaded. For the intention of upgrading the conveyor system of that company, we executed a though analysis of the whole mechanism. Three conveyor belts were working in that company to transport iron ore fines. The conveyor profile drawings and datasheets for each conveyor were available. Each conveyor design tonnes per hour (TPH) capacity was known along with the properties of the material being transported, the horizontal and vertical pulley centre distances, the details of the carry and return idler sets, the belt details, the drive details, and the counterweight mass [41]. From these inputted details, the belt speed, belt capacity, DIN and drive power requirements were calculated. Both inputted and calculated values are presented in Table 1 below.

The conveyor belt "A", "B" and "C" was loaded with 1800 TPH, 1500 TPH, 1500 TPH of iron ore fines. The centre distance for conveyors "A", "B", and "C" were 274, 247, and 89 m respectively with a vertical inclination of 18, 11, and 17 m between the start and endpoints. The long conveyor "A" had a conveying speed of 2.2 m/s and "B" and "C" had an equal speed of 1.8 m/s, slightly lower than the belt "A". The speed was calculated from the operations.

All three C6 CEMA type belts were at 35° carry idler angle with side spacing of 1.2 m. The return side spacing is 3 m for the same type of CEMA placed at 0° return idler angle. The belt width for three conveyors is 900 mm with 10 mm top cover thickness, 4 mm bottom cover thickness and reported to have 81.9%, 82.1%, and 82.1% belt capacity. The calculated demand power for the belt drives is 164 kW, 88 kW, and 94 kW. It indicates that the drive "A" is overpowered, and drive "B" and "C" are underpowered with respect to their designated power (Table 1).

As can be seen, although the belt capacity of all three conveyors is less than 100%, the calculated demand power for conveyor "A" is more than the drive nameplate power. As such, when fully loaded, the conveyor would not be able to run, let alone start when there is a higher demand for power to enable all idlers to start rotating and to overcome any settling of the idler into the belt due to the weight of the product. It is recommended that the drive power amperage be measured on the conveyors to confirm that the analysis matches real-world measurements.



Table 1 Inputted and Calculated values for conveyors (current)					
Conveyor (current)	Inputted / Calculated	А	В	С	
TPH	Inputted	1800	1500	1500	
Material	Inputted	Iron ore fines	Iron ore fines	Iron ore fines	
Horizontal centre distance (m)	Inputted	274	247	89	
Vertical centre distance (m)	Inputted	18	11	17	
Belt speed (m/s)	Calculated	2.2	1.8	1.8	
Carry idler angle (°)	Inputted	35	35	35	
CEMA type	Inputted	C6	C6	C6	
Carry side spacing (m)	Inputted	1.2	1.2	1.2	
Return idler angle (°)	Inputted	0	0	0	
CEMA type	Inputted	C6	C6	C6	
Return side spacing (m)	Inputted	3	3	3	
Belt capacity (%)	Calculated	81.9	82.1	82.1	
Belt width (mm)	Inputted	900	900	900	
Carcass	Inputted	PN1250/4	PN1250/4	PN1250/4	
Cover compound	Inputted	AS-A	AS-A	AS-A	
Top cover thickness (mm)	Inputted	10	10	10	
Bottom cover thickness (mm)	Inputted	4	4	4	
DIN	Calculated	.0233	.0212	.0262	
Counterweight (kg)	Inputted	7550	10000	6000	
Drive nameplate power (kW)	Inputted	150	110	110	
Calculated demand power (kW)	Calculated	164	88	94	

Table 2 Inputted and Calculated values for conveyors (upgraded)

Conveyor (upgrade)	Inputted / Calculated	A	В	С
TPH	Inputted	2000	2000	2000
Material	Inputted	Iron ore fines	Iron ore fines	Iron ore fines
Horizontal centre distance (m)	Inputted	274	247	89
Vertical centre distance (m)	Inputted	18	11	17
Belt speed (m/s)	Calculated	2.6	2.6	2.7
Carry idler angle (°)	Inputted	35	35	35
CEMA type	Inputted	C6	C6	C6
Carry side spacing (m)	Inputted	1.2	1.2	1.2
Return idler angle (°)	Inputted	0	0	0
CEMA type	Inputted	C6	C6	C6
Return side spacing (m)	Inputted	3	3	3
Belt capacity (%)	Calculated	77	77	74.2
Belt width (mm)	Inputted	900	900	900
Carcass	Inputted	PN1250/4	PN1250/4	PN1250/4
Cover compound	Inputted	AS-A	AS-A	AS-A
Top cover thickness (mm)	Inputted	10	10	10
Bottom cover thickness (mm)	Inputted	4	4	4
DIN	Calculated	.0230	.0211	.0256
Counterweight (kg)	Inputted	7550	10000	6000
Drive nameplate power (kW)	Inputted	210	150	150
Calculated demand power (kW)	Calculated	184	120	127

Balancing out all three conveyors on 2000 TPH was analysed in order to recommend what sort of drive upgrade would be required and to ensure that the existing belt would be able to cope with the potential increased capacity. All inputted data was identical except the desired upgraded TPH (Table 2). Drive power was increased in common commercially available increments until the drive power exceeded the calculated required drive power.

The analysis revealed that an increase on all three conveyors' drives was required in order to enable a throughput of 2000 TPH through the system of three conveyors while still maintaining a belt capacity of less than 100% (77%, 77%, and 74.2%). In the proposed



upgraded design, the calculated belt speed for conveyor "A" become increased by 18.18 %, and for "B" and "C", the speed increased by 44.44% and 50% respectively. There was no change considered and suggested for the belt types and counterweighted. The DIN of the conveyor changes slightly and the proposed power for the drive system has 15~25% clearance to run upgraded 184 kW, 120 kW, and 127 kW drives.

The underlying structure must be analysed to determine if any changes there need to be made. As mentioned, the actual drive amperage should also be measured and compared to the analysis before any upgrade is carried out (Table 3).

Table 3 Summary of current and upgraded drive requirements

Conveyor	Current (kW)	Proposed (kW)
А	150	210
В	110	150
С	110	150

4 Conclusions

Material handling and transportation cause a substantial amount of costs in the mining industry. Regular commissioning, up-gradation, and power optimization become essential with such a phenomenon. This article presents the analysis of conveyor drive power requirements for three typical mining conveyors. One of the conveyors was found not to be able to start when fully loaded. The analysis indicates that two of the conveyors are adequately powered while one is underpowered. This was found to be primarily the result of the maximum tonnage of the two adequately powered conveyors being 1500 tonnes per hour (TPH) while the inadequately powered conveyor was classed with a maximum tonnage of 1800 TPH. It is recommended that the current draw for each motor when fully loaded be measured. This will be compared to the design. Further, the analysis was done to allow 2000 TPH on all conveyors. The required upgraded drive size is presented. This article does not address the structural adequacy of the supporting structure. Rather, only the capabilities of the conveyor belt and drives to transport the required TPH.

References

- ROBERTS, W., SCOTT, O.J.: Bulk materials handling in the mining industry, Türkiye Xiii Madencilik Kongresi, pp. 9-20, 1993.
- [2] BEBIC, M.Z., RISTIC, L.B.: Speed controlled belt conveyors: drives and mechanical considerations, *Advances in Electrical and Computer Engineering*, Vol. 18, No. 1, pp. 51-60, 2018. doi:10.4316/AECE.2018.01007
- [3] ALSPAUGH, M.A.: Latest developments in belt conveyor technology, Presented on MINExpo 2004, Las Vegas, NV, USA. September 27, pp. 1-11, 2004.

- [4] GEBLER, O.F., HICKS, B., YON, J., BARKER, M.: Characterising conveyor belt system usage from drive motor power consumption and rotational speed: A feasibility study, Proceedings of the European Conference of the PHM Society 2018, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 1-16, 2018.
- [5] INTEQNION B.V.: <u>www.inteqnion.com</u>: Bulk material handling, [Online], Available: https://www.inteqnion.com/en/industries/bulkmaterial-handling/ [02 Nov 2020] 2020.
- [6] ALMASI, A.: Bulk material handling systems- all you need to know, [Online], Available: https://www.processingmagazine.com/materialhandling-dry-wet/article/15586935/bulk-materialhandling-systems-all-you-need-to-know, 2017 [02 Nov 2020], 2017.
- [7] NUTTALL, A.: Design aspects of multiple driven belt conveyors, in TRAIL Thesis Series no. T2007/12, the Netherlands TRAIL, Research School, pp. 1-168, 2007.
- [8] ETTEN, M.C. van: Application of conveyors in mining industry, Department Maritime and Transport Technology, Delft University of Technology, Transport Engineering and Logistics, Report number: 2016.TEL.8042, 2017.
- ZHANG, S., XIA, X.: Modeling and energy efficiency optimization of belt conveyors, *Applied Energy*, Vol. 88, No. 9, pp. 3061-3071, 2011. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2011.03.015
- [10] National Research Council, Evolutionary and Revolutionary Technologies for Mining, Ch3 Technologies in exploration, mining, and processing, Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. 2002. doi:10.17226/10318
- [11] YAO, Y., ZHANG, B.: Influence of the elastic modulus of a conveyor belt on the power allocation of multi-drive conveyors, *PLoS One*, Vol. 15, No. 7, pp. 1-16, 2020. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0235768
- [12] KROL, R., KAWALEC, W., GLADYSIEWICZ, L.: An effective belt conveyor for underground ore transportation systems, *IOP Conf. Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, Vol. 95, No. 4, pp. 1-9, 2017. doi:10.1088/1755-1315/95/4/042047
- [13] BLAZEJ, R., JURDZIAK, L., KAWALEC, W.: Energy saving solutions for belt conveyors in lignite surface mines, Institute of Mining Engineering, Wroclaw University of Technology, 2013.
- [14] SHAH, K.P.: Construction and maintenance of belt conveyors for coal and bulk material handling plants, www.practicalmaintenance.net, 2018.
- [15] HOFMAN, T., STEINBUCH, M., DRUTEN, R.M. van: *Modeling for simulation of hybrid drivetrain components*, 2006 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, Windsor, pp. 1-6. 2006. doi:10.1109/VPPC.2006.364269
- [16] MASAKI, M.S., ZHANG, L., XIA, X.: A comparative study on the cost-effective belt conveyors for bulk material handling, *Energy*



Procedia, Vol. 142, No. December, pp. 2754-2760, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.egypro.2017.12.221

- [17] MASAKI, M.S., ZHANG, L., XIA, X.: Cost optimization design approach for multiple drive belt conveyors, 2017 36th Chinese Control Conference (CCC), Dalian, pp. 2767-2772, 2017. doi:10.23919/ChiCC.2017.8027784
- [18] FENG, Y., ZHANG, M., LI, G., MENG, G.: Dynamic characteristic analysis and startup optimization design of an intermediate drive belt conveyor with non-uniform load, *Science Progress*, Vol. 103, No. 1, pp. 1-20, 2020. doi:10.1177/0036850419881089
- [19] GIRAUD, L., MASSÉ, S., DUBÉ, J., SCHREIBER, L., TURCOT, A.: A user's guide to conveyor belt safety, Copyright Deposit - Bibliothèque nationale du Québec, 2003.
- [20] JENNINGS, A., PERRONE, P., CORNET, J.: Case study: correcting control problems on Essroc's multidrive station, horizontally curved conveyor, 2013 Transactions of the Society for Mining, Metallurgy, and Exploration, Vol. 334, pp. 472-476, 2013.
- [21] DESPODOV, Z., MIJALKOVSKI, S., ADZISKI, V., PANOV, Z.: Selection of belt conveyors drive units number by technical - economical analysis, *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, Vol. 683, pp. 189-195, 2014.
 - doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.683.189
- [22] SUCHORAB, N.: Specific energy consumption the comparison of belt conveyors, *Mining Science*, Vol. 26, pp. 263-274, 2019. doi:10.37190/msc192619
- [23] ZHANG, S., XIA, X.: A new energy calculation model of belt conveyor, IEEE AFRICON, Kenya, Nairobi, pp. 1-6, 2009. doi:10.1109/AFRCON.2009.5308257
- [24] ZHANG, S., XIA, X.: Optimal control of operation efficiency of belt conveyor systems, *Applied Energy*, Vol. 87, No. 6, pp. 1929-1937, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2010.01.006
- [25] DARLING, P.: SME mining engineering handbook, 3rd ed., Published by Society for Mining, Metallurgy, and Exploration, Inc. (SME), 2011.
- [26] Queen's University, Conveyor systems, [Online], Available: https://minewiki.engineering.queensu.ca/ mediawiki/index.php/Conveyor_systems [02 Nov 2020], 2016.
- [27] CHAVAN, P.B., BOBADE, A.M., MAHALE, D.S., BHADANE, V.R.: Review paper on low cost conveyor design reduction of weight of conveyor system, *International Journal for Research in Applied Science & Engineering Technology*, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 1099-1104, 2017.
- [28] RIBEIRO, B.G.C., SOUSA, W.T. de, LUZ, J.A.M. da: Feasibility project for implementation of conveyor belts in an iron ore mine. Study case: Fabrica Mine in Minas Gerais State, Brazil, *Rem*:

Revista Escola de Minas, Vol. 69, No. 1, pp. 79-83, 2016. doi:10.1590/0370-44672013690021

- [29] KAWALEC, W., SUCHORAB, N., KONIECZNA-FUŁAWKA, M., KRÓL, R.: Specific energy consumption of a belt conveyor system in a continuous surface mine, *Energies*, Vol. 13, No. 19, 2020. doi:10.3390/en13195214
- [30] BAJDA, M., GEOLOGII, L.J.-W.G.G. I, BEŁCHATÓW, P.W.Z.K.-P.G.S.A.O. KWB: Comparison of electricity consumption by belt conveyors in a brown coal mine: Part 2. Study of the belt conveyors capacity influence, *GÓRNICTWO Odkryw*, Vol. 2019, No. 3, pp. 26-38, 2019.
- [31] LODEWIJKS, G.: Energy saving options for continuous transport systems, an exploration, In F. Hassani, & et al (Eds.), Proceedings 23rd World Mining Congress, CIM, pp. 1-20, 2013.
- [32] XIA, X., ZHANG, J.: Energy efficiency and control systems - from a POET perspective, IFAC Proceedings, Vol. 43, No. 1, pp. 255-260, 2010. doi:10.3182/20100329-3-PT-3006.00047
- [33] LAN, C.H.: The design of a multi-conveyor system for profit maximisation, *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, Vol. 22, No. July, pp. 510-521, 2003. doi:10.1007/s00170-002-1512-y
- [34] MASAKI, M.S., ZHANG, L., XIA, X.: A design approach for multiple drive belt conveyors minimizing life cycle costs, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 201, No. November, pp. 526-541, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.08.040
- [35] CHURCHILL, F.T.: Dynamic load sharing for conveyor belts with multiple drive stations, 12th WVU International Mining Electrotechnology Conference, West Virginia, USA, pp. 120-133, 1994. doi:10.1109/IMEC.1994.714124
- [36] KRÓL, R., KASZUBA, D., KISIELEWSKI, W.: Determination of the mechanical power in belt conveyor's drive system in industrial conditions, *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, Vol. 44, No. 042038, pp. 1-7, 2016. doi:10.1088/1755-1315/44/4/042038
- [37] MATHABA, T., XIA, X.: Optimal and energy efficient operation of conveyor belt systems with downhill conveyors, *Energy Efficiency*, Vol. 10, No. July, pp. 405-417, 2017. doi:10.1007/s12053-016-9461-8
- [38] RODRÍGUEZ, J., PONTT, J., ALZAMORA, G., BECKER, N., EINENKEL, O., WEINSTEIN, A.: Novel 20 MW downhill conveyor system using threelevel converters, *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, Vol. 49, No. 5, pp. 1093-1100, 2002. doi:10.1109/TIE.2002.803223
- [39] KUNG, W.: The Henderson coarse ore conveying system - a review of commissioning, start-up, and operation, Bulk material handling by belt conveyor 5 (Eds by A. Reicks, M.T. Myers), Published by



Society for Mining, Metallurgy and Exploration, Inc., 2004.

- [40] AULSON, G.E.: Statco Engineering Ltd.: Motor selection for belt conveyor drives, 10th CIM Maintenance/Engineering Conference, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, 1998.
- [41] Belt conveyors for bulk materials, 5th ed., Published by Conveyor Equipment Manufacturers Association. 1997.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



- International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 45-53 ISSN 1339-5629



SUSTAINABLE HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT AND GENERATIONS OF EMPLOYEES IN INDUSTRIAL **ENTERPRISES**

Augustín Stareček; Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová; Helena Makyšová; Dagmar Cagáňová

doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.201

Received: 05 Nov. 2020; Revised: 09 Feb. 2021; Accepted: 21 Feb. 2021

SUSTAINABLE HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT AND **GENERATIONS OF EMPLOYEES IN INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISES**

Augustín Stareček

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU, augustin.starecek@stuba.sk

Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU,

zdenka.babelova@stuba.sk

Helena Makyšová

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU, helena.makysova@stuba.sk (corresponding author)

Dagmar Cagáňová

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology in Trnava, Institute of Industrial Engineering and Management, Jána Bottu 25, 917 24 Trnava, Slovak Republic, EU, dagmar.caganova@stuba.sk

Keywords: generational groups, industrial enterprises, performance, remuneration, rewards

Abstract: Sustainable human resource management is one of the distinguished approaches for ensuring the organizational performance of an organization in today's turbulent business environment. Human resource management ensures the achievement of the organizational goals through practices of managing human resources. Sustainable human resource management thereby ensures the development and maintenance of the potential of all employees in the organization. The main goal of this paper is to present the results of research in the field of human resource management with respect to different generations of employees in industrial enterprises operating in the Slovakia. The research sample consisted of n = 1 471 respondents (employees of industrial enterprises). The most important results of the prezented research is the finding that employees of industrial enterprises consider work performance, which influences their remuneration, to be important. The research showed that there are statistically significant relationships between employees at managerial and production positions and the perceived importance of work performance when determining the income of managers and production employees (rs = 0.274 and rs = 0.363).

1 Introduction

The first chapter of the paper consists from two parts. The first part provides insight to the literature and previous studies in the field of sustainable human resource management, partially performance of employees and their remuneration. The second part is devoted to a brief description of the individual generations of employees with respect to the analysed issues.

Sustainable human resource management 1.1 and performance of employees

Sustainability is a long-term focused approach to business. It represents the creation of such systems and processes that are able to endure into long time work. Given that businesses have their economic nature but operate within certain environments and social systems, the study of sustainability is not limited to the environmental issues. The three key dimensions in which sustainability needs to be studied are economic, ecological

but also social [1]. Sustainability is not just a trend, but a topic in management of industrial enterprises, that should be seriously addressed [2]. By adopting the principles of sustainability, organizations can become more profitable and maintain their activities in the long run. The sustainable approach to management of organizations represents a processes in which organizations integrate their economic, environmental and social goals into their business strategies and optimize the balance between all three interconnected dimensions. Sustainability is about building a society in which the right balance is maintained between economic, environmental and social goals in the long term. For organizations, this means not only maintaining and expanding economic growth and shareholder value, but also adopting and adhering to ethical business practices, creating sustainable job positions, creating value for all stakeholders and caring for the needs of insufficiently secured workers [3]. Given the importance of employees for the success and performance of the organization, it is necessary for the management of



Augustín Stareček; Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová; Helena Makyšová; Dagmar Cagáňová

organization to implement sustainability into human resource management processes [4]. Sustainable Human Resource Management (SHRM) supports the conditions for the sustainability of organizational workforce. It develops the sustainability of the workforce by improving the ability of human resource management processes to continuously attract new employees, regenerate the workforce by caring for its employees, and support employees to be motivated and committed. Through targeted management of human resources processes, it ensures sustainability by, on the one hand, making the human resources management system itself sustainable. On the other hand, sustainable human resource management contributes to the sustainability of enterprises by reconciling economic, environmental, social and human sustainability objectives [5].

Improving the performance of organizations does not only depend on the characteristics of employees, such as their assumptions, abilities or competencies, but also on how the management is uses them, and this depends on human resource management practices in the organization [6]. From the point of view of the sustainability of business performance, it is, among other things, important to maintain the employability of employees [7], as well as their motivation and retention. In the productive population, many working days are lost due to illness. This represents a huge cost in terms of staff shortages and weakened economic performance. As we can see, the social, economic and environmental aspects are interlinked and form feedback loops [8]. Therefore, it is important to monitor which working conditions affect the health of employees, well-being but also social and family life [9]. Workplace stress also affects if employees feel they have a lot more work than their colleagues or feel that their efforts are not appreciated or adequately rewarded [10]. Recognition, trust, fair treatment and support contribute to motivation and improve not only workplace well-being but also work ability [11]. Employees of all ages are shaped by their own life experiences. Naturally, older employees had more opportunities to survive more events that could affect their attitudes. Age can therefore be one of the reasons for different values or attitudes, also to the work [12]. Usually, more than one generation of employees meet and cooperate at the same workplace. Each generation can manifest different values, attitudes to work and motivational preferences [13,14]. However, there is no absolute exactness in limiting the years of birth of individual generations. In order for remuneration for work to be motivating for employees, it is important that it takes into account their work values and work motivation, which can be differentiated individually, which is given by the uniqueness of individuality of each person. However, some research and studies confirm that the preferred remuneration for work may be different for different generations of employees. Employee preferences and individual preferences can be influenced by a person's

value system, his attitudes, interests, life situation, but also by the life stage or age of the employee.

1.2 Generational groups of employees

The post-war generation, sometimes referred to as "Baby boomers", is considered to be people born in 1946-1960, the next Generation X, born in 1961-1980, Generation Y born in (1981-1995) and Generation Z, born in 1995-2009. The youngest generation born since 2010 is often referred to as the Generation Alpha. Members of each generation show certain characteristics, different values are essential for them, they have different approaches to work and motivational preferences. For the post-war generation, money is an important motivating factor, along with title, recognition and respect [15]. Compared to the post-war generation, Generation X, and in particular Generation Y, value leisure time more strongly and attach more value to work providing external rewards. Generation Y also values internal and social rewards less than the post-war generation. It is also pointed out that Generation Y prefers external rewards (external motivation) more than the postwar generation, not wanting to work hard but still wanting more money and a higher position [16]. Older employees could be offended when younger ones demand more responsibility or higher salaries during job interviews. According to them, these requirements are not always the result of an exaggerated ego, but of a market economy. As most of the workforce will be entitled to retire, young workers will become a much in request in the next decade. If the organization does not offer higher salaries and more engaging work for young employee, another organization will do so. Understanding these types of pressures is key to promoting strong intergenerational communication [17]. Generation X attaches little value to their things, they do not consider them part of their value system. While the materialistic person will stick to the property, this generation is more willing to get rid of it and replace it with a new and improved version. This means, for example, that they do not stick to their house or home as their parents and are more willing to replace it for a better quality of life or work [18]. Generation X employees are looking for a worklife balance and are motivated by work that satisfies them personally and financially. For them, money is a reward for a job well done, but they do not accredit value to that work. They appreciate the remuneration in the form of extra days off, which will allow them to improve their work-life balance. For Generation Y, friendship is such a strong motivator that Generation Y workers choose a job just to be with their friends. They have a sense of ethics and participate in justified activities. As with Generation X, money is an important but not separable factor for them [15]. Generations X and Y prefer work-life balance over the post-war generation, which saw sacrificing personal life for work as a price to pay for success [19]. The Millennium Generation Y focuses on finding work that is stable, preferably resilient to recession, and paid enough to





Augustín Stareček; Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová; Helena Makyšová; Dagmar Cagáňová

pay their bills and save. As soon as they find one, they would rather stay in it. Their reluctance to take risks influences their decisions in the sense that while other work may be more interesting to them, this does not mean that it is in their best long-term interest [20]. Generation Z is very responsive to clearly defined and directly calibrated rewards for spent time or performed tasks. The most effective way to maintain existing working relationships with Generation Z and manage their performance is for managers to clearly discuss performance with them and to reward transparently on an ongoing basis [21].

Demographic developments in Slovakia and the European Union suggest that organizations should take into account the age structure of employees when ensuring sustainable human resource management. From the point of view of future development, in addition to age diversity, it is also necessary to take into account the prognosis of the population aging [22-25]. Demographic trends and an aging population have become an emerging topics, mainly due to the impact of their effects. Given this, their are important not only from a social and health point of view, but also because of its economic context [26]. A comprehensive analysis of the issue of population aging brings more robust results that can be of great importance for decision-making processes in several areas of the decisive sphere. These are, in particular, labour market policies, the relationship between the burden on the economically active population and economic growth or social cohesion [27]. Several trends affect labour shortages. The number of the post-productive population is increasing, and the prevalence of chronic diseases is also increasing [28]. In recent years, skilled young people leaving for work that does not match their qualifications have also contributed to labour shortages. This characteristic type of migration has caused an accumulation of skills shortages due to the negative demographic trend in the Slovak Republic [29].

2 Methodology

The next part of the paper is devoted to the description of the research problem, the definition of the main goal of the research, the results of which are presented in the submitted paper. Next, there are defined established research question and research hypotheses, the method of data collection and the data collection tool, and finally, there is described the research sample.

2.1 Reserach problem and research goal

The main research problem is defined in the field of human resource management in industrial enterprises in Slovakia, dealing with the remuneration of employees on the basis of work performance. As already mentioned, the importance of remuneration and the preference for the form of remuneration may vary from employee to employee, and the degree to which individual needs are met affects the employee's well-being, mental well-being, or even health to varying degrees. Remuneration of employees is largely dependent on the nature of the work performed (job position), but it is also significantly affected by the work performance achieved. A common problem can be the perception of employee remuneration for work performance, which results from the subjective perception of an employee from a particular generation. Due to the fact that there are currently four unique generations of employees working on the labour market [21,29,30]. It is important to examine the conditions and used approaches of human resource management in industrial enterprises in Slovakia for the purpose of sustainable human resource management development.

Based on the analysis of the theoretical outcomes and the definition of the research problem, we can state that the research in the field of employee performance and remuneration is defined in two relationships, which are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Research framework (source: own elaboration, 2020)

As shown in Figure 1 above, the mediated relationship between salary (remuneration for work performed) and

employee performance has been supported by several studies [31-33], which emphasize the importance of



Augustín Stareček; Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová; Helena Makyšová; Dagmar Cagáňová

leading people and the aim-oriented motivation. The relationship is conditioned on reward system based on performance. At the same time, it is important to emphasize that employees may lose the motivation to perform quality work, because their evaluation depends on the quantity of work performed. The research presented by the authors of the paper dealt with the direct relationship where the relationships between the performance of employees in various job positions and their salary evaluation were proved through established research hypotheses.

The main goal of the research was to examine the sustainable management of human resources in industrial enterprises in the Slovak Republic with regard to employees from different generations.

The research problem is concretized through defined research questions, on the basis of which research hypotheses were established.

RQ1: How do employees of different generations perceive the importance of work performance in determining the income of employees in at different job positions?

RH1: There is a statistically significant relationship between managerial positions and the perceived importance of work performance in determining managers' incomes.

RH2: There is a statistically significant relationship between production jobs and the perceived importance of work performance in determining the income of production employees.

RH3: There is a statistically significant relationship between administrative jobs and the importance of work performance in determining the income of administrative staff.

2.2 Data collection tool, data collection and description of the research sample

The collection tool was statistically evaluated as valid and reliable, as evidenced by the fact that the Crombach alpha coefficient = 0.83, which can be considered sufficient for scientific purposes [34]. The research questionnaire contained 8 questions, the first 5 questions are socio-demographic (self-governing region in which the organization operates, number of employees, gender, job position and year of birth), the other 3 questions focused on the perceived importance of work performance in determining employee income at various job positions (managerial, production, administrative and others). The questionnaire was anonymous, the only identifiers were the age and gender of the respondents.

Data collection within the research was carried out by physical distribution of the collection tool, which was distributed to employees of different ages and in different job positions. Distribution was carried out in all eight self-governing regions of the Slovak Republic in the period from September 2018 to January 2019. The research sample consists of n = 1 471 respondents (employees of industrial enterprises). Figure 2 shows the percentage of respondents according to their affiliation to a particular generation.



Figure 2 Respondents by generational groups in percentages (source: own elaboration, 2020)

Figure 2 shows that most respondents were 770 employees of industrial enterprises from generation Y (52.35%). The lowest number of respondents was from the generation Z, they are represented by 50 employees of industrial enterprises (3.39%). The stated percentages are approximately in the same percentage as the individual generations present on the labour market [23]. As can be seen in Figure 3, respondents were also divided according

to their current job position. Most respondents hold administrative and specialized jobs, 631 employees (42.90 %). The second largest group in the research sample is represented by production workers in the number of 549 (37.32 %). The third group consists of respondents who work at managerial positions, the group consists of 272 respondents (18.46 %). The last group consists of



Augustín Stareček; Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová; Helena Makyšová; Dagmar Cagáňová

respondents who did not state what job position currently work at, 19 respondents (1.29 %).



Figure 3 Respondents by job position (source: own elaboration, 2020)

Figure 3 shows the structure of respondents by job position. The structure of respondents according to the job position allows to compare the results within individual groups of respondents.

3 Results and discussion

The next part of the paper is devoted to the evaluation of established research questions and research hypotheses and a discussion of the most important findings in the research. The evaluation of the research question and research hypotheses was performed in the MS Excel program and in the SPSS 22.0 program (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) from IBM.

RQ1: How do employees of different generations perceive the importance of work performance in determining the income of employees at different job positions?

For a better presentation of the results, we divided the results into three tables (Table 1, Table 2 and Table 3), which contain the perceived importance of work performance according to individual generations for particular job position categories. The results considering managerial job positions are shown in Table 1 below.

Generation / Evaluation	1 – not at all	2 - partially	3 – significantly	No answer	Sum
Generation BB	8	20	24	0	52
Generation X	72	283	226	5	586
Generation Y	89	392	280	9	770
Generation Z	4	28	18	0	50
No generation assigned	3	6	3	1	13
Sum	176	729	551	15	1471

Table 1 Perceived importance of work performance according to different generations of employees in determining managers' incomes (source: own elaboration, 2020)

As can be seen from Table 1, it can be stated that up to 729 respondents (49.56 %) think that work performance has only a partial effect on managers' incomes. According to employees of industrial enterprises without affiliation to the generation, up to 551 respondents (37.46 %) think that the work performance of managers has a significant impact on their income and only 176 employees of industrial enterprises (11.96 %) think that work performance has no

effect on the income of managers. Based on the partial results, we can say that there is a difference in perception between the Baby boomer's generation and other generations of employees. Managerial positions are generally associated with higher revenues than for other job positions. However, linking managers' performance and remuneration can be difficult if their performance goals are not clearly defined. The significance of the



Augustín Stareček; Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová; Helena Makyšová; Dagmar Cagáňová

reward may change as the general conditions change, regardless of the pressure on performance. Managers with high abilities are characterized by a high knowledge of the environment in which they operate. Especially in times of financial crisis, high-capacity managers focus on maintaining reputation, less risky opportunities and lower incomes [35]. Table 2 shows the analysed results of the perceived importance of work performance on income in production jobs. Individual results are divided according to the affiliation of respondents to individual generations.

Table 2 Perceived importance of work performance according to different generations of employees in determining the income of
production employees (source: own elaboration, 2020)

Generation / Evaluation	1 – not at all	2 - partially	3 – significantly	No answer	Sum
Generation BB	7	16	28	1	52
Generation X	42	202	333	9	586
Generation Y	44	308	407	11	770
Generation Z	1	20	28	1	50
No generation assigned	1	5	6	1	13
Sum	95	551	802	23	1471

Based on the results shown in Table 2, it can be stated that up to 802 respondents (54.52 %) think that the work performance has a significant impact on determining the wages of production employees. The second largest group of answers is that work performance is partly important in determining the income of production employees 551 (37.46 %) and only 95 respondents (6.46 %) think that the work performance is not important in determining the income of production employees. Based on the above, we can say that the work performance of production employees is still dominant in determining the amount of their earnings. Performance-based remuneration can be motivating for workers by giving the worker a sense of control over the amount of his or her remuneration. On the other hand, performance-based rewards can create stress responses that can have an impact on employees' health. Stress is indicated especially for certain types of reward systems based on performance, such as piece rate pay. The dependence of rewards on performance has an positive impact on the quantity of production, but not on the quality of the services provided [36]. When comparing the results, it was shown that there are no differences in the assessment of the impact of the achieved performance on the income of employees of industrial enterprises from different generations. The results of the evaluation of the last third partial part of the established research question can be seen in Table 3, which is shown below.

 Table 3 Perceived importance of work performance according to different generations of employees in determining the income of administrative and other employees (source: own elaboration, 2020)

Generation / Evaluation	1 – not at all	2 - partially	3 – significantly	No answer	Sum
Generation BB	8	26	18	0	52
Generation X	94	289	186	17	586
Generation Y	101	409	242	18	770
Generation Z	10	22	18	0	50
No generation assigned	3	6	4	0	13
Sum	216	752	468	35	1471



SUSTAINABLE HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT AND GENERATIONS OF EMPLOYEES IN INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISES Augustín Stareček; Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová; Helena Makyšová; Dagmar Cagáňová

As can be seen in Table 3 above, according to the respondents, work performance is only partially important in determining the income of administrative and other employees 752 (51.12 %). The second most numerous answers were that work performance is important, 458 respondents (31.82 %) marked this answer. Lastly, respondents indicated the answer that work performance is not important at all in determining the income of administrative and other employees 216 (14.68 %). We reiterate that there is no difference between the responses of employees of different generations. Furthermore, we can state that this answer was most often marked for administrative and other job positions. For example, the negative impact of performance-based remuneration has been demonstrated for university staff. It has been shown that if remuneration was based on experience and productivity, this led to a lower level of satisfaction in the long run and a lower level of cooperation, especially with a large range of remuneration depending on performance [37]. Research has shown that human resource management plays an important role in performance-based remuneration by ensuring and emphasizing clarity and consistency in what employees are expected to do and on the basis of which the remuneration is awarded [38,39]. When evaluating the research results, we focused on the perception of differences with respect to different generations or job positions of employees. We did not focus on gender differences in the perception of differences between the remuneration of employees based on their work performance in presented research. Other research has confirmed some gender differences, for example it was confirmed that the basic wage is more important for women than for men [40].

RH1: There is a statistically significant relationship between managerial positions and the perceived importance of work performance in determining managers' incomes. The mentioned variable correlates at the level of sig = 0.05 with the value of the Spearman correlation coefficient rs = 0.274. The value of significance reached the required level (sig <0.05), therefore we do not reject the above alternative hypothesis and we can confirm that there is a weak correlation between the analysed variables.

RH2: There is a statistically significant relationship between production jobs and the perceived importance of work performance in determining the income of production employees. The mentioned variable correlates at the level sig = 0.10 with the value of Spearman's correlation coefficient rs = 0.363. The value of significance reached the required level (sig <0.10), therefore we do not reject the above alternative hypothesis and we can confirm that there is a moderately strong correlation between the analysed variables.

RH3: There is a statistically significant relationship between administrative jobs and the importance of work performance in determining the income of administrative staff. The mentioned variable correlates at the level of sig

= 0.05 with the value of the Spearman correlation coefficient rs = 0.094. The significance value reached the required level (sig <0.05). The analysed relationship is statistically significant, but with a very low to negligible value of the correlation coefficient. Based on the above, we reject the alternative hypothesis H3 and confirm the null hypothesis H0. Therefore, we can argue that there is no statistically significant relationship between administrative jobs and the importance of work performance in determining the income of administrative staff.

4 Conclusion

Research presented in the paper has shown that employees of industrial enterprises at various job positions perceive work performance equally important in determining the income of production and administrative employees. The only exception is the perception of employees of different generations in determining the income of employees at managerial positions. All findings can be used in application of the sustainable human resource management, because clear, transparent and fair remuneration is not only a significant motivating factor. It also affects the perception of the employer as socially responsible and fair, which affects not only the relationship of employees to the employer but also the reputation of the employer in society and in the labour market. The perceived importance of the achieved work performance in the remuneration of employees from different generations has a significant influence on motivating and the perception of the employer's approach to fair treatment of employees at various job positions.

Employers should focus on improving human resource management processes with an emphasis on employee care to ensure a sustainable workforce that affects not only the individual but also the overall performance of the organization. It should be clear from the human resource management priorities, which activities and how they are aimed at improving human resource management processes. These should ensure the improvement of the sustainability of human resources by increasing satisfaction and thus the willingness to perform and retain in the organization, which, by focusing on securing and maintaining the employability of employees through prevention and health protection.

The authors of the paper will continue in further research and expand their results by examining the factors influencing the priorities of human resource management in industrial enterprises. In their further research, they will focus on the impacts of the introduction of Industry 4.0 and pandemic measures on industrial enterprises, on human resource management in industrial enterprises and disadvantaged employees. Sustainable human resource management is focused on human resource management in the long run. Given the huge changes that industrial companies have to deal with, this issue is very topical and it is desirable to address it in further research.



Augustín Stareček; Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová; Helena Makyšová; Dagmar Cagáňová

Acknowledgement

The paper is a part of project VEGA No. 1/0721/20 "Identification of priorities for sustainable human resources management with respect to disadvantaged employees in the context of Industry 4.0". This paper was funded by Young Research Project No. 1335 "Examination of human resources management in multicultural industrial enterprises in order to enhance employee performance of different generation groups". This paper was also funded by Young Research Project No. 1348: "Proposal for the creation of tolls for sustainable human resources management in order to increase the performance of Generation Z in industrial enterprises".

References

- [1] ROBERTSON, M.: Sustainability Principles and Practice, London, United Kingdom, ROUTLEDGE, 2017.
- [2] SABADKA, D.: New trends and challenges in automotive industry logistics operations, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 15-19, 2015. doi:10.22306/al.v2i1.33
- [3] SZÉKELY, F., KNIRSCH, M.: Responsible Leadership and Corporate Social Responsibility: Metrics for Sustainable Performance, *European Management Journal*, Vol. 23, No. 6, pp. 628-647, 2005. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2005.10.009
- [4] GYURÁK BABEĽOVÁ, Z., STAREČEK, A., KOLTNEROVÁ, K., CAGÁŇOVÁ, D.: Perceived Organizational Performance in Recruiting and Retaining Employees with Respect to Different Generational Groups of Employees and Sustainable Human Resource Management, *Sustainability*, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 1-23, 2020. doi:10.3390/su12020574
- [5] EHNERT, I., HARRY, W., ZINK, K. J.: Sustainability and Human Resource Management: Developing Sustainable Business Organizations, Berlin, Germany, Springer, 2015.
- [6] WINKLER, R., MOCZULSKA, M.: Beneficial coalitions: knowledge management and development of employee commitment, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 2, No. 2, pp. 13-16, 2015.
- [7] ŠTOROVÁ, I., FUKAN, J.: Zaměstnanec a věk aneb age management na pracovišti (Employee and age or age management in the workplace), Prague, Czech Republic, Českomoravská konfederace odborových svazů, 2012.
- [8] BLAHOVÁ, J., PAULIKOVÁ, A.: 'Psychosocial work strain and its influence on decision-making processes', ICERI 2019 Proceedings 12th International Conference of Education, Research and Innovation: Seville, Spain 11-13 November 2019, IATED Academy, pp. 3898-3905, 2019. doi:10.21125/iceri.2019.0986
- [9] COSTA, G.: Shift Work and Health: Current Problems and Preventive Actions, *Safety and Health at Work*, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 112-123, 2010. doi:10.5491/SHAW.2010.1.2.112

- [10] NIELSEN, K., JØRGENSEN, M. B., MILCZAREK, M., MUNAR, L.: Healthy workers, thriving companies – a practical guide to well-being at work. Tackling psychosocial risks and musculoskeletal disorders in small businesses, *European Agency for Safety and Health at Work*, 2018. doi:10.2802/237140
- [11] ILMARINEN, J.: From Work Ability Research to Implementation, International Journal Environmental Research Public Health, Vol. 16, No. 16, pp. 2882, 2019. doi:10.3390/ijerph16162882
- [12] HANSEN, J. D. C., LEUTY, M. E.: Work Values Across Generations, Journal of Career Assessment, Vol. 20, No. 1, pp. 34-52, 2012. doi:10.1177/1069072711417163
- [13] CAGANOVA D., STARECEK A., BEDNARIKOVA M., HORNAKOVA N.: 'Analysis of factors influencing the motivation of generations Y and Z to perform in the educational process', Proceedings of the 15th IEEE International Conference on Emerging eLearning Technologies and Applications (ICETA), Stary Smokovec, Slovakia, pp. 69-74, 2017. doi:10.1109/ICETA.2017.8102471
- [14] STARECEK, A., VRANAKOVA, N., KOLTNEROVA, K., CHLPEKOVA, A., CAGANOVA, D.: 'Factors affecting the motivation of students and their impact on academic performance', Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Efficiency and Responsibility in Education (ERIE), Prague, Czech Republic, pp. 396-
- 407, 2017.
 [15] GOLDBECK, H.: Generational Motivation Differences at the Workplace, 2010, [Online], Available: https://www.goldbeck.com/subject/workp lace-wellness/motivational-differences-between-thegenerations-x-y-and-baby-boomers/, [28 Sep 2020], 2020.
- [16] TWENGE, J. M., CAMPBELL, S. M., HOFFMAN, B. J., LANCE, CH. E.: Generational Differences in Work Values: Leisure and Extrinsic Values Increasing, Social and Intrinsic Values Decreasing, *Journal of Management*, Vol. 36, No. 5, pp. 1117-1142, 2010. doi:10.1177/0149206309352246
- [17] BALLENSTEDT, B., ROSENBERG, A.: De-Generation, *Government Executive*, Vol. 4, No. 8, pp. 18-23, 2008, [Online], Available: https://www.govexec.com/magazine/features/2008/0 7/de-generation/27157/, [28 Sep 2020], 2020.
- [18] MARTIN, N.M., PRINCE, D.: Factoring for X: An Empirical Study of Generation X's Materialistic Attributes, *Journal of Management & Marketing Research*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 65-78, 2008.
- [19] TOLBIZE, A.: Generational differences in the workplace, 2008, [Online], Available: https://getlighthouse.com/blog/generationaldifferences-workplace/, [28 Sep 2020], 2020.



Augustín Stareček; Zdenka Gyurák Babeľová; Helena Makyšová; Dagmar Cagáňová

- [20] DEAL, J.J., LEVENSON, A.: Millennials Play the Long Game, 2015, [Online], Available: https://www.strategy-business.com/article/00366, [28 Sep 2020], 2020.
- [21] TULGAN, B.: Rainmaker Thinking Meet Generation Z: The second generation within the giant "Millennial" cohort, 2013, [Online], Available: http://rainmakerthinking.com/assets/uploads/2013/1 0/Gen-Z-Whitepaper.pdf, [28 Sep 2020], 2020.
- [22] ČAMBÁL, M., URBANOVIČOVÁ, P., MIKULÁŠKOVÁ, J., SZABÓ, P.: Koexistencia rôznych generácií zamestnancov - výzva pre súčasné priemyselné podniky, Coexistence of different generations of employees - a challenge for today's industrial enterprises, *Fórum manažéra*, Vol. 13, No. 2, pp. 8-14, 2017. (Original in Slovak)
- [23] SPIŠÁKOVÁ, A., VRAŇAKOVÁ, N., KOLTNEROVÁ, K., CHLPEKOVÁ, A.: Design of the implementation of concept of age management n industrial companies, Fórum Manažéra, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 52-56.
- [24] STAREČEK, A., BACHÁR, M., HORŇÁKOVÁ, N., CAGAŇOVÁ, D., MAKYŠOVÁ, H: Trends in automatic logistic systems and logistic market in Slovakia, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 7-14, 2018. doi:10.22306/al.v5i1.84
- [25] LESTHAEGHE, R.: The second demographic transition, 1986–2020: sub-replacement fertility and rising cohabitation a global update, *Genus*, Vol. 76, No. 10, pp. X, 2020. doi:10.1186/s41118-020-00077-4
- [26] LUTZ, W., SANDERSON, W.C., SCHERBOV, S.: Global and Regional Population Ageing: How Certain Are We of its Dimensions, *Population Ageing*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 75-97, 2008. doi:10.1007/s12062-009-9005-5
- [27] ŠPROCHA, B., ĎURČEK, P.: Populačné startnutie Slovenska v čase a priestore (Population start of Slovakia in time and space), Bratislava, Slovakia, Prognostický ústav, Centrum spoločenských a psychologických vied SAV, 2019. (Original in Slovak)
- [28] DIDIČ, R., SAMOHÝL, M., BABEĽA, R.: Selected Diagnoses in Hospitalized Patients in Palliative Care, *Clinical Social Work and Health Intervention*, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 40-42, 2019. doi:10.22359/cswhi_10_2_06
- [29] ŠTEFÁNIK, M., DŽAMBAZOVIČ, R., GERBERY, D., KARASOVÁ, K., LICHNER, I., MIKLOŠOVIČ, T., POLAČKOVÁ, Z. RADVANSKÝ, M., RUBLÍKOVÁ, E., STUDENÁ, I.: Labour market in Slovakia, Bratislava, Slovakia, ŠEVT, 2019.
- [30] KRAJŇÁKOVÁ, E., VOJTOVIČ, S.: Struggles of Older Workers at the Labour Market, *Economics and Sociology*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 319-333, 2017. doi:10.14254/2071-789X.2017/10-1/23

- [31] AZMAN, I., MOHD RIDWAN, A.: Performancebased Reward Administration Enhancing Employees' Feelings of Interactional Justice, *Studies in Business* and Economics, Vol. 12, No. 1, pp. 5-18, 2017. doi:10.1515/sbe-2017-0001
- [32] IDOWU, A.: Effectiveness of Performance Appraisal System and its Effect on Employee Motivation, *Nile Journal of Business and Economics*, Vol. 3, No. 5, pp. 15-39, 2017. doi:10.20321/nilejbe.v3i5.88
- [33] BIRKNEROVÁ, Z., BIRKNER, M., ZBIHLEJOVÁ, L.: Analysis of Links between Communication Skills, Motivational Orientations, and Awareness of Coaching, *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*, Vol. 6, No. 4, pp. 505-510, 2017. doi:10.33844/ijol.2017.60381
- [34] CORTINA, J.M.: What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications, *Journal of Applied Psychology, Vol. 78, No. 1, pp.* 98-104, 1993. doi:/10.1037/0021-9010.78.1.98
- [35] OSKOUEI, Z. H., SURESHJANI, Z. H.: Studying the relationship between managerial ability and real earnings management in economic and financial crisis conditions, *International Journal of Finance & Economics*, pp. 1-16, 2020. doi:10.1002/ijfe.2031
- [36] GANSTER, D.C., KIERSCH, CH.E., MARSH, R.E., BOWEN, A.: Performance-Based Rewards and Work Stress, Journal of Organizational Behaviour Management, Vol. 31, No. 4, pp. 221-235, 2011. doi:10.1080/01608061.2011.619388
- [37] PFEFFER, J., LANGTON, N.: The effect of wage dispersion on satisfaction, productivity, and working collaboratively: Evidence from college and university faculty, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, Vol. 38, No. 3, pp. 382-407, 1993. doi:10.2307/2393373
- [38] SANDERS, K., JORGENSEN, F., SHIPTON, H., VAN ROSSENBERG, Y., CUNHA, R. L., RODRIGUES, R., WONG, S. I. DYSVIK, A.: Performance-based rewards and innovative behaviours, *Human Resource Management*, Vol. 57, No. 6, pp. 1455-1468, 2018. doi:10.1002/hrm.21918
- [39] FRANKOVSKÝ, M., BIRKNEROVÁ, Z., ŠTEFKO, R., BENKOVÁ, E.: Implementing the Concept of Neurolinguistic Programming Related to Sustainable Human Capital Development, *Sustainability*, Vol. 11, No. 15, pp. 1-11, 2019. doi:10.3390/su11154031
- [40] HITKA, M., LORINCOVÁ, S., VETRÁKOVÁ, M., HAJDÚCHOVÁ, I., ANTALÍK, I.: Factors related to gender and education affecting the employee motivation, *Entrepreneurship and Sustainability Issues*, Vol. 7, No. 4, pp. 3226-3241, 2020. doi:10.9770/jesi.2020.7.4(43)

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 55-64 ISSN 1339-5629

AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS

Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog

doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.202

Received: 08 Nov. 2020; Revised: 28 Jan. 2021; Accepted: 06 Feb. 2021

AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS

Jakub Kovalčík

Department of Logistics and Transport, FBERG, Technical University of Košice, Park Komenského 14, 042 00 Košice, Slovak Republic, EU, jakub.kovalcik@tuke.sk (corresponding author)

Michal Balog

Department of Logistics and Transport, FBERG, Technical University of Košice, Park Komenského 14, 042 00 Košice, Slovak Republic, EU, michal.balog@gmail.com

Keywords: RFID, RFID system, smart logistics, automatic identification

Abstract: The subject of the article is to define the current state of the information system, to describe the use of technology in practice and to understand the principle and benefits of smart logistics. To describe the operation of RFID technology and systems that are necessary for the effective operation of a comprehensive automatic identification system. The issue is to define the current state of information technology and create a project for automatic identification. The aim of the smart logistics project is the overall improvement of the production process, registration of parts and the overall highlighting of the company's reputation. Automatic identification systems are nowadays one of the fastest growing areas, whether information logistics or logistics as such. Manufacturing companies are trying to apply more and more elements of these systems to their production processes. Slovak companies, which have their production process based on international orders, are increasingly trying to optimize their production and thus approach Western countries in the field of automatic identification and registration of parts.

1 Introduction

Automatic identification systems are nowadays one of the fastest growing areas, whether information logistics or logistics as such. Manufacturing companies are trying to apply more and more elements of these systems to their production processes. Slovak companies, which have their production process based on international orders, are increasingly trying to optimize their production and thus approach Western countries in the field of automatic identification and registration of parts.

Many leading authors in the logistics and transport sector are dedicated to the areas of RFID technology, with which logistics information systems are closely related and their functionality. They speak of the correct and efficient functioning of the logistics system, of which the logistics information system is a part, as a set of consecutive activities. If one of these activities does not work properly, the proper and efficient operation of not only the information logistics system but also the logistics information system as a whole is endangered and thus the emergence of the so-called bottleneck. About such functioning or malfunctioning LS are mentioned by the authors M. STRAKA and M. BALOG in their publications [1]. An important aspect of the logistics system is its construction. More detailed information on the possibilities, variations and construction of the logistics system can be found in the publication of D. MALINDŽÁK et al. entitled Design of the logistics system [2].

In the field of RFID technology, there has been a major shift in the last few years, as evidenced by publications from various foreign authors. *Mir-Moghtadaesi of*

Shahrekord University describes the operation of the UHF frequency as a frequency that can reduce interference between RFID systems. He describes this study in a work entitled: A newUHF / ultra-wideband radio frequency identification system to solve the coexistence issues of ultra-wideband radio frequency identification and other in bandnarrowband systems [3]. The use of RFID technology requires a number of different components that are necessary for its effective operation. The authors of Babaeian et al. from Monash University in Australia created a study in which they describe the algorithm of operation of the reading device and detection of the RFID chip at a certain distance [4]. A study by Occhiuzzi et al. from the University of Rome talks about the use of simple RFID chips in food packaging. This study assumes an almost unlimited use of this technology in various industries and levels of the logistics process. The study, entitled: Radio-Frequency-Identification-Based Intelligent Packaging: Electromagnetic Classification of Tropical Fruit Ripening [5], was an inspiration in creating an article and understanding simple communication through RFID tags.

The issue of RFID technology is described in more detail in the publication Analysis and Assessment of Management and Control of Component Flows for the Needs of Production in a Specific Company [6]. This publication narrowly describes the development of RFID technology in Slovakia. It deals with various variations of technology and their use in everyday life. A more specific use of this technology is described in the publication KOVALČÍK, J: Project of the use of automatic





AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS

Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog

identification systems for the needs of management and control of material flows and identification of inventory in a specific company environment [7]. The work is focused on the specific use of this technology in practice. Describes the positive and negative elements of the technology, points out the way of its use in the assembly and engineering industry.

2 Methodology

Company Alfa, which is the subject of the investigation, is a major market player in the engineering and assembly industry. The problem that necessarily concerns Alfa is the system of automatic identification of parts. In connection with the above, their goal is to create a smart logistics project. The project will deal primarily with the identification of parts in the production process, their registration in the production process and, last but not least, the improvement of the information system. . This analysis is carried out directly on the company's premises with the help of responsible employees in individual areas. The system approach and algorithmic thinking are applied in the analysis. The task is to create a project for the use of automatic identification systems, primarily for the needs of registration and management of parts in the production process. The project must take into account all the elements that could affect the proper and effective functioning of the system. In Alfa, it is mainly the diverse nature of individual types of parts [8]. The aim is to characterize the current situation in terms of information system and technical support for process monitoring in a particular company and to design a system that will use SAI. To effectively create a project, it is important to know the type, nature and functionality of each available technology that can be used in the issue [7]. Management and workers in production halls are fully aware that there are areas in warehouses and in the production process where monitoring of logistics processes is insufficient, but they cannot identify them correctly. Therefore, it is necessary to use analytical methods that determine the relationship between cause and effect and make it possible to determine the consequences. These relationships can be illustrated in various diagrams in a simple and clear way. Alfa's production process is too complex and lengthy, so it is not possible to start the planned project in all production halls at once. After a professional consultation at Alfa, we decided to shorten this production process [7].

It includes the monitoring of logistics processes [7]:

- stationary stations for deregistration of production,
- radio frequency scanners,
- forklifts,
- logistics train,
- trucks of internal transport,
- controlled intermediate storage of parts and input material.

The problem areas were analysed during my time at company Alfa. Individual problem areas were identified after professional consultation in the company [6]:

- 1. Failure to check out the realized operations in production orders in real time (often at the end of the shift), this makes it impossible to relocate work in progress when moving production to other halls (production of a work in several halls).
- 2. Due to overloading of production capacities and nonfulfilment of delivery dates of purchased materials, is not in accordance with the planned production dates, which are based on the required shipping dates of wagons or bogies according to the project schedule.
- 3. Materials (most often pallets of various sizes), which exceeds the current state of packaging in TVP. Subsequently, this problem is solved by storing several types of parts in one pallet and thus violates the rules for the smooth transfer of unfinished and finished parts in production and in warehouses.
- 4. Identification of the contents of the pallet by a loosely enclosed paper guide gives the presumption of its loss during transport, incorrect and incomplete filling by the operator, impossibility of transferring the change to the already existing guide, etc.

3 Current functioning of registration processes in the company Alfa

Production in the company Alfa can be characterized as custom variant production, in which the customer has a relatively high degree of freedom to determine the technical parameters of railway wagons. It can be divided into two basic groups: 1. Requirements for the supply of freight wagons and bogies 2. Small orders for the supply of spare parts or services. Both groups of customer requirements are realized by mutual agreement between the customer and the supplier, which in the first case is concluded by signing a business contract and, in the latter case, by placing an order with the customer. The first group of customer requirements, which in terms of time last several months, is realized through projects, the second group of requirements has a short implementation time, several days, weeks and it is realized by special production into stocks of specific sales orders - custom production [9]. in the company it represents an individual business case, with all phases of its life. The project at Alfa manages the part of production whose subject of performance towards the customer is the delivery of agreed numbers of entire railway freight wagons or separate bogies, with gradual dispatch, according to the agreed time diagram - dispatch plan. The production of wagons and chassis represents a significant majority of production, against the production and supply of spare parts for Alfa products, or small supplies of services, which use the free capacity of special technologies available to the company. Monitoring of the entire project life period in the pre-production and production stages is processed in Alfa, in the SAP



AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS

Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog

information system using the Project System module [7]. The whole business case is divided according to the dispatch plan and production capacity possibilities into production batches, which according to the SAP system are referred to as SPP elements of the project (Structured project plan). The realization of production takes place from elementary parts, through the assembly of structural units of wagons and bogies, to the final assembly of wagons and bogies and the vast majority is project production, a certain minority part of the production to the warehouse. These are usually universal parts used in several projects, which are produced in economic batches [9].

3.1 Identification of production operations

The complexity of the final products (wagons and bogies) and the prevailing project batch production mean that thousands of production orders are realized in parallel in production, from the production of elementary parts, through orders for subassemblies and assemblies to final assembly: production of wagon and bogie superstructures. Each production order is currently identified in production by a paper guide, which contains all the information needed for production but also identifies the status of the production order with the marking of manufactured pieces for the operation and identification of quality control [10]. The production order guide contains the following basic information [11,12]:

- number of the manufactured component, required production quantity,
- dates of order production (start, end),
- warehouse where the finished component is stored,
- production centre determining the subsequent consumption of the component,
- supply area production from which consumption is realized in a higher stage of production,
- link to the relevant T-element (if the production is anonymous link to T-bill is not defined),
- complete workflow with determination of time standard for individual operations
- material requirements tied to individual operation.

Work-in-progress production orders for parts are shifted in production, most often in pallets, large parts in bulk. During the life of the order, the transport pallet changes several times (depending on the complexity of the workflow, which includes discrete cutting and machining operations), but the guide moves with the work in progress. In the case of division of the order, when the production order proceeds to production in several transport batches, a new guide is printed for each batch. Each sublot of the production order must be identified by a guide [13]. In the SAP system, transport batches are defined for each part transported in pallets, specifying the type of pallet in which the part is to be moved in production (determined by the part size) and the transport batch quantity (determined by the load capacity of the selected pallet and part weight). After the end of the production of parts, these are stored in a central warehouse (WM warehouse) from where the parts are delivered on the basis of the requirements of the assembly workers in the area of supply of production in the assembly halls. In the case of time slips in the production of parts, these are delivered directly to the assembly lines [14].

At the central warehouse, the guide represents an identification element about the stored part, which contains information [15]:

- part number,
- quantity in the pallet,
- project SPP number,
- production warehouse (assembly line where the material is to be stored),
- production supply area on assembly line where the part is to be delivered.

The environment of production of parts corresponds to classical engineering production and therefore the paper form of identification of production orders about the content of parts in the pallet is not optimal, it is prone to damage and loss (Figure 1). The subject of optimization of logistics processes within this project is the process of controlled material flow of production of parts up to delivery to assembly lines and threads connected with it:

- ensuring the consumption of input materials for production orders with identification of the batch consumed in the operation,
- operations with assignment of quantity of good and bad pieces produced,
- identification of causes of deviations, identification of the person or working group who performed the operation,
- check-out of quality control operations,
- storage of parts in the warehouse unless automatic reception is set for reporting with the last operation,
- optimization of warehouse structure [7].



AL

AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS

Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog



Figure 1 Current operation of parts process monitoring [7]

3.2 Summary of the analysis of the current state of operation of processes in the company

The subject of the optimization of logistics processes in Alfa is the elimination of weak points in the current process monitoring, using modern technologies of data collection directly in the production process and in warehouses. It is necessary to optimize the process of monitoring the production of parts and their material flow, allocation of pallets and their content. A wide range of manufactured parts and a high degree of completion of production orders, which are realized in several production halls and are stored in multiple warehouses (controlled and unmanaged) requires quick availability of information on the current allocation of work in progress, identification of pallet number in which it is located and quantities. pieces in the appropriate pallet [16].

Within the project, the priority is to solve the following specific tasks [17-22]:

- 1. Monitoring the flow of work in progress over time its exact position and degree of work in progress, quantity in packaging.
- 2. Automatic restocking of work and finished part during its transfer between export points or export point and intermediate storage.
- 3. Removal of the paper form of the guide as a basic identification element in the current functioning of the logistics process.
- 4. Removal of the paper form of the request for delivery of material to assembly lines.
- 5. Navigation of the import of material to a specific area of production supply.
- 6. Places in production with recording: production order numbers, operations, good pieces, bad pieces, the cause of the deviation and the personal number of the worker (or group of workers) who carried out the operation. If the input material has been used for the operation and is batched, it is necessary to record the number of the consumed batch.

7. Reporting the quality control operation and releasing blocked stocks in quality to free use.

4 Smart logistics project proposal

4.1 Pilot version of the project

This project is to be a pilot version of the implementation of the automatic identification system in Alfa into the entire operation. At the moment, the project is commissioned only for a certain part of the material flow, due to the fact that for a wide range of production in the company Alfa, it is not possible to implement this project at once in all production halls and on all necessary parts. The project currently concerns four production halls, the visualization of which together with the parts will be presented in the following section. For the successful implementation of the project into the entire operation, the pilot version should be a kind of simulation of the behaviour of workers and production, to the system of automatic identification. As already mentioned, the project does not cover the whole operation, and the same applies to parts in production. Three types of parts were selected for the project, three types of their storage and three types of marking of these parts. The parts represent all possible storage variants in Alfa. Each tag / chip used for labelling must be rewritable (Table 1) [18].

Pieces	Type of storage	Label type
Type A	On leave	Magnetic tag/chip
Type B	Ind corral pallets	Fixed tag/chip
Type C	Plastic crates	Adhesive tag/chip
Table 1 T	Types of parts, storage a	nd type of marking [7]
Pieces	Type of storage	Label type
Type A	On leave	Magnetic tag/chip
Type B	Ind corral pallets	Fixed tag/chip
Type C	Plastic crates	Adhesive tag/chip



AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog

Alfa's requirements include both software and hardware requirements. In terms of logistics and focus, however, we will focus only on components of the hardware type, which are necessary for an effectively created project and also the correct operation of the material flow in the company Alfa (Figure 2). A high percentage of RFID components on the market are made to order. In the case of the smart logistics project and Alfa, which is the contracting authority, this is the same [19]. Custom components are compatible with a large number of software modules used to output technology, so there is no need for a more detailed analysis at this time. The project is currently in the phase of finding a supplier of these components, so there are no relevant outputs for it in the form of orders. However, for the needs of the research, there are similar components on the market that can be used [20].



Figure 2 Components needed [7]

4.2 Number of required components and visualization of components in production halls

When visualizing the halls (Figure 3, Figure 4), it is necessary to take into account the area in m², each of the stationary sensors and mobile sensors has a maximum scanning distance. In the case of mobile sensors, this problem of logical range is logically eliminated; an adequate number of such sensors will be allocated to the halls after consultation with Alfa, due to the size. However, stationary sensors require efficient placement in production halls. In table no. 2 we process the individual halls and find out how many stationary sensors we have to use to cover the whole space (Table 2).

The same principle applies to RFID antennas, as the antenna we choose will collect and send data from both stationary readers and mobile ones. The selected stationary sensor has a maximum range of 25 m perpendicular to the object. The signal from this sensor can be defined as a circle, where the centre is a stationary sensor, and the radius reach perpendicular to the object. In our case, it is

necessary to calculate the content (1) of this circle. A simple equation for calculating the content of the circle suggests that one stationary sensor covers about 1970 m^2 .

$$S = \pi \times r^2 \tag{1}$$

Table 2 Number of required components [7]

			Nun	onents	
Hall	Process	Area in <u>m²</u>	Sensor		Antenna
			Moving (pcs)	Stationary (pcs)	
Hall n.1	Distillery	4 532.22	7	3	2
Hall <u>n.2</u>	Cutting room	2 649.45	4	2	1
Hall n.3	Machining	6 345.84	8	4	2
Hall <u>n.4</u>	Special room	11 371.62	10	6	4

5 Results and discussion

During the analysis of the current functioning of logistics processes in the company Alfa, it was found that the current system primarily prolongs the production time of the complete building. Whether it is a complete railway wagon, bogie, resp. another necessary part of the product. In a manufacturing company and especially in logistics, the individual processes are consecutive, and therefore the time of production of a particular object is closely related to finance. It is therefore necessary to convert the time lost in the current system into financial form. In this work, we focused mainly on the parts called A, B and C. When calculating the return on investment, it is currently pointless to define a specific part [7].

If we define a working week for 2 changes, after 7.5 hours, 5 days, then we will get the working time. 75 hours per week. After the analysis in the company, it was found that the time that employees lose when writing a guide, unnecessary relocation of parts, respectively. parts search accounts for about 30% of that time. This figure represents exactly 22.5 hours per week and 90 hours per month. As mentioned, time is closely related to finances, so it is necessary to convert the figure of 90 hours per month using the so-called "Man-hours" for finance. According to an available calculator from the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family, 1 "man-hour" represents several **16.80 € per hour**. This fact, after a simple mathematical operation, determines the amount of 1.512 € per month, which represents a loss caused by unnecessary manipulation of parts, irresponsibility and inconsistent material flow.

After the implementation of the smart logistics project, this amount and especially the time should be significantly reduced. During the consultation of the project at Alfa, it was found that the implementation of the project had a figure of 22.5 hours per week and thus 90 hours per month reduced by several 75%. This fact represents an investigation of 17 hours per week and thus 68 hours per month. From a financial point of view, this represents a final amount of 1,142.4 \in (Figure 5, Table 3).



AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS

Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog



Figure 3 Hall n.1 and n.2 components [7]



AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS

Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog



Figure 4 Hall n.3 and n.4 components [7]

The data from the economic enumeration [7] tell us that the investment in the pilot project is $58,425 \in$, and thus the

return on investment for the pilot part of the project is \in 58,425 / \in 1142.4. In our case, the investment in the project



AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog

should return within some 52 months, which represents **4** years and **3** months.

Even after the implementation of the project, the company will not avoid certain financial losses. However, these are related to the operation of RFID technology. This amount is $\notin 1512 - \notin 1142.4$, which gives us the amount of $\notin 369.6$ per month. It is obvious that the implementation of the project will achieve a significant monthly decrease in the number.



Figure 5 Scheme of operation of logistics processes - SMART logistics [7]

Table 3 Results of the project					
	Curent	1		New	
	function			function	
Working	300 h	1	Working	300 h	
week /			week /		
month			month		
Lost time	30%	-	Save time in	75%	
in %/			% / month		
month			(from 30%)		
Lost time	90 h	-	Save time in	68 h	
in hours/			hours /		
month			month		
Lost	1512€	-	Save money	1142.4 €	
money /			/ month		
month					

6 Conclusion

Automatic identification systems are among the models with high implementation costs. This is mainly due to the need to incorporate many timeless elements into Alfa's system. However, its advantages outweigh any existing solutions for the material flow control and inventory identification system. As mentioned, implementation requires many elements. For the pilot version only, the cost of implantation can climb to large amounts. The pilot version of the project requires the purchase of tags / chips, sensors, antennas, servers, the main computer, cabling and, last but not least, assembly. In addition to the mentioned elements, there are also items related to the storage of parts. Of course, the company has a number of such elements, but it is up to the company to consider whether its investment will concern the purchase of new, respectively. keeping old handling units. The loyalty of the company's employees is also a very important fact in the implementation of the project. The core of this project is automatic identification, but even with this fact it is not possible to completely remove the human factor. The nature of production does not allow it. A larger percentage of sensors in the pilot version of the project is of the mobile type. This fact will logically require quality training of staff.

The implementation of the smart logistics project should be a part of the entire operation in Alfa after successful testing. Its benefits will be felt after only a few production cycles. From the point of view of logistics, the project will significantly help to monitor the material flows of work in progress over time. Thanks to tags / chips, which are rewritable and have a relatively high memory, it is possible to monitor the exact position, degree of work in progress, resp. the number of pieces in the package for the parts in question. The use of SAI can be understood in the Slovak market as an innovative use of modern technology. With the help of this project, it is possible to get rid of an obsolete identification element in the logistics process. The paper form of the guide is a problem nowadays. Especially if it is such a lengthy and demanding production as production at Alfa. Assumption of loss, resp. damage is very high. It is this fact that company Alfa paid significantly for. If we define logistics as a way, a philosophy of management, including material flows, then the loss or damage to a single identifier in the production process is a significant problem for the further continuation of the material flow. We are talking mainly about the planning of production capacities or production dates. This situation logically results in non-compliance with export deadlines, which results in a damaged reputation of the company. By



AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog

implementing the project, we can achieve significant progress in the field of logistics, inventory monitoring and material flow. The nature of production in the company is extremely complex. However, it is appropriate that the company is constantly introducing various elements to accelerate and innovate it. Therefore, the question is whether the company does not want to focus on complete automation of production in the future. I believe that a major player in the market, such as Alfa, can make a big difference.

Acknowledgement

The submitted paper is a part of the projects "Projects of applied research as a means for development of new models of education in the study program of industrial logistics" KEGA 016TUKE-4/2020 and the project "Research and development of new smart solutions based on the principles of Industry 4.0, logistics, 3D modelling and simulation for streamlining production in the mining and building industry" VEGA 1/0317/19.

References

- [1] BALOG, M., STRAKA, M.: Logistické informačné systémy, Bratislava, EPOS, 2005. (Original in Slovak)
- [2] MALINDŽÁK, D., KAČMÁRY, P., OSTAZ, G., GAZDA, A., MADURA, B., LOREK, M.: Design of logistics systems, Theory and applications, New York: Open Science Publisher, 2015.
- [3] MIR-MOGHTADAESI., S.V.: A new UHF/ultra wideband-radio frequency identification system to solve coexistence issues of ultra wideband-radio frequency identification and other in-band narrowband systems, *Transactions on Emerging Telecommunications Technologies*, Vol. 32, No. 1, pp. 1-14, doi:10.1002/ett.4147
- [4] BABAEIAN, F., FOROUZANDEH, M., KARMAKAR, N.: Solving a chipless RFID inverse problem based on tag range estimation, *IET Microwaves, Antennas & Propagation*, Vol. 2020, No. October, 2020. doi:10.1049/iet-map.2019.1030
- [5] OCCHIUNZI., C., D'UVA, N., NAPPI, S., AMENDOLA, S., GIALLUCCA, Ch.. CHIABRANDO, L., V., GARAVAGLIA, GIACALONE, G., MARROCCO, G.: Radio-Frequency-Identification-Based Intelligent Packaging: Electromagnetic Classification of Tropical Fruit Ripening, IEEE Antennas and Propagation Magazine, Vol. 2020, No. August, pp. 64-75, 2020. doi:10.1109/map.2020.3003212
- [6] KOVALČIK, J.: Analysis and Assessment of Management and Control of Component Flows for the Needs of Production in a Specific Company, Technical University of Košice, Košice, 2018.
- [7] KOVALČÍK, J.: Project of the use of automatic identification systems for the needs of management and control of material flows and identification of inventory

in a specific company environment, Technical University of Košice, Košice, 2020.

- [8] STRAKA, M., BALOG, M., IŽOLOVÁ, J: Informačná logistika a informačné systémy, Edičné stredisko, Fakulty BERG Technickej univerzity v Košiciach, 2010. (Original in Slovak)
- [9] NÁRODNÁ AGENTÚRA PRE ROZVOJ MALÉHO A STREDNÉHO PODNIKANIA, NARMSP: Využívanie informačných výrobných technológií v malých a stredných podnikoch, Bratislava 2002. (Original in Slovak)
- [10] SOMMEROVÁ, M.: Základy RFID technologií, [Online], Available: http://rfid.vsb.cz/miranda2/expo rt/sitesroot/rfid/cs/okruhy/informace/RFID_pro_Log istickou_akademii.pdf [05 Oct 2020], 2013. (Original in Czech)
- [11] MALINDŽÁK, D., TAKALA, J.: Projektovanie logistických systémov, Košice: Expres Publicit s.r.o., 2005. (Original in Slovak)
- [12] STRAKA, M., KAČMÁRY, P., ROSOVÁ, A., YAKIMOVICH, B., KORSHUNOV, A.: Model of unique material flow in context with layout of manufacturing facilities, *Manufacturing Technology*, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 814-820, 2016.
- [13] KODYS Slovensko: [Online], Available: https://www.kodys.sk/rfid-radio-frekvencnaidentifikacia [06 Oct 2020], 2020.
- [14] YANG, J., MA, X., CRESPO, R.G., MARTINEZ, O.S.: Blockchain for supply chain performance and logistics management, *Applied Stochastic Models in Business and Industry*, Vol. 2020, No. October, pp. 1-13, 2020. doi:10.1002/asmb.2577
- [15] El MASRI, I., LESCOP, B., TALBOT, P., NGUYEN VIEN, G., BECKER, J., THIERRY, D., RIOUAL, S.: Development of a RFID sensitive tag dedicated to the monitoring of the environmental corrosiveness for indoor applications, *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, Vol. 322, No. 11, pp. 1-7, 2020.
- [16] ŠEBEJ, P.: Optimalizácia, topológia tokov vo výrobných procesoch, *Elektrotechnika, Informačné technológie, Strojárstvo*, Vol. 5, No. 8, pp. 1-10, 2012. (Original in Slovak)
- [17] STRAKA, M., KHOURI, S., LENORT, R., BESTA, P.: Improvement of logistics in manufacturing system by the use of simulation modelling: A real industrial case study, *Advances in Production Engineering and Management*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 18-30, 2020.
- [18] KMEŤ, V.: Technológia rádio frekvenčnej identifikácie, nové možnosti identifikácie tovarov, *AT&P journal*, Vol. 2008, No. 9, pp. 86-88, 2008. (Original in Slovak)
- [19] KLAPITA, V., BUKOVÁ, B., SOUČEK, R.: Využitie RFID čipov pri sledovaní zásielok v železničnej doprave, [Online], Available: http://fpedas.uniza.sk/ dopravaaspoje/2005/1/klapita1.pdf [06 Oct 2020], 2005. (Original in Slovak)



AUTOMATIC IDENTIFICATION SYSTEMS FOR MANAGEMENT - MATERIAL FLOW CONTROL AND STOCK STATUS

Jakub Kovalčík; Michal Balog

- [20] KUČERA, J.: *RFID technológia*, [Online], Available: https://www.fi.muni.cz/usr/jkucera/pv109/2005/xku kucka.htm [07 Oct 2020], 2005. (Original in Slovak)
- [21] BENKOVÁ, M.: Zabezpečovanie kvality procesov,
 [Online], Available: http://people.tuke.sk/peter.bobe
 r/srp/doc/Benkova_1-28.pdf
 [07 Oct 2007] 2020.
 (Original in Slovak)
- [22] STRAKA, M.: *Distribution and Supply Logistics*, Cambridge Scholars Publishing, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, 2019.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.204

Received: 09 Nov. 2020; Revised: 25 Jan. 2021; Accepted: 08 Feb. 2021

THE IMPACT OF LOGISTICS ON THE COST OF PREFABRICATED CONSTRUCTION

Alena Tažiková

Technical University of Kosice, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Institute of Technology, Economics and Management in Construction, Vysokoskolska 4, 042 00 Kosice, Slovak Republic, EU, alena.tazikova@tuke.sk (corresponding author)

Zuzana Struková

Technical University of Kosice, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Institute of Technology, Economics and Management in Construction, Vysokoskolska 4, 042 00 Kosice, Slovak Republic, EU,

zuzana.strukova@tuke.sk

Keywords: logistics planning, prefabricated construction, wood-based buildings, transport cost, storage

Abstract: The aim of the paper is to emphasize the need for logistics planning in prefabricated construction in Slovakia. A construction contractor can achieve profit and efficiency of a construction project through well-managed resource logistics. Moreover, it helps to ensure the competitiveness of prefabricated construction compared to traditional on-site construction. In the case study of a wood-based family house, the construction cost and the transport cost are analysed in relation to available logistics chains. Three variants of wood-based construction systems are adopted in the study: the column-beam construction system, the construction system based on Structural Insulated Panels (SIPs) and the panel construction system. The results of the study found that the transport cost does not represent a large share of the total construction cost of the wood-based family house. This applies to all three variants of the construction system. A well-planned logistics of resources – people, materials, machines – can help to achieve an efficient and rational construction cost and construction time of a project. Thus, a client of a wood-based prefabricated building does not have to worry that the transport cost related to the transport of large, prefabricated components will make the construction of the building markedly more expensive.

1 Introduction

Currently, a continuous improvement of production efficiency is emphasized in construction. A proper type of construction material logistics and prefabricated components logistics in off-site construction can significantly contribute to enhance construction efficiency [1]. On the contrary, an inaccurately managed logistics may significantly increase construction cost. To remain competitive in the construction market, some manufacturers of prefabricated components for off-site construction, provide services only to a delimited distance from their factories. Otherwise, the logistics cost will increase to such an extent that the cost of a construction project will be significantly increased. Such a construction project accounts for a certain point of inefficiency and inefficient cost spending. In the long term, this can be reversed only if other monitored parameters of the construction project can guarantee economy and efficiency [2,3]. These parameters are such as for example use of prefabricated building components with a reduced carbon footprint in production, components with a reduced ability to emit pollutants into environment, components with a reduced overall environmental impact of production, etc. [4,5]. To ensure sustainability in construction, these parameters should be followed [6,7]. The life cycle environmental impact of prefabricated wood-based constructions can be assessed by the software Athena [8].

The off-site construction ranges manufacture and assembly of prefabricated components on various material bases such as wood, concrete, steel and their combinations. From logistics point of view, the planning of a nice flow of resources needs to be carried out for both framework construction products and finishing construction products (e.g., for prefabricated building façade systems) in all construction segments [9]. In order to be effective, the construction logistics could largely follow the example of other industries. The production of building components for direct assembly into a building is a characteristic feature of prefabrication. This develops the possibility of Just-in-time construction without need to store prefabricated construction products at the manufacturer and it also eliminates the storage of products in various intermediate warehouses within the supply chain. Over the last half century, many manufacturers in off-site construction have sought to achieve the "Zero Inventory (ZI)" production. The logistics processes are also affected by the Fourth industrial revolution. In particular, it concerns the automation of storage in order to facilitate storing and dispatching operations. The Zero-Warehousing Smart Manufacturing (ZWSM) production platform was developed in Hong Kong. This concerns the principle of avoiding traditional storage operations and reducing storage spaces to a minimum. The platform is based on the use of synchronization, unitization and the Internet of



Things (IoT) enabled infrastructures. The authors of the ZWSM applied the platform to a case study of a prefabricated construction project in Hong Kong, in which they pointed out the success of zero storage of prefabricated elements [10,11].

Loss of productivity through delays and interruptions of works on site is one from significant problems in the construction. This can be caused by collisions in workforce, material and machinery. Improvement of construction logistics efficiency, concerning the flow of material and products from factories to the place of installation on a construction site, is one from the central needs of the construction industry. To examine the efficiency of integrated construction supply chain logistics, a research study has been conducted in the United Kingdom [11]. The 4D Building Information Models (BIMs) were applied in the research. As the research results demonstrated, the 4D BIMs are not yet widely used in practice to plan and monitor supply chains during construction.

The flow of material to a construction site is characterized by two types of construction supplies. It is a supply of common piece materials and a supply of prefabricated components. The cost of delivery of building material in both on-site and off-site construction methods can be optimized with the help of appropriate logistics planning. In both types of construction, the plan of

a logistics system for efficient construction processes seems to be a problem. It is necessary to solve tasks with timely delivery and storage of material. The aim is to optimize the efficient use of resources and to reduce traffic related to construction tasks to a minimum. The adoption of CCC – Construction Consolidation Centre (Figure 1) is one of ways to achieve this goal [12].



Figure 1 Principles of a construction consolidation center (CCC), adapted from Lundesjo (2015) [12]

The Construction Consolidation Centre (CCC) is a distribution facility that can be used in the process of managing project logistics, channelling material deliveries to a large, single construction site or to several different construction sites (Figure). It facilitates the efficient flow of materials through the supply chain, reduces waste and other problems such as goods flow congestion. Building materials are delivered from suppliers to CCC where they are stored until the delivery to the construction site is required [12].

To understand the importance of logistics in construction projects, the concept of the logistics in construction should be accordingly defined. The logistics is defined as planning, execution and control of the procurement, transport and placement of material, human and other resources to achieve the objectives of a construction project. The transfer of prefabricated components from the manufacturing plant to the construction site is a simple illustration of logistics for construction sites supply. When prefabricated panels are delivered to assembly site, a lifting equipment will be needed to install the prefabricated components directly from the vehicle, i.e., cantilevered construction. Prefabricated panels represent the material, a lifting crane is the equipment and there is also a crew of workers who will assemble the panels. The logistics allows getting all three components of resources to the same place at the same time. Moreover, the logistics has a significant impact on profitability. If the crane is not in the place when it is to be, the crews cannot start assembly works. They receive their hourly wage despite the fact the crane is not ready for assembly and assembly cannot begin [13]. In addition, as far as construction process, the delay of one activity makes it impossible to start the next one. Thus, the construction readiness for the following crews will not be maintained. If execution of some critical path activity (CPM - Critical Path Method) is delayed along of poor logistics and wrong organization (Figure 2), the construction time of the whole project will be extended [14].





Figure 2 CPM [14] and Histogram of human resources and S-curve [15]

If prefabricated panels are installed late, the following professions can also be delayed, for example, partitions assembly, electrical installations, air conditioning, installation of floors and other trades. In the preliminary phase of a construction project, the general contractor must make a construction schedule for each stage of the project. The time plan must contain an overall list of materials, equipment and tools needed for each stage of the project. This involves planning the flow of resources with the help of histograms of workers, equipment, and materials (Figure 2). Advance planning helps ensure the right materials are in place every day so that construction teams can work without any interruption. Logistic planning also means that materials are stored in adequate quantities, are easy to locate and easy to handle.

2 Methodology

A carefully planned logistics of production resources can ensure the efficiency and economy of construction process. The presented study deals with the construction of wood-based family house. The impact of transport cost on the total construction cost is examined. The transport cost is one of the factors that must never be neglected in issues of optimization of construction from prefabricated components. Many off-site construction companies don't provide their services to long distances from their factories. The reason usually lies in the failure to manage the logistics of the project. On account the lack of right logistics, excessively high transport cost in relation to transport of prefabricated components from factory to construction site are calculated.

2.1 The transport of wood-based prefabricated components

In off-site construction, the transport of prefabricated components is an important loop between the components manufacturing in factory and assembly on construction site. The transport involves i) off-site transport – shifting from factory to site and ii) on-site transport – shifting within construction site area. The off-site transport is represented by horizontal transport to longer distances.

Components are by goods vehicles shifted from a factory to storage area on construction site or to some assembly equipment (in case of cantilevered construction). Even if, the railway transport is applied in the construction sector, the transport of components for wood-based prefabricated construction projects is mostly realized by means of vehicles. The transport of components within area of construction site can be horizontal or vertical to short distances; several types of vehicles and cranes are applied. Prefabricated components are stacked on a vehicle with respect to a construction schedule. The installation sequence should be taken into account. The plan should ensure a right layout of the components on the vehicle for the purpose of well-organized successive taking of material during assembly without placing it in the storage place. Both types of transport can be used to transport different types of prefabricated components. The prefabricated products involve beams, flat walls and modular components. It is important to plan a reasonable logistical flow of all the resources - material, equipment, and human - for a whole off-site construction project.

The case study involves three different construction systems of wood-based buildings: i.) the panel construction system ii) the column-beam construction system, and iii) the system of "Structural Insulated Panels (SIPs)". The construction cost (involving cost of labour and material), the equipment rental cost and the transport cost with regard to the specific available logistics chains were estimated for the three mentioned variants of construction system of a wood-based family house.

The model building of the wood-based family house in Pezinok, which is located about 17 km from Bratislava, was applied in the case study.

2.2 The types of analysed construction systems

The panel construction system of the family house is characterized by large-scale panels, manufactured in a factory and assembled on a building site. The panels are delivered to construction site in the third stage of prefabrication – with windows installed (Figure 3).





Figure 3 The panel construction system

The column-beam construction system is characterized by framed light-weight construction from structural timber elements (Figure 4). The principle of the construction system was taken from America and Canada, and nowadays, it is the most widespread construction system of wood-based family houses in Canada.



Figure 4 The column-beam construction system

The construction system based on Structural Insulated Panels (SIPs) is characterized by modern sandwich construction (Figure 5), the core of which consists of hardened polystyrene and is clad with oriented strand boards (OSB). Unlike classic wood-based buildings, the cross-section of the construction doesn't contain a wooden frame.



Figure 5 The construction system of Structural Insulated Panels (SIPs)

2.3 The transport distances in the case study

To estimate the transport cost of the wood-based construction in the three mentioned variants of the construction system, the model case of the family house in Pezinok was seen about. The town of Pezinok is located about 17 km from Bratislava (BA), the capital of Slovakia. To determine the transport cost, the transport of the components from the city of Bratislava to the town of Pezinok was considered. The following list of suppliers of construction material for the studied construction systems introduces the distances from factories or from warehouses to construction site in Pezinok:

- supplier of the structural timber: Sawmill Holz transport BA the transport distance 22 km,
- construction material: Building materials Woodcote BA the transport distance 17 km,
- trussed tie-beams: Dachteam BA the transport distance 17 km,
- gypsum fibre boards: Baustoffmetal the transport distance 19 km,
- windows: Incon BA the transport distance 22 km,
- Structural insulated panels: Europanel BA the transport distance 22 km.



2.4 The estimation of construction costs of the model wood-based building

The construction costs were estimated with the help of software Cenkros4. It is the most used construction cost estimating software in Slovakia. It enables efficient processing of price offers with current prices of building materials and construction works. The software uses the database of building materials, which is processed by Cenekon as the largest supplier of price list databases in Slovakia. The construction costs were calculated on the basis of design documents of the three construction systems of wood-based buildings.

3 Result and discussion

We can say that siting of the presented family house in Pezinok is strategically advantageous in terms of logistics of construction resources. In the vicinity of the capital, it is possible to provide a logistics network of resources at much good level. If delivery of some source fails during the construction process, it is possible to replace it with another source, without increasing cost and wasting time. In other places of the country, such an alternative replacement of resources could be considered as a logistical problem which can result in a significant increase in cost and in extension of construction time. Especially, when it is concerned the construction operations from the critical path in the CPM plan.

The transport of the wooden panels in the variant of the panel construction system is carried out by means of trucks. The layout of different pieces of perimeter and partition panels on the truck is in suit with the assembly order of the family house. The perimeter and partition panels and trussed tie-beams are transported in a vertical position, i.e., in the position in which they are to be installed in the house. If horizontal components, such as floors and finished roof parts, should also be used, the same logic would apply. Thus, the components should be lying in a horizontal position and in the order of assembly. In the case of this construction system, the storage of components are unloaded by crane directly from the truck and are assembled into the building.

The transport of the components in the case of the column-beam construction system is carried out by the flatbed vehicles with a mechanical arm. The timber elements should lie on three base prisms, in a horizontal position. The timber elements and other elements of the column-beam construction system must be protected from the weather by covering with a tarpaulin. The Fermacell gypsum fibre boards and Isover insulation boards should be placed under the roof inside the building, in order to protect them against possible moisture.

There are a few simple rules for transporting the components for the building based on the SIPs. The rules are important to follow. The panels must always be transported and stored horizontally. Unloading on the construction site can be done by hands, as the heaviest panel weight is about 80 kg. When shifting by hands, it is important not to pull the top OSB of the SIPs. When storing, it is necessary to place the panels on three thin plates (it the beginning, in the centre and at the end), so that the panel is in a horizontal position. The panels can be stacked on the top of each other and the maximum load on the bottom panel is 1500 kg. The panels and other components of the building based on SIPs must be protected from the weather.

One of deficiencies in transport, storage and assembly of the family house lies in the fact that in all three variants of the construction system, the prefabricated components are not provided with Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) tags. From logistics point of view, the tags would simplify the identification of the components in the overall construction. Several research studies suggest that construction is one from the least digitized industries [16,17]. Recently published academic research and industry reports in the fields of Industry 4.0 and smart manufacturing of various components are also examined to provide detailed information on the current implementation of Industry 4.0 principles in various sectors of the economy [18]. In the presented case study of the family house, the costs related to transport of the prefabricated components to the construction site are calculated individually in the different construction systems of wood-based building. Based on the calculations, the resulting values of the costs are presented in the following graphs (Figure 6).

In available price-list databases of construction materials, the transport cost is involved in the unit price of each construction material if transport distance from a warehouse to a construction site is no more than 50 kilometres. Thus, the transport cost is included in the item "Material" provided that the transport distance is up to 50 kilometres (Figure 6). In case of prefabricated components that are not covered in the databases, the transport cost must be calculated individually in accordance with the distance from a factory to a construction site. The individual transport costs are presented by the item "Material Transport". Following the carrying companies, the calculation of individual transport costs involves a flat rate and the tariff rate depending on the number of kilometres from a warehouse to a construction site. In all three variants of the construction system, the construction cost of the family house is comparable. The construction cost of the wood-based family house is as follows: i) 33 568.92 EUR in the panel construction system, ii) 31 505.54 EUR in the column-beam construction system and iii) 34 379.87 EUR in the construction system based on SIPs. The highest transport $\cos t - 1.30\%$ of the total construction cost - was found in the variant of the columnbeam construction system. In the study, the SIPs based construction system is characterized by the medium-large transport cost - 1.04% of the total construction cost. In the variant of the panel construction system, the transport cost



is only 0.13% of the total construction cost. Such a low value of the transport cost was achieved mainly due to

small distance from the production plant of prefabricated wooden panels to the construction site in Pezinok.



Figure 6 The cost of the material transport within total construction cost in three variants of the construction system (from the left): the panel construction system, the column-beam construction system, the SIPs system

4 Conclusions

When choosing the material base of a building, the investor makes decisions in accordance with the purchase cost. In marketing presentations of wood-based constructions, a reduction in the construction cost is initially expected, compared to a masonry construction system. However, in practice, the higher cost of woodbased buildings compared to masonry structures, is often proven. The prefabricated components make a higher cost of the wood-based construction system compared to a masonry construction system. The higher price of prefabricated houses is compensated by higher construction quality, higher accuracy in details and especially by better speed of construction. To ensure efficiency, economy and competitiveness, the contractors in off-site construction must make a precise plan of the logistic flows of construction resources, such as material, workforce and equipment. The contractors of prefabricated wooden buildings must count on the overhead costs associated with the production of prefabricated components, the operation of production plant with equipment, more demanding transport and assembly equipment and the overall logistics plan so that all resources are in the right place at the right time. The transport cost and the transport and storage methods of three presented variants of wood-based constructions -i.) the panel construction system, ii.) the column-beam construction system, and iii.) the construction system based on SIPs - are analysed in the paper. Managing logistics issues before and during construction will ensure that critical processes are completed at the right time and thus, the delivery dates are honoured. The analysis and the proposal of a methodology for the use of existing Advanced Planning & Scheduling (APS) methods to optimise and to improve the production and logistics planning in the segment of prefabricated buildings in Slovakia will be the subjects of the further research.

Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to the Scientific Grant Agency of the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sports and of the Slovak Academy of Sciences (Grant No. VEGA – 1/0557/18 Research and development process and product innovations of modern methods of construction in the context of the Industry 4.0 principles) for financial support of this work.

References

- [1] AKYAZY, T., ALVAREZ, I., ALBERDI, E., OYARBIDE-ZUBILLAGA, A., GOTI, A., BAYON, F.: Skills needs of the civil engineering sector in the european union countries: Current situation and future trends, *Applied Sciences (Switzerland)*, Vol. 10, No. 20, pp. 1-24, 2020. doi:10.3390/app10207226
- [2] RENZ, A., SOLAS, M.Z.: Shaping the Future of Construction Industry Institute: A Breakthrough in Mindset and Technology, Industry Agenda: World Economic Forum, Geneva, Switzerland, 2016.
- [3] KAPLINSKI, O.: Innovative Solutions in Construction Industry, Review of 2016–2018 Events and Trends, *Engineering Structures and Technologies*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 27-33, 2018. doi:10.3846/est.2018.1469
- [4] WANG, C.C., SEPAZGOZAR, S.M.E., WANG, M., SUN, J., NING, X.: Green performance evaluation system for energy-efficiency-based planning for construction site layout, *Energies*, Vo. 12, No. 24, pp. 1-21, 2019. doi:10.3390/en12244620
- [5] TAŽIKOVÁ, A., TALIAN, J., GALLA, J.: Analysis of prefabricated systems in the construction of family houses, *TEM Journal*, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 959-965, 2020. doi:10.18421/TEM93-17
- [6] KIM, K.H., JEON, J.Y.: Evaluation of construction cost, time, and sustainable attributes of drywalls supported by resilient channels, *Sustainability*



(Switzerland), Vol. 12, No. 19, pp. 1-13, 2020. doi:10.3390/su12198102

[7] ŠVAJLENKA, J., KOZLOVSKÁ, M.: Evaluation of the efficiency and sustainability of timber-based construction, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 259, No. 20, pp. 1-12, 2020.

doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120835

- [8] FRENETTE, C.D., BULLE, C., BEAUREGARD, R., SALENIKOVICH, A., DEROME, D.: Using life cycle assessment to derive an environmental index for lightframe wood wall assemblies, *Building and Environment*, Vol. 45, No. 10, pp. 2111-2122, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2010.03.009
- [9] STRUKOVÁ, Z., BAŠKOVÁ, R., TAŽIKOVÁ, A.: A comparative case study of selected prefab façade systems, Advances and Trends in Engineering Sciences and Technologies III- Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Engineering Sciences and Technologies, ESaT 2018, Vysoké Tatry, Slovakia, pp. 585-590, 2018. doi:10.1201/9780429021596
- [10] LYU, Z., LIN, P., GUO, D., HUANG, G.Q.: Towards Zero-Warehousing Smart Manufacturing from Zero-Inventory Just-In-Time production, *Robotics and Computer-Integrated Manufacturing*, Vol. 64, pp. 1-11, 2020. doi:10.1016/j.rcim.2020.101932
- [11] MAGILL, L.J., JAFARIFAR, N., WATSON, A., OMOTAYO, T.: 4D BIM integrated construction supply chain logistics to optimise on-site production, *International Journal of Construction Management*, Vol. 2020, No. July, pp. 1-10, 2020. doi:10.1080/15623599.2020.1786623

[12] LUNDESJO, G.: Supply Chain Management and Logistics in Construction: Delivering Tomorrow's Built Environment, Kogan Page, 2015.

Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 65-71 ISSN 1339-5629

- [13] Logistics on construction site, [Online], Available: https://www.assignar.com/au/construction/importanc e-logistics-construction-sites [20 Oct 2020], 2020.
- [14] ARASZKIEWICZ, K.: Application of Critical Chain Management in Construction Projects Schedules in a Multi-Project Environment: A Case Study, *Procedia Engineering*, Vol. 182, pp. 33-41, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.proeng.2017.03.108
- [15] DEARDORFF, D.S.: Leading Project Management Efficiency & Effectiveness with Simulations, Personal and Organizational Knowledge, News from the Peak, Vol. 7, 2012. [Online], Available: http://www.rockypeaklc.com/newsletter7.html, [18 Oct 2020], 2012.
- [16] GREIF, T., STEIN, N., FLATH, C.M.: Peeking into the void: Digital twins for construction site logistics, *Computers in Industry*, Vol. 121, pp. 1-9, 2020. doi:10.1016/j.compind.2020.103264
- [17] FATORACHIAN, H., KAZEMI, H.: A critical investigation of Industry 4.0 in manufacturing: theoretical operationalisation framework, *Production Planning and Control*, Vol. 29, No. 8, pp. 633-644, 2018. doi:10.1080/09537287.2018.1424960

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



tica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 73-81 ISSN 1339-5629



ANALYSIS OF INTERNAL LOGISTIC COST ON EXPORTS OF PERUVIAN COFFEE IN THE PERIOD 2015 – 2019

Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya; Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo; Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica; Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos; Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.206

Received: 17 Nov. 2020; Revised: 26 Jan. 2021; Accepted: 07 Feb. 2021

ANALYSIS OF INTERNAL LOGISTIC COST ON EXPORTS OF PERUVIAN COFFEE IN THE PERIOD 2015 – 2019

Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya

Continental University, Faculty of Business Sciences, Av. San Carlos 1980, Huancayo, Peru 75528061@continental.edu.pe

Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo

Continental University, Faculty of Business Sciences, Av. San Carlos 1980, Huancayo, Peru 70034541@continental.edu.pe

Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica

Continental University, Faculty of Business Sciences, Av. San Carlos 1980, Huancayo, Peru

71996018@continental.edu.pe Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos

Continental University, Faculty of Business Sciences, Av. San Carlos 1980, Huancayo, Peru wvicente@continental.edu.pe (corresponding author)

Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

Continental University, Faculty of Business Sciences, Av. San Carlos 1980, Huancayo, Peru cgalarza@continental.edu.pe

Keywords: logistics costs, transport, cluster, security, corridors

Abstract: The objective of the research was to analyse the main components of internal logistics costs that are shown in the process of Peruvian coffee exports in the period 2015-2019. This study used various government sources, document review, and extraction of information systems. To do this we take into account 6 departments with greater coffee production, connected with three logistics corridors that have as a starting point the production areas and reach the export channels of Callao and Paita. Also, using the information gathered from the logistic cost of both countries is higher than 14.1% (Latin American average), taking into account that in both countries the only internal logistic costs, since these are affected in the final price of coffee and the profitability of the Peruvian farmer.

1 Introduction

Currently, transport logistics is one of the fundamental pillars within the exporting companies, it has a great impact on the world economy, and is one of the indicators that have the greatest influence on the price of goods and services offered in national and international markets. Another important aspect to be assessed is the efficient organization of distribution and transport of goods since it plays a key role in the integration and coordination of logistics factors [1].

Inside agro-industrial exports, coffee is the leading product in Peru and globally ranks ninth behind Brazil and Colombia [2]. Peru is the eighth largest coffee producer in the world and the quality of its product is increasingly recognized in the international market due to its great organoleptic properties [3]. Since 2008, coffee has been considered a flagship product because of its value in the agro-export basket and because it influenced the economy of rural families, considering that the total number of farmers engaged in the cultivation makes up 95% and are small producers. 91% of the cultivated hectares of coffee, are accentuated in 6 departments. The total production of

coffee within the country covers 19 regions, 63 provinces and 449 districts [2].

Because the coffee production plants are far from the city, a logistic transport system is created for the proper distribution of the merchandise. The main component of the total cost of Peruvian agro-industrial companies is logistics costs, ranging from 20% to 50% of the total cost, with coffee being the most efficient product in its logistics costs with 21.2% [4]. There are three coffee corridors: the Tocache-Zarumilla corridor, which connects the northern cluster formed by Amazonas, Cajamarca and San Martín (55.6% of total production) with the port of Paita; and the Satipo-Callao and Cusco-Callao corridors, which connect Junín (27.5% of total production) and Cusco (16.8% of total production) with the port of the capital, respectively. The production is transported to the collection centres in these same departments, or it is collected by intermediaries (collectors) who sell the product to processors, traders or exporters. Finally, the coffee is destined for the foreign market through the ports of Callao and Paita [5].


Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya; Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo; Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica; Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos; Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

2 Literature review

2.1 Internal transport

According to P. Dorta [6], road freight transport is a key part of the logistics chain, mainly in the supply and distribution processes, but transport is closely related in the production processes, that is why it depends on the logistics chain.

The transport system includes the management of means, modes, loading, unloading and terminal infrastructure [7]. Also, safety, speed and regularity are indicators that help measure the performance of the transport system. The means of transport must have the necessary infrastructure in the roads, ports and airports, and must be modernized according to the needs and changes of the country.

According to J. Rojas [8] in his research article, he stated that the purpose of the transport sector is to deliver the cargo at the agreed destination, in a timely manner and preserving the integrity of the merchandise and how this is carried out raises a supply chain management system of land transport companies that can reverse internal transport non-conformities. Where I come to the conclusion that the figures for loss of merchandise and untimely deliveries reflect that an investigation is necessary to investigate the relationship of these events with the management systems.

According to F. Huamán & X. Puente [9], the objective of their research is to identify the relationship that exists between the costs and export competitiveness of blueberry exporting companies in 2016. The descriptivecorrelational methodology was used where the different elements that influence this variable and appropriate strategies were applied to obtain great benefits to exporters, where the result was that there is a relationship between local transport and export competitiveness.

2.2 Logistics costs

Within the logistics field, logistics costs are related to the functions of a company that allows managing and controlling the flow of materials and information.

In addition, logistics costs are a fundamental part of logistics operations, where these costs are reflected in the movement of the product, from the warehouse to the port of departure of a country, the costs in which the merchandise consumes time, and the costs that they generate the logistics operations within the distribution process, whether from one origin to one destination, from one destination to many and from many to many [10].

The logistics costs include traffic and means of transport, storage, transfer of materials, supply, packaging and distribution [11].

According to M, Bossio; E. Cotillo & M. Delgado [12] carried out an investigation in which he described and analysed the different costs that encompass the international logistics activities that may arise at the time of developing an export, the topics discussed are based on the research of supplier's logistics service and

specifications that must be met in each of the related entities to develop the export. It was concluded that the costs of the activities involved in the international logistics of an export product influence business management.

According to J. Luyo & V. Quispe [13] in his research work, he aimed to demonstrate the economic impact caused by the logistical costs on supply chain management in companies in the cosmetics sector. Where the mixed research method was used in which processes were identified tasks involved in supply chain management. it was concluded that logistics costs will have a positive impact on supply chain management in companies.

2.3 External transport

International transport is an important element in international trade logistics and should be used to get merchandise to the country of destination [14].

External transport implies the use of different means to carry out the mobility of the merchandise, where there are two modes of transport such as multimodal and intermodal. External transport in its entirety has always been intermodal, since goods have moved from their origin to their destination by changing the mode of transport, depending on the technology available at the time [15].

According to D. Ballestero [16] the external transport is made up of appropriate means of transport according to the type of load (liquids, gas, bulk materials, and unit loads), likewise, they include activities such as unitarization of the loads, palletization, unloading, and arrival at the destination port where there is a formalized system for planning and controlling the operation of the external transport system that guarantees the maximum use of the resources and a high level of service in the distribution and delivery of the products to the consumer. The physical and environmental conditions of the handling tasks, as well as those of load transport, guarantee adequate conservation of these and safe work with high protection for workers and operators.

According to F. Colque [17], the objective of the research was to determine the effect of international freight transport by road on economic competitiveness based on optimal cost-efficiency criteria. The inductive-descriptive methodology was used, wherefrom the particular diagnosis of two central variables: economic competitiveness and international transport, it was possible to identify those adverse factors so that in this way the problem environment can be defined with greater precision. In summary, international road freight transport had positive effects on economic competitiveness based on cost-efficiency criteria.

3 Methodology

The method used in this research is analyticdescriptive, where we designed a field study based on the documentary review of the 6 departments with the highest



Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya; Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo; Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica; Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos; Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

participation in the coffee production in Peru, corresponding to the period 2015-2019.

According to [2], in Peru there are 19 regions that grow coffee, however, only 6 of these covers 91% of the total production, consisting of: San Martin (22.2%), Junín (27.5%), Cajamarca (20.9%), Cusco and Puno (16.8%), and Amazonas (12.5%). There are three coffee corridors in Peru:

- The corridor Tocache-Zarumilla, which is connected by the cluster North, formed by San Martin, Amazonas, and Cajamarca, and count for 55.5% of the national production of Coffee.
- The Satipo-Callao corridor, which connects to the Junín cluster, where the largest source of production is located in the provinces of Satipo and Chanchamayo, with 17.1% and 10.4% of coffee production, respectively.
- The Cusco-Callao corridor, connected to the Cusco cluster, where production is mainly centred in La Convención, which is the second most relevant coffee province in Peru with approximately 14% of national production [5].

Cluster	Cluster Departments Corporate name			
		Café Monteverde	24.825%	
		Cooperativa agraria Rodriguez de Mendoza	20.34%	
	Amazonas	Cooperativa agraria ecológica cafetalera de Lonya Grande	19.36%	
		Café El Bosque S.R. L	% Part. 24.825% 20.34% 19.36% 9.53% 7.26% 46.00% 18.85% 11.30% 8.06% 4.00% 22.67% 18.43% 11.69% 10% 9.13% 16.95% 13.51% 12.28% 11.99% 10.39% 9.02% 20.32% 19.35% 17.35%	
		Cooperativa agraria Juan Marco el Palto	7.26%	
		Cooperativa agraria cafetalera Alto Mayo	46.00%	
		Comercio Amazonia SA	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	
North	San Martin	Comercio & CIA S. A		
		Asociación agroexportadora de la región San Martín	8.06%	
		Cooperativa de servicios múltiples bosque del Alto Mayo LTDA	4.00%	
		Olam Agro Peru S.A.C.	22.67%	
		Cooperativa de servicios múltiples Cenfrocafe S.A.C.	18.43%	
	Cajamarca	Compañía Internacional de café S.A.C.	11.69% 10%	
		Louis Dreyfus Company Peru S.R.L.		
		Comercio Amazonia S.A.	9.13%	
		Rainforest Trading S.A.C	16.95%	
		Cooperativa Agroecológica Industrial Juan Santos Atahualpa	13.51%	
Contro	Iunín	Cooperativa Agraria Cafetalera ACPC Pichanaki	12.28%	
Cenue	Juiiii	Kaffee Peru G1 S.A.C.	11.99%	
		Cooperativa Agraria Cafetalera Sostenible Valle Ubiriki	10.39%	
		Cooperativa Agraria Cafetalera la Florida	9.02%	
		Agroindustrial y Comercial Arriola e Hija	20.32%	
		Central de Cooperativa Agrarias Cafetaleras Cocla Ltda. Nº 281	19.35%	
South	Cusco	Cooperativa Agraria Cafetalera Huadquiña Ltda. 109	20.34% 19.36% 9.53% 7.26% 46.00% 18.85% 11.30% 8.06% 4.00% 22.67% 18.43% 11.69% 10% 9.13% 16.95% 13.51% 12.28% 11.99% 10.39% 9.02% 20.32% 19.35% 17.35% 12.82% 11.09% 58.97% 41.03%	
		Cooperativa Agraria Cafetalera San Fernando Ltda.	12.82%	
		Coop Agraria Cafetalera José Olaya Ltda	11.09%	
	Duno	Cooperativa Agraria Cafetalera San Juan del oro	58.97%	
	Pullo	Cent. de Coop. Agr. Caf. Valles Sandia LTDA	41.03%	

Table 1 F	Participation	of the top	5 coffee	exporting	companies

Table 1 shows the participation of the main Peruvian coffee exporters, which are located within are located thin inside 6 regions with the highest coffee production. The purpose of this study is to analyze the impact of internal transport within the logistic costs for the export of Peruvian coffee. Besides, a comparative analysis was carried out between Peru and Colombia, on the internal transport costs of coffee exports.

4 Results

4.1 Analysis of internal transport

The only internal means of transport for coffee is by land (road), since not all coffee growers have direct access to the boarding exit. The truck is the most used means of transport in the first phase of the growing area to the 100% collection centre, the truck, in the second phase of the collection centre to the processing plant 92.4% and the rented truck, in the third phase of the processing plant to the terminal. Besides, the mule is also an option used by coffee growers [5].

This means of transport is used in the three phases of the coffee journey, these being the first phase from the cultivation area to the collection centre, the second phase from the collection centre to the processing plant, and the third phase from the processing plant to the boarding terminal.



Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya; Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo; Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica; Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos; Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

4.1.1 Phase 1 Production area (farm) to the collection centre

In Table 2, it is detailed that the most used means of transport in each section is the rented van, the type of road

is unpaved, the state in which it is in greatest proportion is bad, also the average period is between 1.5 and 2.4 hours, and the distance it covers varies according to the stage in the growing area to the collection centre [5].

Table 2 Characteristics of transport from the farm to the collection centre							
Phase 1	Tocache-Zarumilla	Satipo-Callao	Cusco-Callao				
Means of transport	Rented van (100 %)	Rented van (64.9%)	Rented van (100%)				
Type of track	Not paved (100%)	Not paved (81.3%)	No paved (100%)				
Track quality	Bad (100%)	Good (27.8%)	Bad (100%)				
Duration [hours]	Average 1.5	Average 2.4	Average 2				
Distance [km]	25.8	41.3	61.5				

4.1.2 Phases 2 Collection Centre to Processing Plant

In table 3, it is detailed that the most used means of transport in each section the rented truck, the type of road is asphalted, the state in which it is found in the highest

proportion is good, the period on average is between 1.7 and 10.9 hours, and the distance it travels varies according to the section in the phase from the collection centre to the processing plant [5].

|--|

Phase 2	Tocache-Zarumilla	Satipo-Callao	Cusco-Callao
Means of transport	Rented truck (81.3%)	Rented truck (53.9%)	Rented truck (100%)
Type of track	Asphalt 87.5%)	Asphalt (100%)	Asphalt (85%)
Track quality	Good (87.5%)	Good (73.1%)	Good (80%)
Duration [hours]	Average 1.7	Average 10.9	Average 6.5
Distance [km]	109.5	350	207.2

4.1.3 Phase 3 Processing plant to port of arrest

In table 4, it is detailed that the most used means of transport in each section the rented truck, the type of road is asphalted, the state in which it is in the highest proportion is good, he average period is between 2.1 and 28.5 hours, and the distance that it travels varies according to the section in the phase from the processing plant to the port of boarding [5].

Phase 3	Tocache-Zarumilla	Satipo-Callao	Cusco-Callao
Means of transport	Rented truck (100%)	Rented truck (72.7%)	Rented truck (100%)
Type of track	Asphalt (75%)	Asphalt (81.8%)	Asphalt (75%)
Track quality	Good (50%)	Good (100%)	Good (50%)
Duration [hours]	Average 15	Average 2.1	Average 28.5
Distance [km]	401	30	818.3

4.2 Analysis of logistics cost

Calculations were made for the period 2015-2019, using the FOB price in the main seaport of Peru and breaking down the logistics costs in the process of exporting coffee up to the cost of production, a price was obtained based on the theoretical cost collected from Peruvian Agricultural Exports, also government information was obtained from the Ministry of Foreign Trade and Tourism, where we collected the percentages of the logistics costs of coffee, and the cost of production, this information was used as a reference for comparison between different routes of the exports of coffee where we can see the different logistics costs for each corridor.

Figure 1 shows the percentages that make up the process of the logistical costs of exporting roasted coffee from Peru. Being these, treatment, transport, loading and unloading, transport node, permits and certifications, financial, losses and security, giving a total of 17.23%, 24.23%, 21.56% of the sections Tocache-Zarumilla, Satipo-Callao and Cusco-Callao respectively [5].



Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya; Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo; Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica; Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos; Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena



Figure 1 Coffee logistics costs by corridors Source: Developed by the author based on [5]

In table 5, the fluctuations in exports of roasted coffee beans in the 2015-2019 period, in which, it was analysed that in 2016 USD 754,133,650 was exported in FOB value (placed in the port of shipment) with an average price of

Table 5 Evolution of coffee bean exports

Year	FOB USD Value	Net Weight [kg]	Average price USD/kg
2015	572.137.351	172909745	3.31
2016	754.133.650	238729933	3.16
2017	693.876.959	240058389	2.89
2018	677.191.484	259694556	2.61
2019	623.317.925	228992408	2.72

4.2.1 Cost assumptions

The cost report was made from the study of the Ministry of Transport and Communications (MTC), of the

USD 3,16, thus becoming the most representative year of the 5 years studied. Likewise, it is observed that in the last three years compared to 2016 exports were decreasing, with a lower price of USD 3 per kilogram [18].

routes identified for the export of roasted coffee, where the following corridors are shown: San Martín-Zarumilla, Satipo-Callao, and Puno-Callao. The steps involved in exporting the coffee to the shipping destination, start from the production areas, collection centre, processing plant, transport and export terminals.

Table 6 shows the estimated production costs (82.77%) and logistics costs (17.23%) of the Tocache-Zarumilla section, in which we identify the procedures that make up the logistical costs in the export of roasted coffee beans is analysed that 20% is for losses, 19% is the financial costs, followed by 18% is treatment and finally, 14% belongs to transport [5].

Tocache–Zarumilla								
	Year		2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	
Costs of production (82.77%)		2.739687	2.615532	2.392053	2.160297	2.251344		
	Treatment	3.10%	0.10261	0.09796	0.08959	0.08091	0.08432	
	Transportation	2.36%	0.078116	0.074576	0.068204	0.061596	0.064192	
	Loading and unloading	1.98%	0.065538	0.062568	0.057222	0.051678	0.053856	
Logistic	Port node	0.60%	0.01986	0.01896	0.01734	0.01566	0.01632	
costs	Permits and certifications	0.95%	0.031445	0.03002	0.027455	0.024795	0.02584	
(17.23%)	Financial	3.23%	0.106913	0.10206	0.09334	0.08430	0.087856	
	Shrinkage	3.41%	0.11287	0.107756	0.098549	0.089001	0.092752	
	Security	1.60%	0.05296	0.05056	0.04624	0.04176	0.04352	
	FOB Average USD/k	cg	3.31	3.16	2.89	2.61	2.72	

Table 6 Assumption of logistics costs for the Tocache-Zarumilla section

Table 7 shows the estimated production costs (75.77%) and logistics costs (24.23%) of the Satipo-Callao section, in which we identify the procedures that make up the

logistics costs in the export of roasted coffee beans is analysed that 34% is safety, 24% is the cost of



Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya; Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo; Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica; Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos; Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

transportation, followed by 15% is of the losses and finally, 8% belongs to loading and unloading [5].

Satipo–Callao							
	Year		2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
	Costs of production (75.77%)		2.507987	2.394332	2.189753	1.977597	2.060944
	Treatment	1.99%	0.065869	0.062884	0.057511	0.051939	0.054128
	Transportation	5.83%	0.192973	0.184228	0.168487	0.152163	0.158576
	Loading and unloading	2.05%	0.067855	0.06478	0.059245	0.053505	0.05576
Logistic	Port node	0.72%	0.023832	0.022752	0.020808	0.018792	0.019584
costs	Permits and certifications	0.84%	0.027804	0.026544	0.024276	0.021924	0.022848
(24.23%)	Financial	1.07%	0.035417	0.033812	0.030923	0.027927	0.029104
	Shrinkage	3.53%	0.116843	0.111548	0.102017	0.092133	0.096016
	Security	8.21%	0.271751	0.259436	0.237269	0.214281	0.223312
	FOB Average USD/kg		3.31	3.16	2.89	2.61	2.72

Table 7 Assumption of logistics costs for the Satipo-Callao section

Table 8 shows the estimated production costs (78.44%) and logistics costs (24.23%) of the Cusco-Callao section, in which we identify the procedures that make up the logistical costs in the export of roasted coffee beans is

analysed that 24% is of losses, 23% is the cost of security, followed by 21% is of transport and finally 10% belongs to treatment [5].

Table 8 Assumption of logistics costs for the Cusco-Callao section	ı
--------------------------------------------------------------------	---

Cusco–Callao								
	Year		2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	
	Costs of production (78.44%)		2.596364	2.478704	2,266916	2.047284	2.133568	
	Treatment	2.11%	0069841	0066676	0,060979	0.055071	0.057392	
	Transportation	4.55%	0.150605	0.14378	0,131495	0.118755	0.12376	
	Loading and unloading	2.03%	0.067193	0.064148	0,058667	0.052983	0.055216	
Logistic	Port node	0.83%	0.027473	0.026228	0,023987	0.021663	0.022576	
costs	Permits and certifications	0.69%	0.022839	0.021804	0,019941	0.018009	0.018768	
(21.56%)	Financial	1.11%	0.036741	0.035076	0,032079	0.028971	0.030192	
	Shrinkage	5.27%	0.174437	0.166532	0,152303	0.137547	0.143344	
	Security	4.97%	0.164507	0.157052	0,143633	0.129717	0.135184	
	FOB Average USD/kg		3.31	3.16	2.89	2.61	2.72	

4.3 Analysis of internal transport between Peru and Colombia

According to International Coffee Organization [19], in 2018 Colombia ranked third with 10.44% in the coffee export ranking, making a total of 12808 bags of 60 [kg] each. While Peru ranks in eighth place with 3.31%, making a total of 4064 bags of coffee.

In table 9, we observe that for 2016 Colombia was ranked 94th with a score of 2.6. Unlike 2018, in which it was ranked 58th, climbing 36 positions in the logistic performance ranking of 160 economic, where it also increased its score by 12.6%. The three best performing indicators were infrastructure, international shipping, and logistics competence. Occupying third place below Mexico and Brazil [20].

	2016		2018		Variation	
Country	Ranking	Score (1-5)	Ranking	Score (1-5)	Ranking	Score (1-5)
Brazil	55	3.09	56	2.99	↓ -1	↓-3.31%
Colombia	94	2.61	58	2.94	↑ 36	12.60%
Honduras	112	2.46	93	2.60	19	↑5.73%
Peru	69	2.89	83	2.69	↓ - 14	↓ -6.92%
Guatemala	111	2.48	125	2.41	↓ -14	↓-2.49%
México	54	3.11	51	3.05	↑ 3	↓ -2.01%

Table 9 Logistical performance of coffee-exporting countries

Taking into account the information collected from The International Coffee Organization, the World Bank & Veritrade, we chose Colombia, since it is positioned as the second coffee exporting country in South America and since there have been improvements in its score and position with compared to the 2016-2018 period in the



Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya; Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo; Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica; Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos; Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

logistic performance ranking, unlike Brazil which has experienced drops in previous years. Likewise, it is considered direct competition, because they have characteristics similar to Peruvian coffee, but with marked difference in the sustainability, the price and the consistency of the product. The latter means that in general terms Peruvian coffee continues to be seen as a complement to the offer [21].

Table 10 shows the Global Competitiveness Index (Transportation Infrastructure) for World Economic Forum [22], where Peru and Colombia 65th and 57th respectively in the global competitiveness ranking among 141 countries but rank 104th and 110th. While, for the export of coffee, Colombia has another alternative means of transport for the connectivity of land routes, in which it occupies a place in the rail density.

Table 10 Global Infrastructure Competitiveness

Ranking of 141 Countries							
	Global competitiveness	Infrastructure	Road quality	Road connectivity	Rail density	Efficiency of the services of trains	
Colombia	57	81	104	97	88	99	
Peru	65	97	110	102	-	-	

According to K. Alfonso [23], it was stated that the logistic cost of the country is 14.9%, which is above the average for Latin America (14.7%). The survey also found that the highest costs of this field in the country are in transportation and distribution (37%), storage (20%), procurement and management of suppliers (17%), order processing (10%), inventory planning and replenishment (9%) and reverse logistics (7%) (Table 11).

Table 11 Indicators of internal logistics costs in Colombia

Colombia-14.92%							
Transportation	Storage	Purchasing and supplier management	Processing customer orders	Inventories planning and replenishment	Reverse logistics		
37%	20%	17%	10%	9%	7%		

One of the differences that exist between Peru and Colombia within the export of roasted coffee beans is the logistics costs (Table 12). Where Colombia presents 14.97% of total sales [23], being smaller compared to Peru that has 21.2% of the total value of the product [4]. The internal transport in Peru and Colombia is between 20.4% and 37% respectively [23,24]. Also, roads are the most widely used type of transport in Peru, while roads and railways are used in Colombia.

Table 12 Logistical costs of Peru and Colombia						
	Peru Colombia					
Logistics cost	21%	14.97%				
% of internal transport	20.4%	37%				
Type of transport	Terrestrial (road)	Terrestrial (road-rail)				
Means of transport	Truck - Van - Mule	Truck - Van - Jeeps- pack animals - Train (Tertiarization)				

Table 12 Lociation

Discussion 5

The good climatic conditions and the fertility of its lands for the sowing and harvesting of coffee beans have made Peru one of the main coffees exporting countries in the world due to the great organoleptic properties it possesses. It also has 19 departments, of which only 6 have the largest production of coffee.

Within Peru, the production plants are far from the cities, therefore, a logistics transport system is created for the correct distribution of the goods.

Peru's logistics costs are above the Latin American average (14.7%). The highest costs of this field within the country the transportation (20.4%), decreases (19.2%), and security costs (24%) The best way to see how these costs affect the export of the product is through routes or corridors that start from your production area and reach your export channels. Peru has only one type of land transportation (road) for the mobilization of coffee through its three logistics corridors: Tocache-Zarumilla (San Martín 22.2%, Cajamarca 20.9% and Amazonas 12.5%) connected to the port of Paita; Satipo-Callao (Junín 27.5%); Cusco-Callao (Puno and Cusco 16.8%, in the Quillabamba sub-section) with exit to the port of Callao.

A consequence related to the unstable infrastructure of Peruvian transport, is insecurity, this because vehicles are forced to move slowly along roads in poor condition, which leads to a very tragic situation as they are an easy target for crime [5].

In Peru, 92 per cent of freight forwarders invest in security costs, in the phase from the collection centre to the



Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya; Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo; Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica; Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos; Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

boarding terminal. Where 69% opt for the mode of insurance for claims and 23% for armed protection. Most of the thefts occur in the vulnerable areas of the capital of Peru, adjacent to the port of Callao, where trucks are usually boarded by criminals while waiting on the access roads to the port.

6 Conclusion

This study analysed the documentary information of the internal transport costs for the export of Peruvian coffee, making a brief comparison between the three logistic corridors of coffee production was found that the highest logistical costs are in the corridors of Satipo-Callao and Cusco-Callao, which amount to between 21.26-24.23% of the final value of the product. Compared to the Tocache-Paita corridor, which has a lower logistics cost of 17.23%.

Because not all coffee growers have direct access to the shipping exits, they find it necessary to use the roads as their only means of transportation. In phase 1 from the cultivation area to the collection centre, the state of the roads through which the trucks travel is not paved within the three logistics corridors, while in phase 2 from the collection centre to the processing plant and Phase 3 from the processing plant to the port of shipment have asphalt roads. Thanks to the unstable Peruvian transport infrastructure, freight agents find themselves in need of purchasing various insurance against theft and claims. And all this leads to losses in costs, time, and merchandise.

Making a comparison with Colombia, we can say that both countries present the same problems in the domestic transport in the export of coffee. Due to this problem Colombia added an alternative means of internal transport that is the rail exclusively for the transportation of coffee from the collection centre to the port of boarding. While Peru continues with the same transport system.

For this reason, it is necessary to say that the internal transport has a greater impact on the logistics cost since its excessive costs are due to the deplorable state of the roads where the different means of transport transit and the informality within this process, affecting the final price of Peruvian coffee and the profitability of farmers.

References

- [1] FLORES, G., FLORES, A., ROMERO, A.: Contribution to the improvement of efficiency in the transport of goods, *Digital Journal of Science*, *Technology and Innovation*, Vol. 6, pp. 49-61, 2019.
- [2] INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE INNOVACIÓN AGRARIA: Systematization of the experience of coffee subprojects, National Agrarian Innovation Program, Lima, 2019.
- [3] EVANGELISTA, A., RUIZ, W.: Diagnóstico situacional de la oferta exportable de café tostado de la provincia de Satipo Junín al mercado chileno,

Universidad Peruana de Ciencias Aplicadas, Lima, 2020. (Original in Spanish)

- [4] DIARIO GESTIÓN: The 5 products that could reduce their export cost the most with logistics improvements, according to ROSALES, [Online], Available: https://gestion.pe/economia/5-productos-reducircosto-exportacion-mejoras-logisticas-267172noticia/?ref=gesr [05 Nov 2020], 2019.
- [5] BACHMAN, N.: Análisis Integral de la logística en el Perú, Ministerio de Comercio Exterior y Turismo, Lima, 2016. (Original in Spanish)
- [6] DORTA, P.: The international transport, *Canales* sectoriales Interempresas, Logistics, Storage and Freight, Vol. 2013, No. September, 2013.
- [7] SARACHE, W., CARDONA, C.: La logística de transporte: un elemento estratégico de desarrollo agroindustrial, *Repositorio de la Universidad Nacional de Colombia*, Vol. 3, No. 5, pp. 1-50, 2007. (Original in Spanish)
- [8] ROJAS, J.: Elements of management integration systems and their importance in the road freight production chain in Colombia, *Journal of ScienceDirect*, Vol. 5, No. 12, pp. 136-142, 2014.
- [9] HUAMAN, F., PUENTE, X.: El transporte local y su relación con la competitividad exportadora de las empresas exportadoras de arándanos en Trujillo, Universidad Peruana de Ciencias Aplicadas, Lima, 2018. (Original in Spanish)
- [10] CHINCHILLA, Y., SUÁREZ, N., ORJUELA, J.: Costos logísticos y metodologías para el costeo en cadenas de suministro: una revisión de la literature, *Journal of Scielo*, Vol. 17, No. 44, pp. 377-420, 2016. (Original in Spanish)
- [11] PINHEIRO, O., BREVAL, S., RODRÍGUEZ, C., FOLLMANN, N.: Una nueva definición de la logística interna y forma de evaluar la misma Ingeniare, *Journal of Redalyc*, Vol. 25, No. 2, pp. 264-276, 2017. (Original in Spanish)
- [12] BOSSIO, M., COTILLO, E., DELGADO, M.: Optimización de costos de la logística internacional de exportación de productos peruanos como elemento de mejora en la gestión empresarial caso: exportación de botellas con bebida de maca peruana, por el grupo Algana, Universidad Catolica Sedes Sapientiae, Lima, 2017. (Original in Spanish)
- [13] LUYO, J., QUISPE, V.: Los costos logísticos y su impacto en la gestión de la cadena de suministro en las empresas del sector cosmético de Lima Metropolitana, Universidad Peruana de Ciencias Aplicadas, Lima, 2018. (Original in Spanish)
- [14] LOPES, C., MORENO, D., VIDAL, J.: Las agencias de carga y los servicios de transporte en el comercio internacional de Bogotá, *Journal of Dialnet*, Vol. 28, No. 53, pp. 141-164, 2018. (Original in Spanish)
- [15] GONSALEZ, N.: Nuevas cadenas de transporte de mercancías generadas por las infraestructuras



Estefani Wendy Caballero Nonalaya; Stefany Guadalupe Coz Del Castillo; Imelda Sarai Veliz Huamantica; Wagner Enoc Vicente Ramos; Cinthia Viky Galarza Balbuena

logísticas de intercambio modal, *Journal of Redalyc*, No. 14, pp. 81-108, 2016. (Original in Spanish)

[16] BALLESTEROS, D., BALLESTEROS, P.: La logística competitiva y la administración de la cadena de suministros, *Journal of Redalyc*, Vol. 2004, No. 24, pp. 201-206, 2004. (Original in Spanish)

Acta logistica

- [17] COLQUE, F.: *Transporte Internacional y Competitividad Económica*, Universidad Mayor de San Andrés, La Paz, 2011. (Original in Spanish)
- [18] AGRODATA PERÚ: Exportaciones Agropecuarias del Perú. According to KOO, 31 Enero 2020, [online], Available: https://www.agrodataperu.com/2 020/01/cafe-grano-peru-exportacion-20189diciembre.html. [05 Nov 2020], 2020 (Original in Spanish)
- [19] International Coffee Organization, Exports of all forms of coffee by all exporting countries, International Coffee Organization, Londres, 2020.
- [20] WORLD BANK: Indice de Desempeño Logistico, 2018, [online], Available: https://datos.bancomundia l.org/indicador/LP.LPI.OVRL.XQ?end=2018&name _desc=false&start=2007&type=shaded&view=map &year=2018 [05 Nov 2020], 2018. (Original in Spanish)

- [21] CAFÉ Y CLIMA: *Estudio de Mercado del Café*, ALEPH SOLUCIONES GRÁFICAS, Lima, 2017. (Original in Spanish)
- [22] SCHWAB, K.: *The Global Competitiveness Report*, World Economic Forum, Switzerland, 2019.
- [23] LA REPÚBLICA: Bajar los costos de transporte del café es el principal reto de los exportadores, According to Alfonso, 7 Noviembre 2017, [online], Available: https://www.larepublica.co/economia/baj ar-los-costos-de-transporte-del-cafe-el-principalreto-para-los-exportadores-2566481 [05 Nov 2020], 2017. (Original in Spanish)
- [24] ASOCIACIÓN PERUANA DE AGENTES MARÍTIMOS: Los mayores costos logísticos están en el transporte y en las mermas, 2 Marzo 2018, [Online], Available: https://www.apamperu.com/web/asmarpe-los-mayores-costoslogisticos-estan-en-el-transporte-y-en-las-mermas/ [05 Nov 2020], 2018. (Original in Spanish)

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 8 2021 Issue: 1 Pages: 83-93 ISSN 1339-5629

MODELLING INNOVATIVE LOGISTIC CLUSTERS FOR REINFORCING INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC INTEGRATION USING AN EXAMPLE OF A METALLURGICAL COMPLEX Sofiya Shevtsova; Kamila Janovská; Daria Strapolova; Ivan Kuzin; Josef Kutáč; Tomáš Kutáč

doi:10.22306/al.v8i1.207

Received: 23 Nov. 2020; Revised: 09 Feb. 2021; Accepted: 01 Mar. 2021

MODELLING INNOVATIVE LOGISTIC CLUSTERS FOR REINFORCING INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC INTEGRATION USING AN EXAMPLE OF A METALLURGICAL COMPLEX

Sofiya Shevtsova

VSB – Technical University of Ostrava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology, Department of Economics and Management in Industry, 17. listopadu 2172/15, 708 00 Ostrava-Poruba, Czech Republic, EU, sofiya.shevtsova.st@vsb.cz

Kamila Janovská

VSB – Technical University of Ostrava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology, Department of Economics and Management in Industry, 17. listopadu 2172/15, 708 00 Ostrava-Poruba, Czech Republic, EU,

kamila.janovska@vsb.cz Daria Strapolova

VSB – Technical University of Ostrava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology, Department of Economics and Management in Industry, 17. listopadu 2172/15, 708 00 Ostrava-Poruba, Czech Republic, EU,

daria.strapolova.st@vsb.cz

Ivan Kuzin

VSB – Technical University of Ostrava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology, Department of Economics and Management in Industry, 17. listopadu 2172/15, 708 00 Ostrava-Poruba, Czech Republic, EU, ivan.kuzin.st@vsb.cz

Josef Kutáč

VSB – Technical University of Ostrava, Faculty of Materials Science and Technology, Department of Economics and Management in Industry, 17. listopadu 2172/15, 708 00 Ostrava-Poruba, Czech Republic, EU,

josef.kutac@vsb.cz (corresponding author)

Tomáš Kutáč

ArcelorMittal Tubular Products Karviná a.s., I.T. Center of Excellence - Business Automation Projects, Rudé Armády 471, 733 23 Karviná – Hranice, Czech Republic, EU, tomas.kutac@arcelormittal.com

Keywords: innovation, synergistic effect, logistic cluster, metallurgy

Abstract: The aim of the article is to present the proposed model of an international innovative logistics cluster, which aims to stimulate the renewal of the economic potential of all interested partners with a focus on the metallurgy. Experts analyse ongoing changes and trends that have affected business and logistics processes and define certain trends that could lead to an improvement in the situation, such as the use of a "Cluster strategy". The subject of the research is the analysis of the cooperation between international scientific organizations, research centers and companies within the proposed cluster. A model of the structure of the cluster was created, which will make it possible to monitor global processes in the field of economics and logistics. A simulation of the production of a new product was performed to verify the proposed cluster's expected effects. Therefore, a model was used to determine the value of the company to capture complex links. This model is based on Method DCF using structural analysis principles to objectively evaluate the influence of factors affecting the change of cost potential in the immediate vicinity of the enterprise. During the verification of specific data, the considered project's value was quantified, and obtained results showed that synergy effects could be expected. The verification results show that the interaction and cooperation between universities, research centers, and industrial enterprises at the international level can be made more efficient with an emphasis on effective and lasting cooperation in the field of innovation and technology transfer.

1 Introduction

The characteristic feature of the development of a socioeconomic strategy is using a "Cluster strategy." Prof. M. Porter introduced the cluster definition. The clusters were initially based on a given area's competitive advantage, and the corresponding cluster participants were concentrated exclusively on a geographical basis. In his research, Porter emphasized that it is necessary to combine

market efforts and concentration, allowing the given companies to achieve great results [1].

Using a sample of 310 cluster companies in Zhejiang, we find that a cluster company will increase its propensity for more geographic cross-border searches than local searches under competitive pressure [1].

Geographic clusters have been recently displaced by a promising new type of clusters - innovative clusters.





Innovative clusters are particularly typical for industrially developed countries, such as the USA, Canada, Italy, Germany, Czech Republic, and others. However, they are also starting to appear in developing countries, such as India, Brazil, or Russia. This type of the cluster differs because the companies that form a part of the given association do not necessarily have to be located in the adjoining areas. The objectives of such associations are mainly directed towards improving economic competitiveness, developing the given field and technologies, increasing economic activities in the given area, preserving export of products and services, reducing operating expenses and product cost, or securing and preparing highly qualified specialists [3],4].

An analysis of the available works related to the research of "Cluster models" shows that large, medium, and small companies utilize the stated models based on the following basic principles [5]:

- improving technologies and production processes when introducing innovations,
- interaction with educational and scientific and research institutions,
- professional growth of company employees,
- establishment of a unified legal, information, technological, innovative, and financial environment,
- creation of specific general (unified) company business policies and strategies in international economic activities.

The cluster demonstrates that which for some people, at first, may seem paradoxical: that these companies that compete can cooperate if it is a favourable cooperation based on the win-win principle [6].

Cluster policies provide system integration, based on innovations of large, medium, and small companies and

other organizations, such as universities and scienceresearch centers. The synergy effect of all partners' activities in the cluster determines the stable, competitive socioeconomic development of the selected industrial fields and territories at the regional and national level and the international level.

The empirical results show that industrial clusters' development attracts and promotes a large number of intermediary service-oriented organizations and institutions providing research and development and technical support, providing an innovative incubation platform. The government's policy should be biased towards establishing an effective mechanism for the interaction between scientific and technological innovation and industrial clusters to achieve a good situation of the interaction between the economy and science and technology [7].

When creating industrial clusters, special attention should be paid to implementing the cluster strategy, interaction among partners, implementing the innovation and investment policies, and optimizing the management of business processes and logistics. This task can be achieved by the modelling of the proposed cluster [8].

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to a worldwide economic crisis. According to the prognosis of the World Bank, it is expected that the gross domestic product (GDP) will significantly drop in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Figure 1). Apart from that, it is expected that growth rate will be reduced by more than 13% in 2020 (Figure 2). Due to the blockades related to COVID-19, introduced in many countries, the largest production countries' production sector completely stopped. The industrial production in these countries is linked to the global trading network, and the COVID-19 pandemic led to outages in the supplier-customer chains. The container transport volume significantly dropped due to the reduction of world trade (Figure 3) [9,10].



~ 84 ~

 $Copyright @ Acta \ Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu$





Figure 3 Trends in Container Shipping and Export Orders

Experts analysed changes and trends from the past that have affected trade and logistic processes and define specific trends that could improve the situation. They include dumping, developing partnerships, cooperation, combining services, implementing the latest I.T. technologies, developing services and partnership contracts, preparing strategies, and post-crisis plans inside the companies [11]. In this work, the attention is focused on specific trends that include the development of cooperation and partnerships in industrial companies, universities, and R&D centers and the introduction of I.T. technologies. Companies are starting to cooperate, develop unique complex offers for customers, and, as a result of that, enforce their joint positions by combining their services. Optimization and digitalization in the area of I.T. technologies have been a discussed topic for a long time. During the crisis related to the COVID-19 pandemic, this trend has become especially important [11].

As the novel COVID-19 pandemic unfolds, it has become necessary to reduce face-to-face contacts, leading to lesser network synergy being produced in an Innovation Cluster. The transformation into a Digital Innovation Cluster, which is less affected by physical distance, but can still maintain the networks' effectiveness, can be the key strategy for the future Innovation Cluster [12].

2 Methodology

The cluster theory and innovation logistic cluster's reference model consists of four main blocks, specifically a cluster core, service facilities, and additional and auxiliary objects. These blocks must ensure an innovative character of all cluster members [13]. That is why it is



necessary during the first stage of the cluster establishment to determine all blocks' main potential participants.

2.1 Cluster core

The proposal envisions that the cluster core will be the Mining University - Technical University of Ostrava. The university is a concentrated source of many skills, bonds, relations, and partnerships. The university cooperates with the public as well as private companies. It actively conducts international education and project engineering activities, and it is a source of highly qualified workers. It also has its center of commercial technologies and sufficient resources. That is why it seems to be a natural choice to select it as the proposal's central core and leader.

2.2 Service facilities

Service facilities include communication networks, warehouses, manufacturers of machines and devices, small and medium companies in metallurgy, and energy suppliers. Participants of this block can also be international companies and entities.

2.3 Additional objects

Additional objects are companies and organizations of an educational and innovative orientation and other business partners who secure investments and introduce new technologies. This block providing a synergy effect, and the integration of the entire cluster is fundamental. The industrial metallurgy field is strongly developed in the Czech Republic as well as in Russia. That is why Russian universities were also included in the cluster, mainly to conduct employee educational exchanges to generate and spread knowledge. The main participants thus will be companies and research organizations from the metallurgic complex.

2.4 Auxiliary objects

Auxiliary objects are optional outsourcing objects. Although this block is optional, the cluster theory allows for significant reductions of the cost of outsourcing of selected processes since incorporation in a cluster creates long-term partnerships, which operate under better financial conditions than individual orders.

Some of the auxiliary objects include customs proceedings and inspections, wholesale companies, insurance companies, security agencies, audit companies, environmental centers, and others.

Apart from that, it is recommended to establish an advisory body for securing interaction between the involved participants and the state and district authorities in the form of a coordination council for strategic planning and for attracting investments for the cluster development. Figure 4 shows the graphic model of the organizational and functional structure of the proposed cluster.



Figure 4 Graphic model of the organizational and functional structure of the proposed cluster

~ 86 ~



A model of the business processes and management needs to be prepared for the cluster's successful operation and development. The proposed information model of the fundamental business processes of the cluster is shown in Figure 5.

The preparation of the model of the proposed cluster's primary business processes revealed a complicated managerial structure. It is necessary to use an instrument to administer information and I.T. technologies to ensure the efficient operation of such complex systems. This model requires computer modelling with the objective of creating a unified information space. The expected consequences of using the proposed model of the integrated logistic cluster stated in Table 1 were analysed to define and assess the economic effects/impacts of the proposed cluster.

It generally applies that the most crucial effect during the early stages of the cluster development is represented by cost reduction and social effect.

An example of an industrial production-research cluster in the metallurgical area was used to verify the proposed cluster's expected effects. The experimental task was to prepare a new, antifriction enamel coating of the defined specifications for use in the aviation field - helicopters. During the production of the stated final product, the key role, i.e. antifriction enamel coating, is played by the chemistry, technology, and metallurgy fields [14].

The analysis was focused on the development of innovative technology at work in the association enterprise for the production of innovative paints and varnishes Chotkovo (NPO LKP Chotkovo), MUCTR and "Institute for High Purity Substances and Reagents" (part of the Kurchatova Nuclear Research Center) and an extensive economic analysis, which also confirmed the effectiveness of the cooperation of selected entities - the company, MUCTR and the scientific research center "Kurchatova Nuclear Research Center".

A complex and structured production distinguishes the clusters in the industrial sector. That is why it is necessary to have a tool that will make it possible to capture and monitor these complex relations. A tool is needed for calculating production, prices, wages, expenses, etc. in individual parts of the Cluster. Semi-finished products are exchanged among these Cluster parts (internal and external) due to the created relations. Structural models appear to represent a suitable tool that has all attributes for capturing these required relations.



Figure 5 Proposed information model of the fundamental business processes of the cluster

~ 87 ~



Table 1 Economic effects/impacts	s of the proposed cluster		
Model consequence	Effect		
Improving the quality of the logistic integration of the participants of the supplier chains based on a harmonization of economic relations and the establishment of partnership, mutually beneficial relations.	Increasing the income and profits of the participating		
Reduction of the overall and operation logistic expenses, including cost reduction related to transport and processing time.	companies through the synergy effect, increasing employee qualification.		
Increasing production of the given products.			
Improving the quality of the logistic services, increasing the number of services. Information and communication reliability, accuracy, and timeliness.	Improving the quality of the logistic services.		
Securing coordination and interaction of individual transport types and other participants based on the creation of a unified space (4PL provider) and the implementation of the information and control systems. Increasing profit and GDP growth based on the growing volumes of the given company productions.	Increasing profit and GDP growth based on the logistic integration and introduction of innovations.		
Increasing export of given products.			
Securing advanced reproduction and balanced development of the metallurgical industry. Creation of new jobs.	Social effect.		

Structural models capture the field-to-field balance inside of the proposed system. Wassily Leontief named these models as an "input - output analysis" [15]. It is a descriptive model, the original objective of which was to display reproduction process relations at the national economic level [16]. Nevertheless, the model has gradually expanded to the company level. A structural model of the Leontief type describes the conditions of an equilibrium between the sources and the needs within the modelled system. A structural model of the Leontief type represents a static linear model of an economic system that quantifies the flow of products, raw materials, energy and other production factors inside of any productionconsumption system as well as between such a system and its surroundings during the considered time period.

To simulate the synergy effects of the proposed cluster, part of the structural model for determining the value of a given company was used. The model was created based on the DCF method, using the structural analysis principles for an objective assessment of the impact of the factors that affect the potential cost changes in the immediate proximity of the given company [17]. We use Method DCF (discounted cash flow) for valuation of businesses. This method is considered to be the most accurate model for valuing this type of asset, compared to the other available valuation methods (e. g. capital asset pricing model and economic value added). The following balance (distribution) equations were used for the calculations [18]:

$$X_i = \sum_{j=1}^n x_{ij} + Y_i \qquad i, j = 1, 2..., n$$
(1)

(2)

 X_i - total value production of the i^{th} field (i = 1, 2, ..., n),

 x_{ij} - total value consumption of the production of the i^{th} field in the j^{th} -field of the given production-consumption system (i, j=1, 2, ..., n),

 $X_i = \sum_{i=1}^n x_{ii} + Z_i$ i, j = 1, 2, ..., n

- Y_i total value of the sales of the i^{th} field (i = 1, 2, ..., n),
- *n* number of fields of the given (production-consumption) economic system,
- Z_i value of primary operating costs of the i^{th} branch (materials, energy, services, wages).

Based on the marketing, production and financial plans and documents from the operative database, a calculation of the revenues and expenses, income statement and Cash Flow for the planned final products - enamelled coating pursuant to various specification - were simulated for the proposed cluster: Enamel 1, Enamel 2, Enamel 3, Enamel 4 for a period of 10 years. Table 2 - 7 shows examples of the executed simulated calculations.



MODELLING INNOVATIVE LOGISTIC CLUSTERS FOR REINFORCING INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC INTEGRATION USING AN EXAMPLE OF A METALLURGICAL COMPLEX

Sofiya Shevtsova; Kamila Janovská; Daria Strapolova; Ivan Kuzin; Josef Kutáč; Tomáš Kutáč

Table 2 Total value consumption of the production (I. quadrat) and total Y val	ue of the	e sales (II	. quadrat)	for time	period n
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------	-------------	------------	----------	----------

	I. quadrant						II. quadrant		
Due due et	Enomal 1	Enomal 2	Enomal 2		Y	Y			
Product	Enamel 1	Enamel 2 Enamel 3	amei 1 Enamei 2 Enamei 3 Enamei 4 Other	Enamel 5 Enamel 4 Oth	Other	Enamel 4 Other		t	Price [EUR/t]
Enamel 1		0.645	1.121				50,000	516	
Enamel 2				1.494			551,000	562	
Enamel 3							110,000	694	
Enamel 4							32,000	938	
Other							31,000	1 000	

In the case of Enamel 1, the coefficients of consumption (specific consumption) of Enamel 1 products are defined in Quadrant I, of which 0.645 tons are consumed to produce one ton of Enamel 2 and 1.121 tons to produce one ton of Enamel 3. In Quadrant II, the slingshot is defined as the sales volume of Enamel 1. The same is true for Enamel 2.

On the basis of these data, the total tonnage of production of the individual products listed in Table 3 is then calculated, which ensures both the mutual consumption of these products resulting from the consumption coefficients listed in Table 2 Quadrant I and the volume of sales of these products to external customers listed in Table 2 Quadrant II.

Table 3 Total X value of production for time period n						
Product	Units of measure	Χ				
Enamel 1	t	560,000				
Enamel 2	t	599,000				
Enamel 3	t	110,000				
Enamel 4	t	32,000				
Other	t	31,000				

Primary operating costs are consumed to produce the products listed in Table 3. Table 4 shows the total Z value of primary operating costs, which is based on the sum of

material, energy and service costs consumed for the production of individual types of products.

Table 4 7 value of pr	imary operating	costs for time	period n (Quadrant III)	
Tuble + L value of pr	intary operating (cosis joi unic p		

	Operating cost							
Products	Units of measure	Enamel 1	Enamel 2	Enamel 3	Enamel 4	Total costs		
Material 1	EUR	0	139,841,122	0	0	139,841,122		
Material 2	EUR	122,407,426	0	0	0	122,407,426		
Material 3	EUR	61,962,493	0	0	0	61,962,493		
Material 4	EUR	- 1,478,484	24,355,123	-2,749,759	-3,444,643	-32,028,068		
Material 5	EUR	14,605,328	0	0	0	14,605,328		
Material 6	EUR	6,006,962	0	0	0	6,006,962		
Material 7	EUR	9,176,473	5,491,777	782,550	204,699	15,655,499		
Energy	EUR	19,406,904	17,507,259	3,604,443	196,196	40,714,802		
Services	EUR	7,263,520	5,859,950	1,341,450	560,631	15,025,551		
Total costs	EUR	239,350,563	144,344,985	2,978,684	-2,483,017	384,191,115		

The revenues of the individual products in Table 5 below are based on the values of Table 2 Quadrant II. The operating costs in Table 5 are based on the total costs listed in Table 4. The profit of individual products and the total profit are calculated from the difference between revenues and operating costs.

Table 5 Income statement	calculation	for time	period n

Income statement							
Operating							
Product	Revenues	Costs	Profit				
	EUR	EUR	EUR				
Enamel 1	25,800,000	239,350,563	-213,550,563				
Enamel 2	309,662,000	144,344,985	165,317,015				
Enamel 3	76,340,000	2,978,684	73,361,316				
Enamel 4	30,016,000	-2,483,117	32,499,117				
Other	31,000,000	0	31,000,000				
Total	472,818,000	384,191,115	88,626,885				



At the end of the baseline period's structural model, the profit of the products (Enamel 1 - Enamel 4) and the whole cluster is known. The total profit of individual years then enters as a fundamental parameter for later determination of cash flow.

Income statement				
		Operating		
Product	Revenues	Costs	Profit	
	thous. EUR	thous. EUR	thous. EUR	
Enamel 1	0	79,831	-79,831	
Enamel 2	13,708	17,032	-3,324	
Enamel 3	84,614	212	84,402	
Enamel 4	57,152	149	57,003	
Total	155,474	97,224	58,250	

Table 6 Simulated income statement calculation for time period n + 10 year

At the end of the structural model in the period n + 10 years, the result of management of individual products (Enamel 1 - Enamel 4) and the whole cluster is known.

The structural model's dynamization was conducted for the subsequent ten time periods. The dynamization is necessary for determining the income statement of the partial periods. The structure of these structural models of individual time periods is identical to the initial structural model structure for the given time period (n). Modelled inputs for the given time period were applied to these structural models. Their definition is not easy and requires significant knowledge and experience when, for example, determining a realistic development prognosis of the planned inputs. As part of the conducted simulation, the expected price increase at the output amounting to 2.0% and the price increase at the input amounting to 1.0% were used.

Simulated income statement and Cash Flow calculations for time period n to n + 10 years is showed in Table 6. During time period n+1, the revenues dropped as a result of the cooperation within the frame of the Cluster due to internal handovers. The expenses decreased due to the cooperation, sharing knowledge, and using individual partners' technologies within the frame of the cluster.

The resulting cash flow used for valuation is then given by the difference between revenues and costs arising from structural models (profit of partial structural models) and by deducting the change in working capital. The calculations show that there is an increase in Cas Flow in the monitored period of 10 years (n + 1 to n + 10) due to the individual partners' cooperation, knowledge sharing, and use of technologies within the cluster (Table 7).

Table 7 Simulated income statement and Cash Flow calculation for time period n to n+10 years

Period	n	n +1	n +2	n +3	n +4	n +5	n +6	n +7	n +8	n +9	n +10
Revenues thous. EUR	472,818	130,093	132,695	135,348	138,055	140,816	143,634	146,506	149,436	152,425	155,473
Enamel 1	25,800	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Enamel 2	309,662	11,470	11,699	11,933	12,172	12,415	12,664	12,917	13,175	13,439	13,707
Enamel 3	76,340	70,801	72,217	73,661	75,134	76,637	78,170	79,733	81,328	82,954	84,613
Enamel 4	30,016	47,822	48,779	49,754	50,749	51,764	52,800	53,856	54,933	56,032	57,152
Other	31,000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Operating costs thous. EUR	384,192	88,896	89,785	90,683	91,590	92,505	93,430	94,364	95,308	96,261	97,224
Enamel 1	239,351	72,993	73,723	74,460	75,205	75,956	76,716	77,483	78,258	79,041	79,831
Enamel 2	144,345	15,573	15,729	15,886	16,045	16,205	16,367	16,531	16,696	16,863	17,032
Enamel 3	2,979	194	196	198	200	202	204	206	208	210	212
Enamel 4	-2,483	136	137	139	140	141	143	144	146	147	149
Enamel 5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Profit thous. EUR	88,626	41,19 7	42,910	44,665	46,465	48,311	50,204	52,142	54,128	56,164	58,250
Working capital changes											
thous. EUR	0	-14,653	88	90	92	93	95	97	99	101	103
Cash flow changes caused by											
working capital changes											
thous. EUR	88,626	55,850	42,822	44,575	46,373	48,218	50,109	52,045	54,029	56,063	58,14 7

3 Result and discussion

The COVID-19 pandemic caused extensive financial difficulties in the area of worldwide trade and logistics. The global financial crisis has forced many companies to address the efficiency of all business processes [19]. Each production and non-production company must continuously look for possible sources of competitive advantages in its processes [20]. One of the possibilities of how to face these negative consequences related to the

COVID-19 pandemic is the establishment of specific innovative field clusters (contrary to the classic, geographically-oriented clusters) since the objectives of such field-oriented clusters mostly focus on increasing the economic competitiveness level and on securing the development of the selected field.

A model of an international innovative logistic cluster was proposed as part of the project. Its objective will be to stimulate restoration of all partners' economic potential in the metallurgy area. In order to define and assess the



economic effects of the proposed cluster, the expected consequences arising from the proposed model of the integrated logistic cluster were analysed.

Due to the expected flows of information and data, it is recommended to create a unified (shared) information space, which can be implemented, for example, in SAP, enabling effective implementation of research and development activities focused on ongoing cooperation in innovation and technology transfer.

The example of an industrial scientific-production cluster in the field of chemistry and metallurgy was used to verify the expected effects. the innovation process's specific subject was the development of a new anti-frit enamel coating with defined specifications for use in aviation - helicopters. The possibility of making the innovation process more efficient was analysed in order to reduce the costs of product innovation and production processes through the use of synergies from the cooperation between selected research centres and educational institutions and manufacturing companies.

Based on the marketing, production and financial plans and documents from the operational records of stakeholders, the calculation of the plan of revenues and costs, profit and cash flow for the planned final products enamel coating according to various specifications: Enamel 1 - Enamel 4 was simulated for a period of 10 years.

As part of the analysis, it was found that with the effective cooperation of selected entities, costs can be significantly reduced, for example, for material equipment, tests and human resources, etc., by using the synergistic effect of the cooperation. The calculations show that there was a reduction in costs in the monitored period of 10 years due to individual partners' cooperation, knowledge sharing, and the use of technologies within the cluster. The total profit and cash flow increase within the created cluster during the monitored period (n +1 to n + 10).

The verification results demonstrate the functionality of the proposed model and its suitability for application in economic practice. However, it is necessary to be aware that the expected effects depend on the quality of the entered inputs for a given time period. As we have already stated, input definitions require significant knowledge and skills during the stage when a realistic development prognosis of the planned inputs is being prepared. That is why a precise quantification of the achieved synergy effects depends so much on the quality of the input parameters.

4 Conclusions

A typical feature of modern economic development is the transformation of developed countries into a new stage in the formation of innovative companies - building an economy particularly based on the creation, spread and utilization of the given knowledge, i.e. innovative development. The innovation activation process requires fundamental changes in the structure of social production and education and in the management and organization system, as well as action coordination, information exchange, mutual influencing among individual companies and transfer of technologies. From this perspective, it is recommended to use a "strategy cluster", by means of which you can create and use a unified computer information system model for structuring and distributing the tasks of the participants of innovation projects and processes in the production area, which would allow for monitoring the global processes in the areas of the economy, logistics and management of important international centers.

The subject of further research will be an analysis of the cooperation among selected international research organizations, science and research centers and companies, the objective of which will be a simulation of the restoration of the economic potential of all the partners in the area of metallurgy, and the provision of a maximal synergy effect based on innovations and sharing of the economic interests of all participating partners within the framework of the supplier chain.

The following effects are expected within the framework of the proposed international innovative logistic cluster in the area of metallurgy:

- increasing the income and profits of the participating companies by means of a synergy effect, the introduction of innovations and increasing employee qualifications,
- improving the quality of the logistic services of the given participants,
- increasing profit and growing GDP based on the logistic integration and the introduction of innovations.

The most important step during the project commencement stage (cluster establishment) is defining the four main parts of the cluster, and the preparation of a graphic model since such a model allows the potential participants to unambiguously define the roles of all partners included in the cluster. if we consider the expected information and data flow, it is recommended to create a unified information space, which can be implemented in, for example, SAP.

In order to verify the expected effects of the proposed cluster, a production simulation was executed for the new product - antifriction enameled coating pursuant to various specifications for use in the aviation field - helicopters. the conducted calculations and obtained results have demonstrated that it can be expected that the given synergy effects will be fulfilled.

The already implemented project showed that the cooperation of selected scientific organizations, scientific research centers and companies in the field of chemistry and metallurgy brings economic effects. But due to legislative, legal and international restrictions and



sanctions, complicated public procurement procedures and the inactive participation of many organizations, it is very difficult for Russian companies and research organizations to establish effective cooperation with foreign partners. We assume that the proposed model will be able to respond to the different legal and legislative conditions of potential collaborating partners - both from the corporate field and research centers and universities.

We believe that the proposed innovative logistics cluster can facilitate the interaction and cooperation of universities, research centers and industrial companies at the international level with an emphasis on effective and continuous cooperation in the field of innovation and technology transfer. the proposed model should be able to define the possibilities and limitations of the cooperation of individual stakeholders relatively precisely to maximize the synergy effect of innovation cooperation while respecting all specific conditions of each country, such as legislative, regulatory and economic.

From a practical point of view, the output of the work will be beneficial, especially for industrial companies. They will be able to use the model to quantify potential economic resources to develop the subject of the innovation process before starting the innovation process in the company, and then start effective cooperation with selected international research centers and educational institutions, realizing research and development activities focused on continuous cooperation in innovation and technology transfer.

Acknowledgement

This article was supported by the specific university research of the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic No. SP2020/60 and SP2020/61.

References

- [1] PORTER, M.E.: Michael Porter on competition, *Antitrust Bulletin*, Vol. 44, No. 4, pp. 841-880, 1999.
- [2] LI, Q., GUO, J.: Search within or beyond the industrial cluster? The effect of perceived competition and knowledge base tacitness on strategic location choices of external knowledge search, *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, Vol. 32, No. 6, pp. 711-723, 2020. doi:10.1080/09537325.2019.1702941
- [3] MESHALKIN, V.P., PROKOFIEVA, T.A.: Forming of the innovation industrial-logistical clusters in the oilchemical complex of Russia, *V centre ekonomiky*, (original: В центре экономики), Vol. 2020, No. 1, pp. 13-28, 2020. (Original in Russian)
- [4] NAMAZBEKOV, M.: Klasternoye razvitiye v usloviyakh globalizatsii: opyt zarubezhnykh stran, *Analytic*, Vol. 3, pp 8-14, 2005. (Original in Kazakh)
- [5] PROKOFIEVA, T.A., HABIBOV, B.G.: Logistics clusters in the Russian economy: Monograph, OAO ,,ITKOR", pp. 418, 2016.
- [6] JELERIU, D.C., SIMA, M.G.: *Measures at European Level for Innovative Cluster*, Infront Outback –

Conference Proceedings, LEVERAGING TECHNOLOGY FOR LEARNING, The 8th International Scientific Conference eLearning and software for Education Bucharest, 2012. doi:10.5682/2066-026X-12-156

- [7] LI, J., WANG, Y.: Coupling effect of regional industrial cluster and innovation based on complex system metric and fuzzy mathematics, *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, Vol. 37, No. 5, pp. 6115-6126, 2019. doi:10.3233/JIFS-179196
- [8] SHEVTSOVA, S.I., ZUBAREV, A.M., MENSHIKOV, V.V.: Approaches to the creation of innovative engineering center of chemical technology, *Success in chemistry and chemical technology*, Vol. 21, No. 5, pp. 105-107, 2017.
- [9] VIDIA, C.T., PRABHEESH, K.P.: Implications of COVID-19 pandemic on the global trade networks, *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*, Vol. 56, No. 10, pp. 2408-2421, 2020.
 - doi:10.1080/1540496X.2020.1785426
- [10] World Bank: Global Economic Prospects, June 2020, [Online], Available: https://www.worldbank.org/en/ publication/global-economic-prospects [30 June 2020], 2020.
- [11] KIREEVA, V., PIROGOVA O.: Logistics trends 2020-2021: impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on transportation, COREX Logistics, [Online], Available: https://www.retail.ru/articles/logisticheski e-trendy-2020-2021-goda-vliyanie-pandemii-covid-19-na-perevozki/ [06 Sep 2020], 2020.
- [12] YIM, D.S., KIM, W., NAM, Y.: The Strategic Transformation from Innovation Cluster to Digital Innovation Cluster during and after COVID-19, *Asian Journal of Innovation and Policy*, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 164-186, 2020. doi:10.7545/AJIP.2020.9.2.164
- [13] PROKOFIEVA, T.A.: Logistics infrastructure of international transport corridors, Cluster approach to the management of functioning and development, Saarbrücken, Germany: LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing, pp. 128-142, 2015.
- [14] SHEVTSOVA, S.I., ZUBAREV, A.M., MENSHIKOV, V.V.: Associations of enterprises in creation of innovations in technology of coatings, *Advances in Chemistry and Chemical Technology: collection of articles, scientific,* Vol. 17, No. 137, pp. 137, 2018.
- [15] LEONTIEF, W.W.: The Structure of American Economy 1919-1929, Harward University Press: Cambridge (Mass.), 1941.
- [16] FISHER, E. O'N, MARSHALL, K.G.: The Structure of the American Economy, *Review of International Economics*, Vol. 19, No 1, pp. 15-31, 2011. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9396.2010.00928.x
- [17] JANOVSKA, K., KUTAC, J., VILAMOVA, S., FIALOVA, V., BESTA, P.: Enterprise Value Assessment in Relation to Metallurgical Industry



Specifics, Infront Outback – Conference Proceedings, In METAL 2017: 26th International Conference on Metallurgy and Materials, Ostrava: TANGER, pp. 2086-2091, 2017.

- [18] ŘÍMÁNEK, J., ZONKOVÁ, Z., POŠTOVÁ, E., MORAVCOVÁ, E., HANČLOVÁ. J.: Operační výzkum. 2nd ed., Ostrava: VŠB - Technická univerzita Ostrava, 2002. (Original in Czech)
- [19] BESTA, P., NÉTEK, V., KUBICA, S.: Analysis of variability in inventory consumption and its utilization in industry, Infront Outback Conference

Proceedings, CLC 2015: Carpathian Logistics Congress, Jeseník, pp. 226-230, 2016.

[20] PROSICKÝ, P., KUTÁČ, J., LAMPA, M., BESTA, P.: Lean production in logistics and manufacturing, Infront Outback – Conference Proceedings, CLC 2015: Carpathian Logistics Congress, Jeseník, pp. 450-455, 2016.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



ABOUT/STATEMENT

JOURNAL STATEMENT

Journal name:	Acta logistica
Abbreviated key title:	Acta logist
Journal title initials:	AL
Journal doi:	10.22306/al
ISSN:	1339-5629
Start year:	2014
The first publishing:	March 2014
Issue publishing:	Quarterly
Publishing form:	On-line electronic publishing
Availability of articles:	Open Access Journal
Journal license:	CC BY-NC
Publication ethics:	COPE, ELSEVIER Publishing Ethics
Plagiarism check:	Worldwide originality control system
Peer review process:	Single-blind review at least two reviewers
Language:	English
Journal e-mail:	info@actalogistica.eu

The journal focuses mainly for the original and new, interesting, high-quality, theoretical, practical and application-oriented contributions to the field of science and research as well as to pedagogy and education in the field of logistics and transport.

Publisher:	4S go, s.r.o.
Address:	Semsa 24, 044 21 Semsa, Slovak Republic, EU
Phone:	+421 948 366 110
Publisher e-mail:	info@4sgo.eu

Responsibility for the content of a manuscript rests upon the authors and not upon the editors or the publisher.